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1. Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s Introduction 

The hospital has continued to strive to provide services of the highest quality to the people of Tameside and Glossop and 
beyond.  This report contains many examples of the improvements we have made, and the exceptional standards of service 
we offer, some of which have garnered local, national and even international attention.  like all public sector bodies in this 
time of economic recession, the Trust has faced considerable challenges during the year, a situation that is unlikely to change 
for some time.  The financial challenges faced by the Trust resulted in the Trust being in significant breach of its Terms of 
authorisation. The Trust is actively addressing the issues raised by monitor, and this is covered in more detail later in the 
report.  The finance section of the report gives more details about the prevailing financial conditions last year.  one over-riding 
principle has guided us throughout, which is, that patient safety and quality of service are the Trust’s most important priorities.  
This principle underpinned the Trust’s corporate objectives during 2010/11 and continues to do so in 2011/12.

last year, we had to report the very disappointing news that our Hospital standardised mortality rate (Hsmr) for 2008/09, 
as reported by dr Foster, had been 119.3.  We indicated in our report some of the measures we intended to take to address 
this issue “once and for all”, and i am pleased to report that all of our efforts were very successful.  The Hsmr for 2009/10 
was 103.5, which was within the expected range for a hospital of our size and type.  We have continued to monitor the 
Hsmr closely during the year, and expect that the result for 2010/11, which we will know in about three months’ time, will be 
even better.  The hospital’s scores on the patient safety indicator were also very much improved compared to the previous 
year, with all but one score at or better than the expected level for the hospital.  indeed, Tameside Hospital’s improvements 
in Hsmr were the subject of a positive article in the annual dr Foster Hospital Guide.

The Trust also recorded its lowest ever number of mrsa bacteraemias, with just 3 cases in the whole year, better than the 
hospital’s control total.  This improvement was no doubt welcomed by those who use the hospital as well as our colleague 
organisations, and was the subject of much positive media interest.  This was one of the many positive news stories for 
the Trust, alongside the opening of the new clinical facilities, which is described elsewhere in this report.  The Trust’s media 
coverage over the year was hallmarked by an increase in the number of items about the Trust, coupled with a significant 
increase in the proportion of those items that told a positive story about the Trust.

The Trust recognises the importance of the support and involvement of those who use and deliver its services, and during 
2010/11 made significant changes around its “everyone matters at Tameside” organisational development programme.   This 
programme seeks to provide more opportunities for all of our stakeholders to contribute to the changes and improvements 
we make, and is without doubt one of the reasons for the improvement in the Trust’s media coverage experienced over 
the year.  “stakeholder engagement” is at the heart of the “everyone matters” philosophy, and many new and exciting 
developments took place as the Trust rolled out its engagement strategy.

during the course of the year, the Trust held two public meetings in each of the 10 townships that make up its public 
constituency.  most were generally well attended, and normally gave rise to lively and valuable debate.  The meetings 
were attended by the member of Council for the area concerned, as well as the Chair, Chief executive, lead director for 
membership and Board secretary.  The summer series of meetings provided members of public with an insight into the new 
hospital buildings, via a dVd and scale models, whilst the winter series had no presentation to maximise the time available 
for discussion.  The Trust used these meetings and other opportunities to try to increase its public membership and is always 
seeking to welcome new members to the Foundation Trust.  details of how to become a member are contained on page 
82.

many of the public, staff and appointed members of Council increased their involvement in, and much valued contribution to, 
committees and working groups within the hospital.  For example, members of Council played a very important role in the 
review of the Trust’s patient Handbook and policy on the involvement of relatives in Care.  other members of Council, and 
members of the public who have volunteered to work in the Trust, undertook “mystery shopper” activities to help the Trust 
understand how to improve its site and services, with specific emphasis on the needs of people with a disability.

The Trust worked closely with members of the local involvement Network (liNk) in the implementation of an action plan to 
improve standards of care at Tameside Hospital.  The Trust was pleased to welcome members of the liNk to the hospital 
site to independently review the quality of services being provided in the clinical areas.
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Following its application to be registered as a care provider in January 2010 under new regulations, the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) visited the hospital in march 2010, imposing two conditions on the Trust’s registration, which were lifted 
when the CQC visited for a second time in June 2010.  This visit resulted in 3 minor concerns and one moderate concern 
being expressed by the CQC, which the Trust has worked hard to address during the year.  The CQC visited the hospital 
again in march 2011 as part of its routine schedule of planned reviews and the final report from this visit is expected in 
may.

during 2010/11, the Trust achieved further quality improvements and took steps to ensure its position as a strong, 
independently managed hospital for local people.  There is still more to do, and with your support we can continue to make 
the hospital even better.  The Trust’s overriding aim is to be the hospital of choice for the people of Tameside and Glossop.  
We hope that the insights given in this short introduction, coupled with the content of the report, serve to demonstrate that 
the Trust is indeed well placed to realise this aim.

                                                 

Tim presswood Christine Green
Chairman Chief Executive
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2. About the Trust

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust was established on 1 February 2008. previously, the Trust had operated as 
Tameside and Glossop acute services NHs Trust since 1994. The Trust operates from the Tameside General Hospital 
site, which is situated in ashton–under-lyne. The hospital services a population of approximately 250,000 residing in the 
surrounding area of Tameside in Greater manchester, and the town of Glossop in derbyshire.

employing approximately 2,300 staff, the hospital provides the wide array of services one would associate with a general 
hospital. These services include general and specialist medicine, general and specialist surgery and full Consultant led 
obstetric and paediatric hospital services for women, children and babies.

The Health investment in Tameside (HiT) was completed december 2010 and involved the comprehensive restructuring of 
the hospital site. most of the older buildings have been demolished and replaced with new, state of the art facilities. These 
facilities include new wards, new inpatient and day case theatres, new outpatient clinics, new diagnostic departments 
(including new x-ray facilities), a new pharmacy and a new integrated children’s unit. 

The Trust’s clinical services are provided in a number of different specialties and departments. These are organised into four 
divisions.

Division Specialties

Emergency Services and Critical Care Division

Accident  and Emergency
a and e provides 24hr emergency care and treatment for all 
illnesses and injuries.  There is a specific paediatric service, 
and daytime minor injuries and dressings clinics.
   
Medical Assessment and Admissions Unit (MAAU)
maau provides an observation and medical treatment 
service for up to 48hrs after admission, either directly from 
the Gp or via aande.  during this time, a decision will be 
made to discharge or admit to an appropriate ward.  
 
Intensive Care Unit (ITU)
a hospital facility for provision of intensive nursing and 
medical care of critically ill patients. 

Adult Medicine 
The general medical care of adults and older people.

Gastroenterology
The diagnosis and treatment of diseases and 
disorders affecting the stomach, intestines, and 
associated organs. 

Respiratory Medicine
a department which is responsible for the 
administration of diagnostic lung function tests 
and of procedures to restore optimum respiratory 
health.

Cardiology
The medical study of the diagnosis and treatment 
of diseases affecting the heart and blood vessels. 

Diabetes
The field of medicine that deals with type i 
diabetes (juvenile onset) or type ii diabetes (adult 
onset). individuals with either condition are 
considered to be diabetic.

Dermatology
The field of medicine that specialises in the 
treatment of skin disorders.

Rheumatology
a branch of medicine concerned with the 
diagnosis and treatment of arthritis and other 
associated conditions. 

Neurology
The branch of medicine which treats conditions 
of the nervous system.
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Elective Services Division
Theatres and day surgery unit 
Facilities for undertaking surgery and other invasive 
procedures, either on an in-patient or day case basis.   

General Surgery
a surgical specialty that involves largely the 
surgical management of diseases of the bowel, 
gallbladder, stomach and other digestive organs.

Urology 
a branch of medicine concerned with the 
diagnosis and treatment of diseases of the 
urinary tract and urogenital system.

Orthopaedics and Trauma 
The medical specialty concerned with the 
preservation, restoration, and development of 
form and function of the musculoskeletal system, 
extremities, spine, and associated structures by 
medical, surgical, and physical methods.

Oral Surgery and Orthodontics 
The branch of dentistry concerned with the 
diagnosis and surgical and adjunctive treatment 
of diseases, injuries, and deformities of the oral 
and maxillofacial region.

Ear, Nose and Throat 
The department providing surgical care for ear, 
Nose and Throat problems.  

Audiology  
a specialty focusing on hearing disorders through 
identification and evaluation of hearing loss.

Ophthalmology
The branch of medicine concerned with the 
study and treatment of disorder or diseases of 
the eye. 

Anaesthetics 
The specialty that provides anaesthetic support 
for surgery, the management of critically ill 
patients in intensive care, and pain relief services.

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services Division
 

Radiology
The study of images including X-rays in the 
diagnosis of a disease.

Pathology 
laboratory based study of diseases.

Pharmacy  
Compounding and dispensing medicines 
according to prescriptions of physicians.

Physiotherapy 
a physiotherapist is a specialist trained in using 
exercise and physical activities to condition 
muscles and improve levels of activity.
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Women’s and Children’s Services Division Paediatrics 
The department concerned with the health of 
infants, children and adolescents.

Neonatology
The science of caring medically for the newborn.

Obstetrics 
a branch of medicine dealing with the care of 
women during pregnancy, childbirth, and the 
period during which they recover from childbirth. 

Gynaecology  
a branch of medicine dealing with the diagnosis 
and treatment of disorders affecting the female 
reproductive organs.

3. Directors’ Report - incorporating the Business Review

3.1 introduction
The Trust is required to include a director’s report and management commentary in line with the requirements of the annual 
reporting manual. as well as the information contained within this section, the following information should be assumed to 
be part of the director’s report:

a statement of the principal activities of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust during 2010/11 can be found on pages 
8 to 10.

The statement of the names of those persons who, at any time during the period, were directors of the Trust, which is 
included in the “Board of directors” section starting on page 75.

The overview of the financial performance of the Trust in the period which is contained in the foreword of the financial 
statements, starting on page 86. a statement that accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set 
out in note 1.6 to the accounts. details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found on page 98 of the annual report. in 
relation to the use of financial instruments an indication of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the trust 
and the exposure of the trust to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk, can be found in note 23 of the annual 
accounts. 

The Trust’s external auditors are priceWaterhouseCoopers llp.  The directors have taken all of the steps that they ought 
to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of that information.  as far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
auditors are unaware.

The Trust has arrangements in place to govern for service quality and quality governance and quality is discussed in further 
detail in the statement on internal Control on pages 100 to 105 and the Quality report on pages 37 to 71.

The Trust has had regard to monitor’s quality governance framework in arriving at its overall evaluation of the organisation’s 
performance , internal control and board assurance framework and a summary of the action plans to improve the governance 
of quality can be found on page 11. 
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monitor’s Quality Governance Framework

although not strictly part of the Quality account, there is a clear link between the Quality account and monitor’s Quality 
Governance Framework and it is important that the Board should be aware of this.  The Quality Governance Framework 
forms part of monitor’s Compliance Framework 2011/12 and it is a requirement that the Trust maintains arrangements for 
the purpose of improving the quality of healthcare having regard to the Framework, complaints and serious incidents.  NHs 
Foundation Trusts are required to provide Board statements to monitor certifying ongoing compliance with their terms of 
authorisation and the Quality account is a valuable means of supporting the Trust’s compliance with the Quality Framework.  
The Compliance Framework is reproduced at annex 2.  Four areas and 10 questions underpin the Framework, reproduced 
below with examples of the evidence of the measures the Trust has taken which support compliance.

Strategy Capabilities and 
culture

Process and structure Measurement

measure 1a does quality drive 
the trust strategy?

2a does the Board 
have the necessary 
leadership, skills and 
knowledge to ensure 
delivery of the quality 
agenda?

3a are there clear roles 
and accountabilities 
in relation to quality 
governance ?

4a is appropriate 
quality 
information being 
analysed and 
challenged?

Evidence Corporate objective 
no 1 

Quality account 
and patient safety 
strategy reflect local 
and national priorities

rigorous Non-
executive director 
challenge through 
participation in audit 
Committee, Quality & 
Clinical Governance, 
risk management and 
Corporate Governance 
Committee.
Board understands 
and challenges the 
metrics and data 
presented to it

Board conducts self 
assessments to test its 
skills and capabilities, 
and has a succession 
plan

Board members have 
received training in 
quality governance 
and continuous 
improvement

executive and Non 
executive  Board 
members have specific 
roles in relation to quality 
governance.

Key quality structures have 
direct reporting relationship 
to the Board and have 
significant Board level 
membership/leadership.
Quality issues scheduled 
into Board agenda plan.

The Board will 
be introducing 
a monthly 
dashboard to 
assure quality 
is maintained/
enhanced during 
the 2011/12  

The Board is 
presented with 
quality/safety /
risk data from 
a number 
of sources, 
including 
the Board 
committees.

Measure 1B is the  Board 
sufficiently aware 
of potential risks to 
quality?

2B  does the  Board 
promote a quality 
focussed structure 
throughout the Trust?

3B are there clearly 
defined, well understood 
processes for escalating 
and resolving issues and 
managing performance?

4B is the Board 
assured of the 
robustness 
of the quality 
information?

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   11 27/6/11   12:59:41



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

12

Evidence Board committee 
regularly reviews  
risk register and 
Board assurance 
Framework

Board reviews these 
items twice each year

Board receives 
quarterly detailed 
risk management 
report

effect of Board plans 
on quality considered 
(e.g. quality impact 
assessment of 
Financial recovery 
plan)

Board overtly 
committed to quality 
and has allocated 
resources to it (e.g 
additional staffing, 
patient safety lead).

executive and Non 
executive members 
participate in Board 
to Ward safety 
walkrounds.

Board members 
personally lead quality 
initiatives (e.g. mortality, 
dignity in Care, 
Heathcare acquired 
infections – led directly 
by Nurse and medical 
directors.

staff communications 
regularly feature articles 
on quality.

 
Trust holds level 3 National 
Health service litigation 
authority accreditation for 
general.

risk processes well 
documented and 
comprehensive.

action plans are drawn up 
and implemented following 
serious untoward incidents 
and significant complaints/
clinical issues.

a well defined system of 
audit is in place.

a whistleblower/error 
reporting system in in 
place.

divisional clinical 
governance 
structures.

Bi annual 
divisional 
management 
Team 
performance  
review meetings.

Clinical audit 
programme 
driven by 
national audits, 
with processes 
for local audits 
available.

some use made 
of electronic data 
capture.

No major 
concerns 
with coding 
performance.

Measure n/a n/a 3c does the Board actively 
engage patients, staff, and 
other key stakeholder on 
quality?

is quality 
information being 
used effectively?

Evidence n/a n/a Trust actively uses patient 
feedback from patient 
opinion and patient 
Choices websites.

patient experience report 
to be introduced to Board 
during 2011/12

patient stories a regular 
feature of Board meetings 
in future

Biannual public member 
meetings 

information in the 
Quality report is 
displayed clearly 
and consistently 
with reference 
to historical 
and external 
benchmarks

information is 
red amber 
Green rated (e.g. 
performance 
report)
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Quality governance is the combination of structures and processes at and below Trust Board level to lead on trust-wide 
quality performance. These structures and processes include:

• ensuring required standards are achieved

• investigating and taking action on any sub-standard performance

• planning and driving continuous improvement to performance

• identifying, sharing and ensuring delivery of best practice

• identifying and managing risks to quality of care

3.2 our Vision, aims and objectives

The Trust’s mission statement is to gain and retain the status of Hospital of Choice for local people. To support this vision, 
we have developed a set of value statements clustered around the four constituencies of patients, the public, our staff, and 
our partner organisations.  The mission and value statements are given overleaf.
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Corporate Objectives 2011/12

The corporate objectives approved by the Trust Board for 2011/12 are:

• Provision of the best possible quality of care to achieve improvements in patient safety, experience and outcomes

• Delivery of the Financial Plan  - see financial outlook

• Embedding and sustaining Stakeholder engagement

• Compliance with all required regulatory and performance standards

• Finalise and determine the organisations future strategy in light of the financial plan and national policy

Organisational Strengths and Resources

The Trust continues to maintain its record of maintaining good delivery against national targets. 

The main themes for the Trust to take forward in the coming financial year are:

• To continually improve patient safety and the effectiveness of clinical care.

• To continue maintaining the year on year reductions in the Hospitals Standardised Mortality Rate (HMSR).

• To continue to strengthen engagement with patients and local people with the aim of improving partnership working to 

ensure the quality of patient experience is of the highest quality.

• To continue to develop good relationships with key partners, specifically with GP Commissioners.

• To continue to seek improvements in productivity and ensuring that access time targets are delivered in a sustainable way, 
and exceeded to maintain the competitive position of the Trust and to eliminate any unnecessary delay for the hospital’s 
patients.

• To improve internal productivity and efficiency to enable the Trust to return to recurrent financial balance.

The Market Place

The Trust operates in a competitive environment for the provision of clinical services. There have been a few significant 
changes in the level or nature of provision during the year. in some circumstances, the alternative provision from other 
providers has weakened (eg dermatology). This created an opportunity for the Trust to increase its influence across Greater 
manchester within this specialty and to benefit from increased levels of activity. Contrary to this is the emerging competition 
from the independent sector Clinical assessment and Treatment service (CaTs) with which primary Care Trusts (pCTs) in 
Greater manchester have contracted. after a slow start and some encouragement by pCTs for Gps to refer to these Greater 
manchester services, it is possible to detect an impact on patterns of demand for some hospital services. The Trust’s 
response has been to ensure the services it provides are high quality, comprehensive and effective and accessible with an 
emphasis on continuing care. The Trust continues to work closely with local Commissioners to ensure the organisation has a 
very clear understanding of which services the Gps want to commission from their local hospital. in line with the impending 
NHs reforms, the Trust will develop working relationships with the Gp consortiums as they start to emerge.

Emergency Planning

The Trust maintained its commitment to ensuring its emergency preparedness.  The Trust’s emergency planning Group 
oversaw the activity related to this undertaking, reporting to and advising the Trust’s risk management and Corporate 
Governance Committee.  These processes ensured that the Trust met its key obligations, including the Civil Contingencies 
act 2004, which places key legal duties on hospitals in respect of emergency planning, and the Care Quality Commission’s 
requirement that healthcare organisations co-operate in the planning and coordination of emergency procedures.  The Trust 
took due account of the relevant NHs emergency planning Guidance (2005) and other guidance released in year relating 
to areas such as heat wave and pandemic flu.  a specific sub group was established to review the Trust’s pandemic flu 
plan, parts of which were tested during the severe winter weather.  The Trust’s major incident plan, and related policies 
and guidance were also revised and developed, and business continuity plans were updated for a number of areas, taking 
account of the changed geography of the site following the opening of the new clinical facilities in the Hartshead south 
Building.  a number of emergency response tests were also carried out in line with the Trust’s plan.
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3.3 our performance

The range of service targets that were set for acute Trusts in 2010/11 was wide ranging and challenging.  The Trust has a 
strong record of delivering performance against service targets, and this has been the case again in 2010/11.  The table 
below summarises the key performance targets, and the Trust performance against these during 2010/11.

Targets as per Compliance Framework
Target met/Not 

met

Clostridium difficile infection 90 cases X

mrsa Bacteraemia 4 cases ✓

mrsa screening 100% ✓

Two week wait for specialist appointment from Gp urgent referral 93% ✓

Two week wait for specialist appointment with Breast symptoms (cancer not initially 
suspected)

93%
✓

31 day diagnosis to treatment for first definitive treatment 96% ✓

31 day diagnosis to treatment for second or subsequent treatment 94% ✓

62 days to treatment from Gp urgent referral 85% ✓

62 days to treatment from Consultant/screening service referral 85% ✓

Total time in a&e: four hours or less 95% ✓

access to healthcare for people with learning difficulties ✓

Waiting Times at Tameside Hospital

Waiting Times at TGH, in weeks, for March 2011

Specialty Outpatient

General Surgery 3.2

Orthopaedics 6.2

Ear Nose Throat 3.1

Ophthalmology 6.8

Oral Surgery 8.0

Non-Acute Pain 7.1

Adult Medicine 6.6

Dermatology 9.9

Neurology 15.4

Rheumatology 3.9

Paediatrics 4.8

Gynaecology 2.3
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Specialty Inpatient Daycase

General Surgery 8.1 7.0

Orthopaedics 16.2 10.1

Ear Nose Throat - 8.9

Oral Surgery - 11.4

Non-Acute Pain - 22.0

Adult Medicine 7.6 5.3

Gynaecology 11.9 3.7

Cancer Services

The following indicates the cancer targets that are applicable to Tameside Hospital:

• Maximum 2 week wait for referral of patients with breast symptoms (not suspected cancer) to date first seen.

• Maximum 2 week wait for an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer.

• Maximum 31 days wait from diagnosis (decision to treat date) to first definitive treatment.

• Maximum 62 days wait from urgent GP referral for suspected cancer to first definitive treatment.

• Maximum 31 days wait from diagnosis to start of second or subsequent treatment for all cancer patients 

 including recurrences.

• Maximum 62 days wait from Consultant upgrade of urgency of a referral to first definitive treatment (no performance   

 standard for this target has been set yet).

• Maximum 62 days wait from referral from NHS Cancer Screening Programmes (breast, cervical and bowel) for suspected  
 cancer to first definitive treatment.

Generally the hospital’s performance is very good across the majority of cancer targets. achieving the maximum 62 day 
urgent Gp referral for suspected cancer target can occasionally prove to be problematic as it involves complex clinical 
pathways across partner organisations. 

Accident and Emergency

The Trust continues its excellent and longstanding performance of providing high quality accident and emergency services 
and this includes achievement of the target for 95% of all patients to be seen and treated within 4 hours of arriving at the 
accident and emergency department. The Trust’s performance for 2010/11 was 97.4%.
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3.4 stakeholder relationships
 
The Trust’s main commissioner is NHs Tameside and Glossop. This primary Care Trust (pCT) accounts for approximately 
86.6% of all income received from pCTs. most of the remainder of pCT income is spread across 5 other pCTs within the 
Greater manchester area. (oldham, manchester, Heywood, middleton and rochdale and stockport). We continue to work 
very closely with pennine Care NHs Foundation Trust, with whom we share the Tameside General Hospital site.
 
other key stakeholders are Tameside metropolitan Borough Council (TmBC), the North West ambulance service, (NWas) 
the Tameside Third sector Coalition (voluntary sector),  and our private Finance initiative (pFi) partners, Consort Healthcare.
 
in addition to commissioning agreements with pCTs, we collaborate with a number of other NHs bodies including the 
following:
 
Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – Central manchester operates our 18 station renal 
dialysis unit which is located on the Tameside site.
 
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust – outpatient ophthalmology services on the Tameside site are provided by pennine 
acute.
 
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust – outpatient urology services are provided on our site by medical staff from stockport 
NHs Foundation Trust.
 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust – visiting Consultants and supporting Clinical Nurse specialists provide an on-site 
oncology service.
 
Oldham Musculoskeletal Service 
 
The Trust operates a very successful community based model in collaboration with NHs oldham.  Tameside hospital provides 
once weekly off-site Consultant led out-patient clinics with direct listing for orthopaedic surgery at Tameside Hospital.
 
League of Friends

The Hospital continues to have a very good relationship with the league of Friends who work tirelessly on behalf of the 
hospital to raise funds for the purchase of equipment. during 2010 they raised over £19,000 and purchased various items 
including 24 hour cardiac monitors, portable patient monitors and eCG recorder.

Volunteers at Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

Tameside Hospital has a strong and vibrant group of over 330 volunteers assisting staff in departments and wards across the Trust. 
The volunteers can start helping the Trust from 16 years of age (although they must be 17 years old to help out on the wards) and 
there is no upper age limit. This means that Tameside Hospital benefits from a wealth of skills and knowledge from its volunteers, 
which enhances the services provided to the patients and their carers at the Hospital. 

Volunteers offer their services for a number of reasons; as a thank you to the Trust for the excellent service they or a relative has 
received here, or to find out what working on a ward is really like before they go on to make the NHs their chosen employer. 
Whatever the reason, Tameside Hospital NHs Trust’s volunteers help to provide the “icing on the cake” for the patient experience 
through the hospital.

Volunteers are carefully selected to work at the Hospital, using the same selection process as NHs employees, with references, 
health screening and criminal record screening being undertaken to ensure patient safety.

There are many types of voluntary work in the Trust with volunteers working in areas as diverse as:
- Clinical areas, assisting NHs staff to care for our patients
- The Hospital enquiry desk, helping visitors to the hospital and assisting them in way finding
- the Health information Centre,  ensuring patients and carers receive good information about their condition and its implications, 
 to supplement that given to them by clinical staff 
- the scooter mobility scheme to assist less mobile patients to make their way to their appointments 
- a number of snack bars providing for light refreshments 

The Trust recognises the commitment given by all of its volunteers by holding an annual “Thank you” party, held in Volunteers Week in 
June each year. Those volunteers who have been with the Trust for a long time are given a long service award at 10 and 20 years. 
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Community Engagement

as part of it’s strategy to engage the communities served by Tameside Hospital, a series of two public meetings were 
arranged in every township of Tameside and Glossop during the year. The meetings are attended by the public members, 
and were an open opportunity to for those attending to meet their public member of council, the Trust Chairman, Chief 
executive and director of Nursing to discuss any issues relating to the hospital and its plans for the future. eight public 
meetings where held over the period of January 2011 to march 2011.

Community Interest Company

a Community interest Company has been established to fund and deliver complementary therapies to cancer patients at 
Tameside Hospital. This social enterprise is a not for profit limited company with the stakeholders being drawn from cancer 
patients and community representatives, healthcare professionals from the area of cancer and complementary therapy, and 
representatives from the Trust.  The establishment of this venture has meant that a complementary therapy service can 
continue to be offered to cancer outpatients at Tameside Hospital.

3.5 safe and effective services

The Trust maintains a robust and wide ranging clinical governance framework to ensure that safe, effective and high quality 
care is provided at all times for the Trust’s patients. The framework includes areas such as ensuring the currency of professional 
qualifications and registration through to reviewing any clinical incident, however insignificant, for lessons that can be learned 
for the future. other important aspects of the framework include learning from patient feedback in the form of complaints, 
claims, and surveys, and ensuring that the Trust reviews its systems when criticism is made or adverse incidents occur.

CQC Health Check/Essential Standards of Quality and Safety 
during 2010/11, the Trust continued to progress the work of the already established clinical governance framework, 
monitoring each division to ensure that across the Trust patient services were provided safely and at an acceptable quality.  
during 2010/11 the Trust received an unannounced CQC inspection (8th march 2010), following which two conditions were 
placed on the Trust’s registration.  The conditions imposed on the Trust by the CQC in march 2010 were:

• The Trust must ensure that by 30 April 2010 it has effective systems in place to coordinate and deploy suitably qualified 
and skilled staff to meet the needs of patients admitted to Tameside General Hospital. evidence must be made available to 
demonstrate this by 31 may 2010. 

• The Trust must ensure that by 30 April 2010 there are sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, skilled and experienced staff 
to meet the needs of the patients admitted to Tameside General Hospital. evidence must be made available to demonstrate 
this by 31 may 2010. 

The Trust met these conditions through the introduction of an electronic system to monitor the deployment of staff, as well 
as the employment of additional staff coupled with closer planning of hospital bed capacity, and the conditions were lifted 
following a further visit to the hospital by the CQC in June 2010.  This means that the Trust is fully registered with the CQC.  
as part of the visit, the Trust was assessed against 5 outcomes.  The Trust was compliant with one outcome (“supporting 
workers”), there were 3 minor concerns (“meeting nutritional needs, “staffing” and “records”), and one moderate concern 
(“care and welfare of people who use services”).  The Trust responded to these concerns during the year.
  
a further visit took place in march 2011 and at the time of writing a formal report had not been received from the CQC.
The Trust has also worked closely with the pCT and social services colleagues to pursue a number of initiatives to prevent 
the extreme demands on the Trust’s beds.  unplanned fluctuations in demand can of course affect the availability of nursing 
staff.

The three organisations have therefore worked to review joint health and social care systems and processes to reduce 
delayed transfers of care. This has led to a multiagency daily review of patients in order to agree an estimated discharge 
date, and progress is monitored through a continuously updated patient tracking system. 

in addition the Trust has also worked with partnership agencies in order to support the commissioning of slow stream 
rehabilitation beds within nursing and residential care settings and there are further beds scheduled to support intermediate 
care services.       
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NICE Guidance 

The Trust receives guidance from the National institute of Clinical excellence (NiCe), which provides patients and health 
professionals with evidence based guidance on current best practice in healthcare. The guidance covers “health technologies” 
(for example medicines, medical devices, diagnostic techniques, and procedures) as well as the clinical management of 
specific conditions.  When guidance is received from NiCe, it is initially reviewed by the Clinical audit patient safety & 
effectiveness Committee (CapseC) to determine whether it is relevant to the Trust’s services.  if so, a “guidance lead” is 
nominated, who is responsible for reviewing the guidance in detail, and providing advice to the Trust as to where it should be 
applied.  if actual or potential non-compliance is identified a process exists whereby a case for implementation is made.  The 
NiCe issued baseline assessment tool must be completed for clinical guidance within 3 months, and submitted to CapseC, 
where the actions to achieve full compliance are monitored on a 6 monthly basis.  

National Reports 

every year, the Trust contributes to a number of national enquiries regarding patient care. The findings are aggregated into 
national reports with recommendations which the Trust reviews and implements where appropriate. The main national 
enquiries are as follows.

• National Confidential enquiry into patient outcome and death (NCepod)
• Confidential enquiry into maternal and Child Health (CemaCH)
• Confidential inquiry into suicide and Homicides (CisH)
• serious Hazards of Transfusion (sHoT)

NHSLA Risk Management Standards and Assessment 

The Trust is a member of the Clinical Negligence scheme for Trusts (CNsT) run by the NHs litigation authority (NHsla). The 
NHsla has traditionally set rigorous national standards to ensure clinical risks are managed effectively. separate assessments 
are made for the safety and standards of care for general hospital services and maternity services.

The Trust’s maternity CNsT assessment took place in december 2010.  a decision was made to be assessed at level 1 
due to the volume of changes recently applied in the assessment criterion.  assurance was drawn from this assessment 
with an achievement of 100% compliance at this level 1.  The Trust is currently preparing for the NHsla acute assessment 
scheduled for may 2011.  These standards have been revised recently and the revisions become effective in may 2011.

Dignity in Care 

during 2011/12, the Trust has continued to maintain the philosophy that “dignity in care is everyone’s business” and not just 
the domain of clinical staff. The Trust has continued to maintain dignity in care as an integral part of its ethos and services, 
and has undertaken a number of initiatives to consolidate and build on mainstreamed structures, working closely with 
the local involvement Network (liNk), patient involvement groups and undertaking a multidisciplinary celebratory event on 
National dignity action day.  

Complaints 

The Trust continues to take all complaints extremely seriously.  The continuing developments in dignity in Care have helped to 
ensure that information about how to raise comments, concerns, compliments and complaints is widely available across the 
hospital, in a number of formats, including leaflets and posters as well as on the hospital website.  This year, 375 complaints 
were received, of which 219 (58%) were resolved in 25 working days or with agreed extensions.  in the previous year 320 
complaints were received of which 206 (64%) were resolved within target. each significant complaint gives rise to an action 
plan, which facilitates the appropriate changes in systems, practices etc, required to prevent a recurrence.  The Trust’s 
performance in relation to complaints is monitored by the Clinical Governance accountability Committee.  more complaints 
have been received this year than in the previous year.  Nevertheless, improving response times to complainants will be a 
key priority for the Trust in 2011/12.
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Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 

The Trust, in partnership with Tameside and Glossop primary Care Trust, provides a patient advice and liaison service 
(pals) for patients and their relatives/carers. Tameside and Glossop pals cover services provided in the community and 
the hospital. people can contact pals for information about services and advice about problems, and pals staff do all they 
can in order to resolve any issues as quickly as possible. pals looks at issues from the patient’s perspective.  The Trust’s 
performance in relation to pals is monitored by the Clinical Governance accountability Committee and all divisions receive 
a monthly update on pals issues arising in their area.

Patient Safety Strategy 
 
early in 2008, Tameside Hospital joined a select group of Trusts working with the NHs institute for innovation and improvement 
on its “leading improvement in patient safety” Campaign, and subsequently the “patient safety First” campaign, which 
aimed to reduce mortality and avoidable harm to patients. The Trust’s comprehensive patient safety strategy has continued 
to build on the Trust’s successes in addressing risk to date.  The patient safety strategy uses extensively proven methods 
which look more deeply into the factors which impact on patient safety across the organisation.  The strategy was revised 
during 2010/11 by the Trust’s medical safety lead and the medical and Nursing directors.   The Trust saw good performance 
against the strategy, which will therefore be subject to further review during 2011/12, as part of the Trust’s drive to continuing 
quality improvement.
 
The existing patient safety strategy incorporates ongoing review of performance indicators such as nosocomial infection 
rate, Hospital standardised mortality ration (Hsmr), raw death rate, cardiac arrest rate, mrsa. C. diff, dVT risk assessment, 
utilisation of World Health organisation (WHo) checklist for safer surgery and global trigger tool data. it has incorporated the 
action points from the mortality reduction programme into its workload. major areas of current action include: Npsa/WHo 
checklist for safer surgery; introduction of care bundles (in community acquired pneumonia, Copd and fractured neck of 
femur with plans to roll out six others over the next year); outreach critical care; focus on nosocomial infections (specifically 
CrBsi and Vap on iTu); medication safety; falls reduction; reduction of in-hospital dVT/pe; reduction in catheter associated 
uTi; reduction in high grade pressure sores. These last four areas are targets of the advancing quality (aQua) safety express 
programme which the Trust is a member of, in conjunction with pennine Care and NHs Tameside.  

Advancing Quality AQUA

advancing quality is a revolutionary programme developed by North West strategic Health authority, which aims to 
improve patient care, save lives and reduce costs. The Trust has been participating in this programme since its launch in 
october 2008.  The focus of the programme is on the quality of care being provided to patients in four areas of healthcare,  
as follows.

• Heart attacks
• Pneumonia
• Heart failure
• Hip and knee replacement

The initiative has resulted in reduced re-admissions and less complications and patients spending less time in hospital. 
advancing Quality has therefore led to patients having a better experience in hospital and ultimately a better clinical 
outcome.

This is the second year the Trust has been using patient reported outcome measures (proms) to evaluate the patient’s 
view of the effectiveness of their treatment.  unlike conventional patient satisfaction surveys, proms deal with issues such 
as whether the patient can walk further, do more, and have less pain than they experienced before their operation.  This has 
become part of a national initiative and proms has begun to be used in all major specialties.
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Risk Management

during 2010/11, the Trust continued to develop its risk management systems and processes.  The Trust has a robust risk 
management Committee which deals effectively with all risk issues, including health and safety, and also monitors action 
plans related to non clinical incident or following a Health and safety inspection.

The Trust maintains a register of risks, which are graded from low to high and using the National patient safety agency 
(Npsa)  5 X 5 risk matrix. Where a risk is identified as high, specific treatment plans are developed to manage and mitigate 
the risk. This year, a number of changes have been made to the Trust’s risk register system with regular feedback at divisions 
and Trust Board.  each division also maintains a local risk register.

staff have been trained in “root cause analysis” whereby critical factors underlying an incident can be identified, and lessons 
for learning shared across the Trust. solutions are then implemented to prevent similar incidents, with all serious untoward 
incident action plans being monitored at executive level.
  
a number of risk management reports are produced and distributed by the risk management team. There is an overarching 
quarterly report which is distributed throughout the organisation and submitted to the Trust Board. individual directorates 
also receive details of incidents and risks in their areas, and risk management is a standing agenda item on all directorate 
management Team meetings.  

The risk management department also publishes a monthly “Closing the Circle” document, which contains a number of 
“snappy” summaries of lessons learned arising from incidents within the Trust.

in 2010/11 the Trust’s department of Training and organisational development department developed a programme on 
leadership, targeting key clinical staff, of which patient safety is the prime focus.  The course will commence early in 
2011/12.

Learning from Incidents 

during 2010/11, the Trust has maintained close links with the National patient safety agency (Npsa), reporting all patient 
related accidents and incidents. The highest category of incidents reported to the Npsa relate to trips, slips or falls.  The 
Trust has continued to develop systems to prevent patient slips and trips and significant work is on-going to help reduce this 
type of incident, which will be a key priority during 2011/12.

The Trust is a member of the national patient safety express initiative whose remit is to reduce “harms” to patients in four 
key areas:

• Falls Prevention
• UTI
• VTE
• Pressure Sores 

The Trust is working in partnership with the pCT and pennine Care NHs Foundation Trust to ensure effective outcomes and 
shared learning.

Risk assessment and Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) 

as noted above, risk registers are maintained at department divisional and corporate level within the Trust and robustly 
managed to ensure that risks are identified and appropriately managed.  staff safety is also paramount and non clinical 
incidents are monitored and reported to the Hse should that occur.  

modern healthcare is provided in a high technology environment and some degree of human error is to be expected.  The 
Trust has robust incident reporting and investigation processes with the aim of learning lessons from what went wrong to 
prevent it from happening again. When an incident occurs, it provides an opportunity to make improvements. The incident is 
openly discussed with the patient and staff involved and the open discussion allows improved learning to take place.
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Reporting of Personal Data Related Incidents 

The NHs information Governance assurance programme (NHsiGap) is helping to provide assurance that all Trusts are 
managing information risks, or taking action to address any shortfalls. The Trust established and provided training for its network 
of information asset owners and administrators during 2010/11, and has an information asset register with over 80 assets 
recorded, together with an action plan for the next phase of work.  The NHs iGap also establishes a framework for assurance 
to be provided on a recurrent basis, via the annual submission of the information Governance Toolkit.  The Trust’s information 
Governance Committee is tasked with ensuring evidence is maintained of effective information governance processes and 
procedures with risk based and proportionate safeguards. personal and other sensitive information requires particularly strong 
safeguards. Hence, appropriate controls are in place to ensure that risks, (including information and reporting risks) are being 
managed effectively.  This is seen by the publication of a new policy on information risk management, and the revision of 
associated policies to include the role of the senior information risk owner (siro) and iaos/iaas, and the revised format of 
regular reports to the iGC on iG incidents reported through the Trust reporting system.

Table 1 – there were no serious untoward incidents involving personal data as reported to the information commissioner’s  
office in 2010/11

SUMMARY OF SERIOUS UNTOWARD INCIDENTS INVOLVING PERSONAL DATA AS REPORTED TO THE 
INFORMATION COMMISSIONER’S OFFICE IN 2010/11

Date of incident 
(month)

Nature of incident
Nature of data 
involved

Number of people 
potentially affected

Notification steps

Contractor to 
contact the 
individuals 
concerned

Further Action on 
Information Risk

Table 2 

SUMMARY OF OTHER PERSONAL DATA RELATED INCIDENTS IN 2010/11

Category Nature of incident Total

I Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper 
documents from secured NHS premises. 0

II Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper 
documents from outside secured NHS premises. 0

III Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or 
paper documents. 2

IV Unauthorised disclosure. 15

V Other. 0

V Other. 0
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National Patient Surveys 

The Trust is currently awaiting the issue of the National patient survey report following a data collection exercise in august 
2010.  during 2010/11 the Trust has progressed actions from the National in patient survey which was published during 
2010.  in this survey the Trust scored statistically “about the same” (i,e, within the expected statistical range), as other Trusts 
and action plans were developed to improve performance in a number of areas, including: 

• Providing communication skills training for senior medical staff
• Reviewing the Trust’s Customer Care Programme
• Providing more pre-printed information for patients 

in december, 2010, the CQC published the results of the its national maternity survey, which is undertaken periodically.  The 
Trust’s results were very good and received positive coverage in the local media.  

Mortality 

it was disappointing to report in last year’s annual report that the Trust’s Hospital standardised mortality rate (Hsmr) (for 
2008/09), as reported by dr Foster, had been 119.3.  The efforts to improve were very successful, so that the Hsmr for 
2009/10 was 103.5, which was within the expected range for a hospital of our size and type.  it is anticipated and expected 
that the Trust’s success will be reflected in the figures for 2010/11.

The Trust has continued to focus its efforts in relation to mortality in four main areas – improving clinical quality; ensuring the 
accuracy of clinical recording and coding; examining hospital systems and processes; and working closely with colleagues 
in other sectors to optimise end of life care.

during 2010/11, the Trust became part of the “North West mortality Collaborative”, which includes a number of hospitals 
from the North of england with high Hsmrs.  The Collaborative sought to understand the factors for the higher than average 
Hsmr seen in its constituent hospitals and to respond to these factors.  The Trust was recognised as having achieved the 
greatest improvement in Hsmr amongst all participating organisations.  
 

3.6 service development

Enhanced Recovery Programme

enhanced recovery of patients undergoing surgery is predominately in use for elective surgery and cancer care pathways. 
The underlying principal is to enable patients to recover from surgery and leave hospital sooner by minimising the stress 
responses on the body during surgery. The approach has demonstrated not just to improve the clinical outcome but to also 
patient’s experience. 

it is anticipated that the enhanced recovery programme will support the Trust’s mission statement to become the hospital 
of choice for local people by:-

• Improved benefits to patients:  No bowel preparation pre-surgery is  encouraged, to take fluid day 1 post operative,  
 mobilised and eating day 2-4 post operative, discharge on day 5 and a quicker return to normal activity

• Reduced Length of hospital stay:  from 10 days down to 5 days for this patient group

• Reduction in risk of infection:  based on research and audit performed by Trusts’ which have implemented the   
 enhanced recovery there is considerably less post operative infections reported

• Improved benefits to staff: increasing skills, improved working conditions by freeing up of resources and reducing   
 pressures and a positive impact on staff morale that accompanies service improvement, improved multi disciplinary   
 Team and partnership working

• Improved efficiency of bed occupancy: it is anticipated that throughput on the programme would be limited to a   
 maximum of 3 patients per week over 50 weeks a year equalling 150 patients in the first year.  making the service   
 accessible to those who need to undergo surgery promptly
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Emergency Department

in developing its services, the emergency and Critical Care division have been working over the past year with the intensive 
support Team to develop the services that the division provides to a standard required for the community it services. There 
are a number of work streams that the partnership have been focusing on, these include:-

• The introduction of a new medical model within the medical assessment unit that delivers a high quality of care for all   
 medical emergency patients that are admitted. This change ensures that patients receive a review  by a senior   
 Consultant in a timely manner, this in turn enables an early diagnosis and an early onset of the necessary treatment. 

• New patient pathways, in line with ambulatory Care, are being established and will provide the mechanism whereby   
 patients with certain clinical conditions can be managed through the system effectively by both primary and secondary  
 care providers working together to incorporate end to end pathways. This will in turn ensure that patients receive quality  
 care, within acceptable time frames and in an environment best suited to their needs. 

• There is a drive to provide a General practitioner presence in the a&e department so that patients who require the skills  
 of a Gp can be seen by the appropriate clinician. This will ensure the quality of care provided to the patients who attend  
 the department is high and that the patient pathways that provide the required care can be followed. 

The partnership that has been formed with the intensive support Team and colleagues in the community will continue 
throughout the coming months to provide the platform on which to build the services required to provide the emergency 
services that best fit the local  patient population.

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services

during 2010/2011 the departments which form the diagnostic and Therapeutic division have been very successful.  some 
of the years highlights appear below:

Physiotherapy

during 2010/11 the physiotherapy department achieved the following:

• Achieved and sustained compliance with Stoke Key Performance Indicators
• Rated by Higher Education Institutes as an excellent regional provider for student placements and scored 100% on 
evaluation of placement provision based on student and visiting tutor feedback.

in relation to developing the service the department:

• Developed the ‘Manual Handling for Informal Carers Service’. This service prepares relatives of patients who wish to 
physically care for their family member at home themselves and is particularly relevant in palliative circumstances. This 
service has been shortlisted for the Chairman’s prize.

Pathology 

during 2010/11 all pathology disciplines were visited by Clinical pathology accreditation (Cpa) and all have retained full 
accreditation.

The Human Tissue authority (HTa) visited the mortuary and Histopathology departments in 2010 and all three licenses were 
renewed. They are for storage of the deceased, post mortems and examination of tissues in Histopathology.

The Heath and safety executive (Hse) visited both microbiology and Histopathology in 2010 and all recommendations have 
been completed.

The provision of gynaecological cytology (cervical smears) has successfully moved to pennine acute Trust and the staff have 
transferred  to the new organisation.

The two antic-coagulation clinics in Hartshead and ladysmith have combined into one clinic in the ladysmith and are now 
run by pharmacy and pathology. a new software database system has been purchased and is now used to assist the 
warfarin clinics using a computer assisted dosing package. 
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Radiology 

radiology made a successful move to the new hospital development and for the first time the 3 departments amalgamated 
into one. This was accompanied by the commissioning of the ditchfield suite for Nuclear medicine containing a new state 
of the art speCT CT Gamma Camera. New equipment was also installed in the angiography X-ray room and one of the 
ultrasound rooms.

staffing changes included the introduction of the extended working day in radiography that now includes 8.00am to 8.00pm 
monday to Friday and 9.00am to 12.00 mid-day and saturday and sunday access for Gp patient referrals.

starting in april 2011 the Nuclear medicine department will be performing myocardial perfusion imaging for both in and out-
patients. These tests have in the past been sent to Central manchester but the new development is now being undertaken 
at Tameside. The test in conjunction with the Cardiology department looks at the efficiency of the heart muscle for those 
patients suffering chest pain or a shortness of breath.

Audiology

The audiology department provides a consistently high quality service to young and old. our youngest hearing aid user was 
6 weeks old when fitted, and our oldest user is 103.  appointments for repairs and fine-tuning are offered within 2-3 days. We 
fit the most up-to-date, cosmetically attractive hearing aids which incorporate digital technology programmed to individual 
requirements. We have strong working links with social services and education to ensure comprehensive and thorough 
support for our patients.

audiology’s ambition to take the service “closer to home” has now been achieved through joint collaboration with the 
Trust and pCT information Technology. departments.  Together, they solved the problems of networking our pms (patient 
management system) with the health centres. This means we can offer a greater range of services at 9 health centres as 
well as at the hospital. We also visit housebound people at home, in nursing and residential facilities or on the wards.   The 
department is now available on the Choose and Book system to help Gp surgeries access a quicker, more streamlined 
appointment. 

3.7 Health investment in Tameside (HiT) project 
The new clinical building on the Hospital site was handed over from our pFi partner Consort and their Construction team, 
Balfour Beatty, on time and on budget at a celebratory key handover ceremony on 4th october 2010. 
 
The completion of this building marks a key milestone in the ‘Health Investment in Tameside’ (HIT) project and is the last 
of the clinical buildings which will be constructed as part of the £112 million project and follows an extensive period of 
redevelopment works on Tameside Hospital site including the construction of a new laboratory of medicine, a new facility 
for older peoples’ mental health services run by pennine Care NHs Foundation Trust and a multi storey car park. This was 
followed with a public open day in october to allow interested members of the public to have a look around the new facilities 
before it became operational.  The building was then successfully occupied during one very long weekend in November and 
opened to patients on monday 22nd November 2010.  

The opening of Hartshead building (south) marks an end to the use of Victorian buildings for clinical services at the Hospital 
and changes how patients and visitors access the hospital and its services.   Hartshead building (south) will be the new 
main entrance for the whole hospital accessed from darnton road with designated disabled parking, a drop off zone and 
footpaths all making the arrival at hospital much easier for patients.

The new building is attached to the existing Hartshead building (North) via the hospital corridors and connects with the 
ladysmith building across Fountain street which means that there is now internal access to all clinical departments for the 
first time in the Hospital’s history.   This has already had a significant impact on patient care and improved the journeys for 
many patients being treated in wards in the ladysmith building.
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This new, purpose-built facility has brought together services that were dispersed across the hospital site, facilities include:

• Centralised outpatient and x-ray services close to existing departments in the Hartshead Building (North), replacing the   
 outpatient and x-ray services provided in stamford and darnton Buildings.

• A Children’s ‘Hospital within a Hospital’ that provides dedicated Children’s services replacing the Children’s ward and   
 outpatients department within stamford Building. 

• Replacement operating Theatres and integrated Day surgery and Endoscopy unit from Stamford Building, bringing   
 together all theatres into a single theatre suite, all on the same corridor.

• A 48 bedded in-patient ward with over 40% of beds being provided in single rooms all with en-suite facilities and   
 individual bedside patient entertainment systems. 

• A new Pharmacy department centrally located within the main entrance area.

• A hospital Main Entrance with self check in facilities for outpatients, mobility scooter services, retail and café facilities will  
 be opened in early summer 2011.

• As part of the project, the Gynaecology services previously provided in the Stamford Building also relocated into a newly  
 refurbished Women’s Health unit within the Hartshead North building.  This provides a dedicated facility for all of the   
 women’s services including outpatients, day surgery and the gynaecology ward. 

patients, local community members and staff have been involved in shaping the design of the new building right from the 
beginning. Through listening to patients, our community and staff, we believe we have provided an excellent new healthcare 
facility for Tameside residents fit for the 21st century.  

project director Gillian parker said: “This new building provides a real opportunity to launch Tameside Hospital into a new era 
of healthcare, my congratulations to everyone who has been involved.”

HIT Project’s Final Phase

The completion and occupation of the new building allowed the Trust to vacate the stamford building and this was handed 
over to the construction team in 3 phases between december 2010 and February 2011 for demolition which was completed 
during march 2011.  This makes way for the construction of a 400 space car park which will provide the main patient and 
visitor parking for the Hospital.
 
stamford building was built in 1906 and was originally called the lake Hospital; it was built to accommodate large volumes 
of patients being nursed in ‘nightingale’ wards.  This type of accommodation does not meet modern healthcare standards 
and the construction, age and condition of the stamford building made it impossible to refurbish to meet these standards.

The final phase of works of the car park, landscaping and road layouts are due for completion in august 2011, and will 
provide the hospital users with clear vehicle and pedestrian routes through the site and well organised parking facilities, all 
helping to make the experience of visiting Tameside Hospital as stress free as possible.

Travel and Transport

The Trust has implemented measures to reduce reliance on the private car as a means of travelling to the hospital by patients, 
visitors and staff. The Trust actively promotes use of its car sharing scheme, bicycle hire scheme and provides information 
provided on public transport options. This includes the provision of discounted public transport season tickets for staff, and 
information is available on the Trust’s intranet site.

Now that all the main Hospital buildings are linked, the amount of vehicular transport required to transport goods/services 
and patients around the site has been drastically reduced.

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   27 27/6/11   12:59:44



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

28

3.8 our staff
 
The hospital’s approach to managing staff is central to the core aim of becoming the Hospital of Choice – we have recognised 
that by creating the right conditions for our staff to flourish, we will deliver the best possible care for patients.  our approach 
at Tameside hospital builds upon the commitments and aspirations set out in the NHs Constitution (2009):

“The highest quality of patient care is delivered by staff who are ambitious in their expectations of themselves and their 
colleagues, and strive to achieve beyond what is legally required of them.”     

Staff Engagement 

2010/11 saw the launch of the Trust’s major organisational development initiative, “everyone matters” at Tameside, which 
has three core elements:

• Ensuring that every patient experience is excellent and that we are ‘the local healthcare provider of choice’

• Ensuring staff experience is consistently excellent and that we are a ‘great place to work’ 

• Engaging with stakeholders (staff, patients and partner bodies) in rebuilding and restoring the reputation of 
 Tameside Hospital

“everyone matters” at Tameside has been built around the concept of stakeholder engagement in improving services – 
engaging staff is critical to the success of Tameside Hospital as there is a strong evidence base to demonstrate that this 
linked to improved patient satisfaction, productivity and levels of public trust/confidence in public institutions.

“everyone matters” at Tameside was launched through a series of high profile events and approaches (the Big Conversations), 
with staff across the Trust asked to share their views on how they could make a difference to the experiences of both staff 
and patients at the hospital. a number of key themes have emerged, which are now being addressed.  staff members were 
also asked to make a pledge on what they would do differently in order to improve Tameside.

The Big Conversations have been a powerful vehicle to deliver an inclusive leadership approach, with staff enabled and 
empowered to make a difference.  They have led to the establishment of a network of “engagement champions” and 
improved frameworks for involving staff in decisions that affect them and the services that they provide.

The Big Conversations directly led to the introduction of a staff suggestion scheme, the Big idea, which is already to staff 
putting forward ideas that can help to reduce costs and improve patient experience.

We have also ensured that all staff receive regular feedback on everyone matters at Tameside through the publication of a 
regular newsletter.

Improving Health and Wellbeing

We have continued to develop our health and wellbeing strategy, “Healthy, Happy, safe”, in order to ensure that it delivered 
against the principles contained in the Boorman report.  The strategy focuses upon Tameside Hospital being an exemplar 
employer, with interventions to improve health surveillance and screening, promote positive mental health, develop healthy 
lifestyles and tackle issues such as obesity, alcohol consumption and smoking. 

Healthy, Happy, Safe supports the Trust in maintaining staff attendance levels well above the NHs North West average.  The 
full year average is not yet available, but on a month-by-month basis we are well below the NHs North West average.  in 
February 2011 for instance, we were 3.5% against the North West average of 4.2%.
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Sickness absence

DIVISION 2009/10 - %                                   2010/11 - %

Emergency Services & Critical Care 4.7 4.5

Elective 3.3 3.6

Women & Children 4.5 4.1

Diagnostic & Therapeutic 2.2 1.9

Facilities 2.2 4.1

Corporate 2.3 3.6

TOTAL 3.6 3.7

Personal Development & Learning

There has been a focus on leadership and management development in 2010/11, with the continued delivery of the Thinking 
differently leadership programme, with the emphasis on motivation, customer care and corporate governance.  This aims 
to equip managers with the appropriate skills, competencies and behaviours to deliver high quality services within available 
resources.

We have continued to take action to improve both the quality and quantity of performance development reviews (pdr), with 
the improvements reflected in our scores in the NHs staff survey 2010 and increasing rates of compliance for both mandatory 
training and performance reviews.   We aim to ensure that all staff have a pdr at least once per year, with this being a quality 
interaction that adds value by feeding back on performance and identifying education and development needs.

We held our second “learning at Work day” in may 2010, hosted by local celebrity andy Crane, to recognise those staff that 
had completed NVQ courses in 2010.

Reward & Recognition

The inaugural Celebrating Tameside Hospital event was held on 30th march 2011 in Werneth House.  developed as part 
of the everyone matters at Tameside initiative, the event was held to recognise, reward and celebrate the contribution and 
achievements made by individual members of staff and teams in making Tameside the local hospital of choice.  

The event, which was fully funded through external sponsorship, was hosted by Julie Hesmondhalgh (better known as Hayley 
Cropper from Coronation street) was attended by over 100 staff and featured presentations of awards for the Chairman’s prize 
and employee of the Year for 2010/11.  

Chairman’s Prize

The Chairman’s prize is an annual award given for excellence in service improvement, Teamworking and innovation.  

The overall Chairman’s prize went to the winners of the Teamworking category, the resuscitation Team for “improving Cardiac 
arrest outcomes”. This project focused on the integration of state-of-the-art semi automated external defibrillators into clinical 
and non clinical accommodation at the hospital and has been extremely successful in providing effective resuscitation services 
across the site.

awards were also given to pharmacy for improving patient safety on the medical assessment unit (mau) (service improvement), 
to radiology for real-time reports for stroke patients (innovation) with a “Highly Commended” award given to the small 
Conversation staff engagement Champions.

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   29 27/6/11   12:59:45



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

30

Employee of the Year/Excellence in Care Awards

The excellence in Care awards were established in 2010 to recognise those members of staff and volunteers who have 
delivered the highest possible standards of care, demonstrated exemplary performance and an outstanding level of service 
delivery. each of the quarterly winners of the excellence in Care award was then considered for the employee of the Year 
award.  

sandra Wood, sister on iTu, was nominated as employee of the Year for an act of outstanding kindness and compassion, 
helping a dying patient hear the heartbeat of his unborn grandson through arranging for a doppler machine to be brought 
onto iTu.

The other quarterly winners were:

Kerry lyons, Ward sister (Quarter 1 2010)
mary lynam, Nursing auxilliary (Quarter 2 2010)
Vicky matthews, play specialist (Quarter 4 2010)

NHS Staff Survey 2010

The annual NHs staff survey conducted in the autumn of each year is one of a range of indicators which the Trust uses to 
assess employee engagement and satisfaction.  The findings of this annual survey are triangulated with other engagement 
and satisfaction tools to inform action planning.  

Response Rate

The Trust is required to participate in an annual NHs staff survey undertaken in the autumn each year.  The survey was sent 
out to a random sample of 800 staff and a response rate of 51% was achieved.  This was the same level as achieved in 2009 
and was average for acute Trusts in england.

The results for 2010 show a distinct improvement from the previous area, with nine of the key result areas (out of 38) showing 
a statistically significant improvement and no areas showing statistically significant deterioration.  The spread of scores has 
also improved with 37% above average (22% last year), 31% average (27% last year) and 31% below average (50% last 
year).  

The Trust scores breakdown as follows for the 38 key findings:

Best 20%     4 (2 key findings last year)

Better than average  10       (7 key findings last year)

average    12  (11 key findings last year)

Worse than average    6  (12 key findings last year)

Worst 20%     6 (8 key findings last year)
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it is pleasing to note that a number of the key finding improvements are in areas which are being addressed through the everyone matters 
at Tameside.  Key improvements this year include:

• Staff Job Satisfaction

• Commitment to work/life balance

• Support from immediate managers

• Staff intention to leave jobs

• Quality of job design

• Work pressure felt by staff

• Staff recommendation of the trust as a place to work or receive treatment

STATISTICALLY SIGNIFICANT IMPROVEMENTS
Trust Score 

2009
Trust score 

2010
National 
Average

staff job satisfaction
(Higher the better)

3.40 3.50 3.48

impact of health and well-being on ability to perform work or 
daily activities
(lower the better)

1.61 1.54 1.57

Trust commitment to work-life balance
(Higher the better)

3.43 3.50 3.38

support from immediate managers
(Higher the better)

3.58 3.63 3.61

Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting procedures
(Higher the better)

3.38 3.45 3.45

staff intention to leave jobs
(lower the better)

2.65 2.55 2.53

Quality of Job design
(Higher the better)

3.37 3.42 3.41

Work pressure felt by staff
(lower the better)

3.21 3.13 3.11

staff recommendation of the Trust as a place to work or 
receive treatment
(Higher the better)

3.25 3.39 3.52

Highest and Lowest Ranking Scores

The report highlights the key findings where the Trust performed best and worst, when ranked with other NHs acute Trusts. 
For Tameside, these are as follows:

HIGHEST RANKING SCORES Trust Score 
2010

National 
Average

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in last 12 
months
(Lower the better)

13% 15%

Trust commitment to work-life balance 
(Higher the better) 3.50 3.38

Percentage of staff using flexible working options 
(Higher the better) 66% 63%

Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from staff in last 12 months
(Lower the better) 1% 1%
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LOWEST RANKING SCORES Trust Score 
2010

National 
Average

Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from patients, relatives or the 
public in last 12 months
(Lower the better)

13% 8%

Percentage of staff receiving health and safety training in last 12 months
(Higher the better) 62% 80%

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, 
relatives or the public in last 12 months 
(Lower the better)

19% 15%

Percentage of staff having equality and diversity training in last 12 months 
(Higher the better) 31% 41%

Actions being taken to address issues

Corporate Level

a number of corporate actions have been identified and are being implemented to address the issues identified in the staff 
survey:

• Continued implementation of Everyone Matters at Tameside. Organisational Development Programme and delivery of the  
 full action plan arising from the phase 2 Big Conversations

• Revised mandatory training process (annual updates for all staff, introduction of Mandatory Training Workbook/e-learning)

• Introduction of Conditional Incremental Progression approach (based on PDR, mandatory training and other core   
 performance indicators)

• Review of Reward & Recognition Schemes/Processes

• Leadership & Management Development Programmes (Thinking Differently, Performance/Project Management,   
 productive Ward, leaN, resilience, Consultant leadership programme)

• Full review of internal communications systems and processes

• Equality Act training as a mandatory requirement for all staff

• Enhanced PDR process for managers (linked to talent management)

• Framework for linking corporate objectives to individual objectives through Divisional, Departmental and Team objectives

• Implementation of the Fit for 2012 campaign (including Tameside 250)

• Attendance Management Policy launch with associated management training

• Ongoing development of network of Staff Engagement Champions

• Continued implementation of Board to Ward activities (Patient Safety Walkarounds, Departmental visits, Back to 
 the Floor, etc)

• Zero Tolerance campaign to address physical and verbal abuse against staff
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Divisional-level Actions

at a divisional level, responses to the staff survey will be developed using the “small Conversations” format introduced in 
2010.  Following presentations to each of the divisional management Teams about the results for their division, each division 
will be required to produce a local action plan to address their key local issues.  This will be delivered through the “small 
Conversations”, led by the staff member of Council in conjunction with the divisional General manager (or equivalent) and 
will see the staff member of Council for each division taking the lead in seeking views of staff about the actions that need to 
be taken in order to address the local issues identified.

Diversity Report 

The Trust recognises that the promotion of equal opportunities and celebration of diversity is integral to the Trust remaining 
as a local employer and hospital of choice.

in light of this, we are keen to engage with everyone who feels they can make a difference in the way we deliver healthcare 
services to our patients.   The following are some examples of partnership working in the delivery our equality and diversity 
agenda:-

Single Equality Scheme (SES)

our single equality scheme (ses) forms an essential part of helping us to become a local hospital and employer of choice.    
it demonstrates how we propose to promote equal opportunities across the key equality strands of race, age, disability, 
gender reassignment, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership and pregnancy and maternity 
pinned by the principles under the Human rights act.  

The scheme was developed following its internal and external stakeholder consultation events that took place in october 
2009 and september 2010.

The SES and action plan:

• sets out our commitment to promote and embed Equality, Diversity and the Human Rights Act into day to day practices, 
policies and procedures so that it becomes integral to all.

• retains existing corporate responsibilities, with the Director of Nursing continuing to lead on patient service issues and the 
director of Human resources director leading on employment issues.  

Celebrating Diversity Event 

as mentioned above, the Trust launched its single equality scheme at the consultation feedback event held on 28th 
september 2010 in the education and Training Centre, Werneth House.  This event was held following the success of the 
initial ses consultation event in october 2009.

The event was attended by some 70 people from diverse backgrounds including staff, service users, members of the local 
community and partner organizations such as Tameside metropolitan Borough Council, Tameside Blind association and 
Tameside people First.

This event proved to be successful in feeding back the issues raised through the consultation process, to confirm the 
priorities and actions for equality and diversity within the final ses and to celebrate diversity at the hospital. 

The event included showcasing examples of good local practice that demonstrate specific actions that have been taken to 
improve equality of access to services and/or employment at the hospital.  

The event provided attendees with a useful opportunity to learn about the work being undertaken by the Trust and to 
network with colleagues and share information and experiences.

This event will further support the Trust’s “everyone matters” strategy to involve and engage with its staff and service users 
in improving our services and becoming a hospital of choice.  
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Equality and Diversity (Specific) awareness training 

The Trust is currently providing equality and diversity specific training in partnership with the pCT, in light of the equality act 
2010 and in response to the feedback from our staff.  The training will ensure that our employees provide patient care with 
dignity and respect.

Diverse Workforce 

in recognition of the benefits of employing a diverse workforce in the delivery of a high quality of service to our patients, 
the Trust is preparing to publish its 3rd edition of the annual Workforce equality report demonstrating the diversity of its 
workforce and area for improvement.

The following provides and overview of our workforce for the period 1st april 2010 – 31st march 2011.  

Figure 1.  staff in post as at 31st march 2011 (headcount and Full Time equivalent)
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Figure 2. Composition of our Workforce by Gender as at 31st march 2011 (headcount & %)

 Workforce by Gender as at 31st March 2011 (headcount & %)

Female , 2052, 81%

Male, 467, 19%
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Figure 3. Composition of our Workforce as at 31st march 2011 (Headcount)
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Figure 4.  Composition of our Workforce by ethnic origin as at 31st march 2011 (%)
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White 84 95

mixed 1 1

asian/asian British 11 4

Black/Black British 2 0

Chinese 2 0

Figure 5. Composition of our Workforce by age as at 31st march 2011 (%)
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4. Sustainability 

Sustainability annual report

accounting for sustainability, that is, measuring, reporting and managing the social and environmental impacts of doing 
business, is now a strategic priority for foundation trusts. 

accounting for sustainability is essential, not only to meet changing regulatory priorities and the demands of local communities 
but also to understand and realise financial, reputational and public health gains.

Performance in 2010/2011
Partnership working and community engagement

The Trust continues to work with partners in the Tameside sustainable use of resources Group and has contributed to the 
low Carbon Tameside strategy presented to the Tameside strategic partnership. The strategy sets out the co-ordinated 
work that the Borough Council, Health organisations, Tameside College and social landlords will undertake to create a 
thriving community economy and environment in Tameside.

The energy partnership continues with Consort, the Trust’s pFi developer to share good practice in carbon management and 
to ensure that appropriate targets are set for managing the energy consumption in the new HiT building development. This 
partnership is looking to have a shared vision to meet the demands of the sustainability agenda.

Energy management
Schemes completed during 2010/11 include;

• Continued installation of smart metering to better understand our energy usage and to enable us to focus on wastage

• Improved insulation to reduce heat loss from steam, heating and hot water systems

• A full steam system audit and subsequent remedial works to reduce energy consumption and ensure compliance

• Investment in efficient lighting and lighting controls, which not only reduces energy consumption but provides a better   
 quality of light

• Improved controls to heating boilers that could reduce consumption by up to 20%

• Extension of the building energy management system, a facility that enables remote monitoring and control of energy   
 using  systems, which should ultimately provide better control of environmental conditions providing greater comfort for  
 patients and staff.

scheme proposals for 2011/12 will continue the above schemes and broaden the application of automating our energy 
systems to ensure efficient and effective use of resources.

investment will continue in reviewing the way we distribute energy around the site, with particular emphasis on the main 
steam boilers and, as well as improving the efficiency of the system, we hope to include renewable/sustainable energy 
technologies in the new scheme.

Carbon reduction targets

during 2010/11, in conjunction with the Carbon Trust, the Trust developed a 5 year Carbon management plan. This plan provides 
the Trust with a structured approach to be able to manage and monitor the schemes planned over this period to reduce both 
carbon emissions and energy consumption. The key points of the plan were received by the Trust Board in april 2011.

The NHS Carbon Management Programme 2010/2011

in conjunction with the Carbon Trust, Tameside Hospital completed its Carbon management plan during 2010/2011 and the 
Trust Board are expected to adopt this in april 2011.

The project management disciplines introduced by membership of the programme will ensure the Trust delivers its carbon 
management plans for the next 5 years.
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5. Quality at Tameside

Quality Report 
Part 1 Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive

The Board remains committed to achieving the highest possible standards of safety and quality, in line with its aspiration to 
be the hospital of choice for the people of Tameside and Glossop.  This is a core principle, key value and primary objective 
for the Trust, which drives its relationship with its staff, its patients, the community it serves and its partner organisations.

The Trust Board recognises the responsibility and the accountability it holds for the quality of services provided in the 
hospital.  The Quality report summarises the Trust’s quality performance during 2010/11. it is clear that the Trust has made 
significant progress in relation to some of its quality goals (e.g. the Trust made its largest ever reductions in both the Hospital 
standardised morality rate (Hsmr) and mrsa, bringing its performance well within target range in both cases, but in other 
areas further work is required to attain the required standard (e.g. although a 14% reduction in the number of C diff cases 
was seen, the Trust did not meet its target.  This will therefore remain an important priority for the Trust during 2011/12.

at the time of the previous Quality report, which related to 2009/10, the Trust was facing a number of challenges following 
the publication of the annual dr Foster Hospital Guide.  The Trust’s reported Hsmr at that time was the third worst in the 
country. The Hsmr also drove dr Foster’s patient safety assessment, so that the Trust was also given a low score for this.   
These factors gave rise to concerns being expressed about the quality of services offered at the hospital both currently and 
in the past.   a review of the Trust’s services by the Care Quality Commission was undertaken, as well as a review of the 
Trust’s governance arrangements jointly commissioned by monitor and the Trust. The Trust recognised the need to take 
tangible, effective and definitive action to eliminate the causes of the concerns expressed about the hospital and its services.  
This recognition was reflected in the Trust’s corporate objectives for 2010/11, with the number 1 corporate objective being 
to “improve patient safety and experience, reduce avoidable mortality and provide the best possible quality of care”.  Going 
forward, a concern for enhancing quality, patient safety, experience and outcomes continues to form the basis for the Trust’s 
first corporate objective.

during 2010/11, evidence of the effectiveness of the actions being taken by the Trust became apparent.  For example, 
investment in clinical staff which enhanced continuity of care evidenced by significantly reduced numbers of unplanned staff 
moves, improved staffing levels and a much diminished reliance on temporary staff.  an extensive mortality action plan was 
implemented, and as indicated below was successful in bringing about a major reduction in the hospital mortality (death) 
rate.  The Trust improved and expanded its programme of monitoring at clinical level, undertaking monthly audits on a range 
of clinical documentation. The patient safety strategy was revised. an action plan produced by the local involvement 
Network (liNk) to improve care at Tameside Hospital was implemented and the gains and improvements to which this has 
given rise will during 2011/12 be supported by the “CQuiN” (Contracting for Quality and innovation) mechanism, in which 
the Trust’s Commissioner builds agreed quality requirements into the service contract it holds with the Trust.

in November 2010, dr Foster produced its annual Hospital Guide.  For the first time, the Trust was not an outlier for 
mortality, with a reported Hsmr of 103.52 for 2009/10, which was within the expected range for the hospital.  The Trust also 
performed at or above the expected level for all but one of the dr Foster safety metrics. This latter issue was subsequently 
investigated and appears to have been due to documentation and coding, rather than a bona fide clinical problem and the 
required improvements in documentation are being implemented.

The Trust has continued to monitor its Hsmr closely throughout the year, and although the end of year position will not be 
available until after the publication of the Quality report,  it is likely that it will be at or below 100.  Clearly the Trust will do 
everything possible to maintain this important gain, and to ensure it is equipped to respond to the summary Hospital - level 
mortality indicator, the new national measure of hospital mortality due to be introduced by the department of Health during 
2011/12.

The Trust remains keen to ensure that it learns from key external reports, and during 2010/11 developed action plans 
and work streams in respect of the Francis report, and the two major ombudsman’s reports “six lives” and “Care and 
Compassion”, to ensure organisational learning takes place.  These programmes of work will extend into 2011/12.

The Trust benefitted greatly from its involvement in the advancing Quality alliance’s (aQua) mortality Collaborative, achieving 
the largest reduction in mortality of all the Trusts involved in the Collaborative, and later in the year became an aQua “safety 
express” organisation (in collaboration with NHs Tameside and Glossop and pennine Care Foundation Trust)  an important 
development which will help this and other participating Trusts to address more effectively four key “harms” – falls, venous 
thromboembolism (blood clots), urinary tract infection, and pressure ulcers.  it is hoped and expected that the Trust’s 
involvement in this initiative will provide the context for local improvements in these four areas in 2011/12 and beyond.
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in last year’s Quality report, the Trust noted that the journey towards quality improvement is a never ending one.  The Trust 
signalled an important change, namely the active involvement of patients and the public in the activities and affairs of their 
hospital. 

accordingly, we have seen the development and implementation of a stakeholder engagement strategy, underpinning 
greater public involvement in hospital committees and working groups, as well as the introduction of “patient stories” to 
Board meetings.  The Trust continued its programme of public meetings, doubling their frequency so that each public 
member of Council undertook two open meetings with their members, supported by senior Trust personnel. This provided 
valuable feedback, both positive and negative about the quality of services provided by the Trust and its plans for the future. 
as this Trust, like all others, faces a challenging future, the support and engagement of all Trust stakeholders will become 
more important than ever before.

another important dimension in improving quality is ensuring the provision of systems to provide accurate, timely data 
throughout the organisation. The Trust’s information systems are complex and extensive, and accordingly, the Trust 
tests its systems regularly, via both internal and external processes.  during 2010/11, reports carried out by the Trust’s 
auditors identified the capacity for improvement in two areas, clinical audit and a&e 4 hourly wait recording. in line with 
established practice, action plans have been put in place to ensure these improvements are made.  Further audit will 
take place in due course to provide an independent assurance that the required changes have been made effectively.  

overall, the Trust has, in the main, provided the range of services associated with a district General Hospital to an appropriate 
quality standard, having met most of the requirements and commitments which applied during 2010/11.  However, there 
were some exceptions to this position which the Trust will be addressing during 2011/12. The Trust was visited twice by the 
CQC during 2010/11, and further information about the outcome of these visits is contained in the main body of the annual 
report.

To the best of my knowledge, the information contained in this document is accurate.

Christine Green, 
Chief Executive
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Part 2 Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the board 

Priorities for improvement
The Trust’s performance against the quality improvement priorities during 2010/11 was as follows:-

Reduce the Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) to 100 post rebasing

The following figure shows the Trust’s performance since 2004/05, providing rebased values and trend line.  The term 
“rebased” refers to the fact that, during any given year, all healthcare organisations take actions to improve health.  These 
actions mean that the death rate falls each year. The method used to calculate Hsmr is statistically based, and has to take 
account of  these improvements in the figures it uses, so that comparisons over time, and between hospitals are valid.  The 
process for taking into account the statistical effects of a reducing national death rate is known as “rebasing”.

at the time of writing, the dr Foster real Time monitoring system contained complete data to the end of January, 2011.  This 
gave an in year Hsmr of 98, post rebasing (when the effects of rebasing for national improvements in mortality are taken 
into account).  The downward trend was therefore continued during 2010/11.  The dr Foster system predicts the Hsrm for 
each hospital, which should normally be in a range around the figure of 100.

Implementation of “Right Patient, Right Bed” to a level appropriate to the hospital 

The Trust aims to achieve 60% in cardiology, and 50% in respiratory, gastroenterology and stroke specialty beds, working 
to reduce to a minimum the use of escalation beds (beds provided to meet surges in patient demand, over and above the 
Trust’s established bed complement) and medical outlying (medical patients being cared for in beds not designated as 
medical), aiming for a rate of 2.5% or less. 
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The table below shows the overall and specialty specific rates of compliance with right patient, right bed for 2010/11:

Specialty Target Performance

Cardiology 60% 56.50%

Gastroenterology 50% 50.20%

respiratory 50% 39.60%

stroke 50% 75.40%

overall  54.20%

as can be seen, compliance was at or close to target in most specialties.  as the Trust plans to reduce its bed complement in 
2011/12 as part of the overall plan to reduce length of stay, the speciality targets set for “right patient, right Bed” will need 
to be reviewed.   The Trust achieved a 2.9% rate for medical outliers, slightly above the planned target of 2.5%.   escalation 
bed days were 12,670 in 2009/10 and 9575 in 2010/11, a 24.4% reduction.

Dignity in Care 

The Trust committed to undertaking a further phase of Trust – wide activity to ensure the improvements made in previous 
programmes of work were still extant, and to implement further initiatives to maintain and improve patient care.  Following 
a public event held in may, 2010, the Tameside liNk (local involvement Network) produced their report “improving Care at 
Tameside Hospital”, on 20 July, 2010.  The report, “improving Care at Tameside Hospital” gave rise to an action plan, which 
was endorsed by the Board.  The action plan was used to revisit many areas of the Trust’s dignity in Care campaign, and to 
introduce or endorse other important areas of activity and development, such as:-

• the introduction of a bespoke training module for newly appointed staff, addressing specifically the dignity in care needs  
 (e.g respect, privacy, information giving) of patients in hospital, 

• the introduction of an additional audit tool to enable ward managers to sample nursing records each month, to ensure   
 care needs are assessed, planned, implemented and evaluated for every patient; 

• a review of the patient handbook with input from the Trust’s User Reference Group and of the Trust’s existing “Patient   
 and relative involvement in Care” policy, which also incorporated contributions from the 

• Trust’s User Reference Group; and the provision of a communication skills programme for senior medical staff.  

a specific “oversight group” was established, with liNk membership, to ensure the effective implementation of the plan.  This 
group will extend its programme of work into other areas during 2011/12.

Implement a Revised Patient Safety Strategy

during 2010/11, the Trust’s patient safety strategy was revised by the medical director, Nursing director (joint clinical 
governance leads) and the Trust’s patient safety lead, Consultant in anaesthetics and intensive Care  dr ross Kitson.

The Trust made good progress against achieving the required level of performance against a range metrics contained within 
the strategy, with updates reported regularly to the Board. Given the Trust’s success in progressing the strategy, a further 
revision will be undertaken during 2011/12 and will align directly with, and form part of the Quality account reporting for 
that year.

it is proposed that the metrics for the revised strategy be based on the dr Foster patient safety indicator suite.  Further 
details are provided elsewhere in this report.
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HCAI – Performance at Target Rate or Better for MRSA and C Diff

The Trust’s performance was mixed in relation to this priority.  on a positive note, there were only 3 cases of hospital 
associated mrsa bacteraemia in the Trust during the year, against a target of 4, representing a 75% improvement on the 
previous year’s performance of 12 cases.  The Trust therefore achieved the major reduction in cases required to better the 
target it had been set.  However, performance against the Trust’s C diff target of 90 cases was exceeded by 24 cases, with 
an annual total of 114. although this represents a 14% reduction on the previous year’s total of 132 cases, improving the 
Trust’s performance in relation to C diff will be a key priority during 2011/12.

The following figures show the Trust’s mrsa performance from 2006/07 to the present, and C diff performance from 
2007/08, as data were not collected in their current format before this point.

as the next section demonstrates, both C diff and mrsa will form part of the Trust’s Quality improvement  priorities.  For  
C diff, the priority will be to achieve or better the C diff target for the year, creating the conditions for further reductions 
in subsequent years; whilst for mrsa, the objective will be to maintain or improve on the Trust’s performance in relation 
to mrsa bacteraemia;.  Two new priorities relating to healthcare associated infection will be introduced during 2011/12, 
reflecting the national inclusion of two new measures – mssa and e Coli bacteraemia.
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Priorities for Quality Improvement, 2011/12
Rationale for selection

it is clear from the feedback which the Trust receives from a number of sources (e.g. public meetings, press and media, 
complaints) that mortality rates and infection control are two of the major areas of concern for those using the hospital.  
although significant improvements have been made in both areas, it is recognised that there is a need to consolidate these 
gains, as well as ensuring that the required improvements are made in relation to C diff, and that the Trust positions itself to 
meet the new performance targets – as yet unspecified – that are anticipated in relation to mssa and e Coli bacteraemia. 

The Trust Board has agreed its Corporate objectives for 2011/12, and the first of these is to “provide the best possible 
quality of care to achieve improvements in patient safety, experience and outcomes.”  accordingly, and as indicated above, 
2011/12 will see the introduction of a further revised patient safety strategy.  as indicated above, this will be based on the 
dr Foster patient safety indicator suite.  The new dr Foster patient safety indicators were developed by the agency for 
Healthcare research Quality (aHrQ) in the united states and adapted by the dr Foster unit at imperial College london, to 
enable Trusts to monitor and identify potential instances of patient harm around the following indicators:-

Patient Safety Indicators:-

decubitus ulcers; deaths after surgery; infections associated with central line; post-operative hip fracture; post-operative 
haemorrhage or haematoma; post-operative physiologic and metabolic derangements; post-operative respiratory failure; 
post-operative pulmonary embolism or deep vein thrombosis; post-operative sepsis; post-operative wound dehiscence; 
accidental puncture or laceration; obstetric tear (3 indicators)

 
Key performance indicators for stroke and orthopaedics:-

Stroke - Hospital acquired pneumonia due to swallowing problems; No return to normal place of residence within 56 days; 
readmission within 28 days and mortality 

Orthopaedics - Fractured neck of femur – no operation within 2 days; Fractured neck of femur – mortality; Hip – readmissions 
(28 days); Hip – revision within 1 year; Knee – readmissions (28 days); Knee – revision within 1 year.

as noted above, the Trust has agreed a “CQuiN” for dignity in Care, a formal mechanism to ensure the improvements made 
in relation to dignity in care are maintained.  accordingly, dignity in Care will now be a performance indicator for patient 
experience.

Priority How progress to achieve the priorities will be monitored, 
measured and reported.

To maintain or improve on the Trust’s performance i. 
in relation to mrsa bacteraemia;

real time reporting of cases to director of infection prevention 
and Control (dipC)

Weekly reporting to Chief executive, medical director

monthly reporting to Board and Trust executive Group

(mandatory enhanced surveillance system) mess data 
reporting according to approved data standards

management by HCai (Health Care associated infection) 
executive Group, infection prevention and Control Committee 
(internal); district infection prevention and Control Committee 
(includes representatives from the Foundation Trust, primary 
Care Trust, and THe Health protection agency – representation 
will continue from these organisations in their new guises)
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Priority How progress to achieve the priorities will be monitored, 
measured and reported.

To achieve or better the C diff target for the year, ii. 
creating the conditions for further reductions in 
subsequent years;

daily reporting to dipC, Chief executive, medical director

Weekly reporting to Chief executive, medical director

monthly reporting to Board and Trust executive Group

mess data reporting according to approved data standards

management by HCai executive Group, infection prevention 
and Control Committee (internal); district infection prevention 
and Control Committee (includes representatives from the 
FT, pCT, and Health protection agency – representation will 
continue from these organisations in their new guises)

To comply with the requirement to monitor mssa iii. 
and e Coli bacteraemia, and to meet any agreed 
trajectory proposed in year;

daily reporting to dipC, Chief executive, medical director

Weekly reporting to Chief executive, medical director
monthly reporting to Board and Trust executive Group

mess data reporting according to approved data standards

management by HCai executive Group, infection prevention 
and Control Committee (internal); district infection prevention 
and Control Committee (includes representatives from the 
FT, pCT, and Health protection agency – representation will 
continue from these organisations in their new guises)

To maintain the Hsmr at or below 100 (dr iv. 
Foster methodology), or to achieve an sHmi 
ratio which is not statistically significant during 
the year, (assuming the method is implemented). 
(sHmi stands for “summary Hospital-level 
mortality indicator”. The indicator is scheudled 
for introduction to the NHs during 2011/12 to be 
used by hospitals to help them better understand 
trends associated with patient deaths. as the 
time of writing no specific implementation date 
has been identified).

ongoing monitoring via dr Foster real Time monitoring system 
by medical and Nursing directors.

monthly reporting to Trust executive Group of mortality 
data and progress against mortality action plan and regular 
reporting to Board.

Bi monthly reporting to Clinical audit, effectiveness and patient 
safety Committee with inputs and bespoke reporting from 
Trust’s dr Foster relationship manager.

To implement an improved patient safety v. 
strategy.

ongoing monitoring via dr Foster real Time monitoring system 
by medical and Nursing directors.

Quarterly reporting to Trust executive Group of progress 
against strategy, and bi annual reporting to Trust Board.

Bi monthly reporting to Clinical audit, effectiveness and patient 
safety Committee with inputs and bespoke reporting from 
Trust’s dr Foster relationship manager.
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It is also appreciated that, under current regulations, the Quality Report is also required to contain an overview 
of the quality of care offered by the NHS Foundation Trust.  The indicator set selected must include:

• at least 3 indicators for patient safety;

• at least 3 indicators for clinical effectiveness; and

• at least 3 indicators for patient experience.

Taking all of the foregoing together, it is proposed that the structure of the Quality Account metrics for 2011/12 
should be as follows:-

• Priorities for Improvement

 mrsa

 C diff

 mssa/e Coli

 mortality

 patient safety 

• Indicators for patient safety

 as indicated above, these will be selected dr Foster patient safety indicators suite (a selection of indicators will be   
 reported on) and the indicators chosen will be subject to further discussion with the Board, Council of members and   
 colleague organisations.

• Indicators for clinical effectiveness

 dr Foster key performance indicators for stroke and orthopaedics (a selection of indicators will be reported on)

• Indicators for patient experience

 Continued implementation of falls improvement plan

 Continued implementation of the liverpool Care pathway in the context of its programme of work on end of life Care

 performance against pCT’s dignity in Care CQuiNs targets

To facilitate and harmonise data collection and reporting processes, the indicators, once agreed, will underpin a single   
patient safety and Quality strategy. 
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Statements of Assurance from the Board

during 2010/11 the Trust provided 42 contracted NHs services.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in 42 of these 
NHs services.  The income generated by the NHs services reviewed in 2010/11 represents 100 per cent of the total income 
generated from the provision of NHs services by the Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for 2010/11.

as indicated elsewhere in this report, the Trust has used a number of quality measures, covering the three dimensions of 
quality – patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience to monitor and improve the quality of services provided.

The Trust has in place extensive risk and incident structures.  a Board assurance framework, based on Corporate objectives 
is in place.  The Board’s annual reporting cycle ensures that appropriate performance, quality and safety data are presented, 
via regular items, or in the form of specific reports. The Board’s key committees, in particular the risk management and 
Corporate Governance Committee and the Quality and Clinical Governance Committee and associated reporting structures 
receive regular reports and trend data by which services are reviewed.  Biannual performance meetings enable Trust executives 
to monitor the effectiveness of each of the divisions which are responsible for providing the Trust’s clinical services.

Information on participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries

1. during 2010/11 40 national clinical audits and 2 national confidential enquiries covered NHs services that Tameside   
 Hospital NHs Foundation Trust provides. 

2. during 2010/11 THFT participated in 27 (68%) national clinical audits, of the national clinical audits and 2 National   
 Confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.  However, 1 audit was delayed from the 2010/11 cycle (see  
 Table 1 below), and 3 audits are still ongoing.  Thus if these 4 are removed from the 40, the Trust’s participation rate 
 is 75%

3. Table 1 shows 
 a. the national clinical audits that THFT was eligible to participate in
 b. the national clinical audits that THFT did and did not participate in
 c. the number of cases submitted to each audit as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms  
  of that audit

The National Confidential enquiries in which the Trust participated were:

- a mixed Bag
- an old age problem
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Table 1 participation in eligible audits, with % submissions, 2010/11

audit Title
2010/11 Trust 
participation

Number 
submitted

% submitted comments

adult Community acquired 
pneumonia (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 45 100%

pleural procedures (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 15 100%

adult asthma (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 12 100%

acute myocardial infarction & other 
aCs (miNap)

Y 459 100%

Heart Failure (Heart Failure audit) Y 220 100%

acute stroke (siNap) Y 642  100%

stroke Care (National sentinel 
stroke audit)

Y 50 83%

lung Cancer (National lung 
Cancer audit)

Y 121  0% Technical problem with 
submission, all Trusts 
instructed not to submit data 
until new version implemented 
31/5/11.  Terms of audit are 
lung cancer patients first 
seen between 01/01/2010 
and 31/12/2010             

National audit of dementia Y 40 100%

o Neg Blood use (National 
Comparative audit of Blood 
Transfusion)

Y 40 100%

National Falls and Bone Health 
audit

Y 47 78%

Vital signs in majors (College of 
emergency medicine)

Y 50 100%

renal Colic (College of emergency 
medicine)

Y 50 10%

severe Trauma (Trauma audit & 
research Network

Y 158 100%

Head & Neck Cancer (daHNo) Y 23  100% Terms of audit = Head 
and neck cancer patients 
diagnosed between 
01/11/2009 and 31/10/2010      

peripheral Vascular surgery (VsGBi 
Vascular surgery database)

Y 7 30% audit period oct09-sep10.  

Carotid interventions (Carotid 
intervention audit)

Y 27 73% audit period oct09-sep10.  
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Bowel Cancer (National Bowel 
Cancer audit programme)

Y 126  100% Terms of audit = Bowel cancer 
patients diagnosed between 
01/08/2009 and 31/07/2010              

adult Critical care (Case mix 
programme)

Y 306 100%

potential donor audit (NHs Blood 
& Transplant)

Y 257  100%

perinatal mortality (CemaCH) Y 1 100%

paediatric pneumonia (British 
Thoracic society)

Y 29 100%

paediatric asthma (British Thoracic 
society)

Y 9 100%

Hip, Knee and ankle replacements 
(National Joint registry)

Y 259  80%

Hip Fracture (National Hip Fracture 
database)

Y 109 43%

elective surgery (National proms 
programme)

Y 263 31%

paediatric Fever (College of 
emergency medicine)

Y 25 50%

parkinson’s disease (National 
parkinson’s audit)

N

Copd (British Thoracic society/
european audit)

N  

Bronchiectasis (British Thoracic 
society)

N  

diabetes (National adult diabetes 
audit)

N  Trust has participated in 
National diabetes ip survey

platelet use (National Comparative 
audit of Blood Transfusion)

N  No platelets were given during 
audit period – Trust registered 
for this audit and would have 
submitted data if appropriate 
cases had been admitted

emergency use of oxygen (British 
Thoracic society)

N  2010 data collected but 
submitted outside deadline, 
therefore shown
as non participation

Non invasive Ventilation (NiV) – 
adults (British Thoracic society)

N  

Cardiac arrest (National Cardiac 
arrest audit- supported by 
iCNarC and the resuscitation 
Council)

N  Trust performs similar audit 
internally.  move to national 
audit under consideration

Childhood epilepsy (rCpH National 
Childhood epilepsy audit)

n/a rescheduled from 2010/11 
cycle  - early adopters Jan 11, 
remainder from may 11

National diabetes audit 
(paediatrics)

N data has been collected since 
January 2011, problems in 
inputting have prevented 
submission

in addition, the Trust is participating in 3 national audits in which data collection is still continuing, beyond the end of the financial year.
Chronic pain (National pain audit)
ulcerative Colitis & Crohn’s disease (National iBd audit) Heavy menstrual Bleeding (rCoG National audit of HmB)
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4. The reports of 15 national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2010/11 and THFT has taken or intends to take   
 the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided – Table 2

Table 2 National audit reports reviewed in 2010/11

audit Title
actions undertaken or planned to improve the quality of health care, 
arising out of the audit results

adult Community acquired pneumonia (British 
Thoracic society)

The 2009/10 audit results were reviewed by the Trust, along with 
the monthly data from the advancing Quality initiative.  The Trust 
has issued revised guidance regarding delay between hospital 
admission to first dose of antibiotics, and has developed a Care 
Bundle as part of its patient safety strategy and compliance with the 
Care Bundle is also being regularly audited.  The care bundles are 
designed to ensure compliance with locally designed Cap guidance, 
which prompts timely investigations for diagnosis, interventions  and 
antibiotic treatment within a period of four hours from admission 
(meets recommendation number 1, 2 & 4). The bundle design guides 
clinicians to severity  classification enabling correct use of combination 
antibiotics.  The Trust antibiotic guidelines stipulate severity scoring 
for recommended antibiotic type, dose and method of delivery 
(recommendation number 3 & 5).

adult asthma (British Thoracic society) pathway for asthma patients reviewed and enhanced1. 
repeat attenders to a&e for asthma are now invited to attend 2. 
the nurse led clinic for review

acute myocardial infarction & other aCs 
(miNap)

To continue to develop and implement an integrated care 1. 
pathway for chest pain incorporating NiCe guidance

Heart Failure (Heart Failure audit) To continue to monitor compliance to the heart failure 1. 
care pathway via the monthly reports produced from the 
advancing Quality project, and take action as necessary
To continue to submit information to the National Heart Failure 2. 
audit for all patients discharged with a primary diagnosis of 
heart failure

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   48 27/6/11   12:59:51



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

49

National Audit of Dementia To utilise the audit results in the development of the Trust’s 1. 
Dementia Strategy
To develop an explicit pathway for the management and care 2. 
of people with dementia, incorporating

Care interventions- 
Treatment choices and the reduction of anti-psychotic - 
medication
orientating environmental factors - 
nutritional requirements- 
end of life care- 
individualised plans of care, introduction of ‘About Me’ - 
documentation pack

delivery of a formative training programme for staff in the 3. 
introduction of diagnosis/ categorisation, assessment, care 
and clinical/nursing interventions
development of a centre of excellence in dementia care, 4. 
incorporating two designated wards highlighted as specialist 
areas for dementia excellence.  Process to be implanted in 
relation to the fast track referrals to the wards of excellence 
from the MAU
explore data collection and audit requirements, to collect and 5. 
collate baseline data regarding the current level of compliance 
to the dementia strategy
establish links/interface with Mental Health team regarding 6. 
expert opinions and clinical opinion
identify lead medical clinician and establish links with Pennine 7. 
Care
establish clearly defined methods and tools in relation to 8. 
comprehensive capacity assessments
explore and establish improvements in best interest issues9. 

O Neg Blood Use (National Comparative Audit 
of Blood Transfusion)

regularly review use of O RhD negative red cells for emergencies 1. 
and investigate incidents where its use is considered 
inappropriate.
 regularly review practice to ensure that occasional practice of 2. 
patients being unnecessarily transfused with more than 3 units of 
O RhD negative red cells is kept to a minimum
provide group specific red cells rapidly to avoid unnecessary use 3. 
of emergency group O RhD negative red cells.
For Group O RhD positive recipients all efforts must be made to 4. 
identify phenotypically matched group specific blood.

Severe Trauma (Trauma Audit & Research 
Network

Problems in identifying resources for data collection for this ongoing 
audit have now been resolved. 

Peripheral Vascular Surgery (VSGBI Vascular 
Surgery Database)

Regular reports on coverage compared to HES data are reviewed by 
the Coding department and the consultants.

Cartoid Interventions (Cartoid Intervention 
Audit)

Regular reports on coverage compared to HES data are reviewed by 
the Coding department and the consultants.
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Perinatal Mortality (CEMACH) Report was only received in March 2011, so has been only informally 
reviewed to date, formal review will take place and a report made to 
the Trust’s Clinical Governance Accountability Committee.

Paediatric Pneumonia (British Thoracic 
Society)

The Trust reviewed the summary results of the 2009/10 audit which 
indicated that, nationally, there were some areas where there could 
be improvements of benefit to children and the cost of providing 
care.  The Trust therefore decided to participate in the national audit 
in 2010/11, the data entry for which has only just ended.  The Trust is 
awaiting the detailed results which will be examined carefully and an 
action plan developed where appropriate

Paediatric Asthma (British Thoracic Society) Report reviewed, but very low numbers make it very difficult to 
recommend improvements in the quality of health care

Hip, Knee and Ankle Replacements (National 
Joint Registry)

Problems in identifying resources for data collection for this ongoing 
audit have now been resolved.  Registry serves as mechanism for 
recall of patients when necessary 

Hip Fracture (National Hip Fracture Database) As a result of this ongoing audit, the Trust has 
increased the ortho-geriatric ward rounds to ensure that 1. 
patients are regularly reviewed
allocated slots on trauma lists for fractured neck of femur 2. 
cases where clinically appropriate
finalised an integrated care pathway, which is shortly to be 3. 
implemented on the wards
improved documentation4. 

Elective Surgery (National PROMs 
Programme)

Monthly submission via the Advancing Quality project, the routine 
collection of PROMS data allows the Trust to benchmark its 
performance against other Trusts.  PROMs is a tool the Trust utilises 
to ensure that services are delivered to the highest quality.
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5. The reports of 98 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider (The Trust) in 2010/11 and Tameside Hospital    
 intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided – table 3. due to the quantity of   
 audits, the actions from all of them have not been listed here, and a sample has been taken. 

Name of audit recommended action

Neonatal Hepatitis 
B immunisation - 
paediatrics

screen all pregnant women during each pregnancy for HBsag  - repeat during •	
pregnancy if woman practices high risk behaviors
ensure that all infants born to HBsag-positive mothers receive timely and appropriate •	
immunoprophylaxis with HBiG and  
hepatitis B vaccine
re-audit•	

dNar – Training & 
development

Contact information governance department to explore the possibility of issuing •	
dNar decisions with a specific clinical code.
study group will be identified and audit data retrieved using the established audit tool•	
dNar report to be circulated to resuscitation and Clinical Governance and •	
accountability Committee’s members.
Both documents need formatting so that they can be uploaded onto the Trust intra •	
net. all Consultants to be supplied with an individual copy.
The audit form is a carbonated document that should be split into two. one part to •	
be retained in the patients notes the other returned to either the audit or resuscitation 
dept. This is done not when the decision is made but when the dNar decision is 
rescinded or the patient dies. Therefore all clinical nurse managers to be contacted 
to encourage the return of audit forms rather than both copies ending up being left in 
the patients notes.

support for parents 
NiCu - paediatrics RECOMMENDATION ACTION ALREADY IN 

PLACE
ACTION ADVISED

FirsT disCussioN WiTHiN 
24 Hours

updaTed admissioN 
sHeeT prompTs THis

WHiTe 
sHeeT:disCussioN 

piNK:updaTes 

YelloW:pareNT 
CoNCerNs

NursiNG doCumeNTaTioN FooT NoTe iN 
NursiNG NoTes To 
priNT Name

supporT For pareNTs Bliss HaNdouT loCal 
iNFormaTioN To 
pareNTs

CommuNiCaTioN Needs NoTe iN piNK sHeeT 
aBouT laNGuaGe 
Needs
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PARS – Outreach Team Continue to promote the use of the green charts where appropriate.                   •	
PARS resource file on all wards and departments.•	
Staff asked to report faulty equipment and get replacements.•	
Practice Educational Facilitators advised of the new standards and PARS resource •	
file and they have advertised it at the university and also sent out letters to refer the 
students to the ward resource file
Bank staff to be made aware of file. •	
Education and attendance at either AIM or BOSS•	

Abdominal Pain - 
Paediatrics

Discussion re: pathway of abdominal pain•	
Develop guidelines for diagnosis •	

Manual Handling 
(Patient) – Training & 
Development

Review existing patient manual handling assessment form and change as •	
necessary
Incorporate situation patient assessment into induction and update training•	
Review design of proforma for subsequent audits•	
Snap shot assessment check on wards•	
Patient risk assessment audit to take place every 2 years•	

Consent (Adult & Child) 
– Risk Management

Disseminate audit results to each division for discussion through the DMT•	
Review training presentation and develop a training schedule for 2010 / 2011. •	
Ensure that the training incorporates the areas of low compliance identified in the 
audit, specifically the importance of legible printed names.
Maintain current systems:-•	

Ensure relevant HCP’s undertake on-line consent training•	
Monitor the return of consent competency forms•	
Provide monthly consent reports to lead consultants•	
Disseminate compliance reports through the Risk Management DMT report•	

Plan to undertake repeat audit in 2011•	

Blood Transfusion - 
Pathology

Audit report and findings discussed at Hospital Transfusion Committee •	
Documentation of minimum transfusion dataset•	
Patient Identification on IV charts•	
Documentation of 15 mins observations in continuously monitored patients•	
Transfusion specific documentation in notes•	
Training and Education•	
Pre – Transfusion Process•	
Re – audit•	
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Discharge of Patients - 
Trustwide

Ensure consistent practice across the Divisions.  •	
Ensure all patients have a clear, concise and accurate discharge plan•	
Ensure the documentation is fully complete and legible•	
Ensure all staff are aware of their responsibilities, both statutory and contractually •	
in ensuring best, effective and safe practice in the assessment and planning of 
future discharges.
Re-affirmation with all Ward Managers and their respective Teams will ensue – •	
ensuring that ALL discharging nursing staff are aware of their obligation in line 
with NHSLA requirements to provide and document  advice / information and 
explanation given regarding take home medications to the discharged patient.
It is the intention to support and facilitate the continuation of the very effective daily •	
meetings in line with key objectives around reducing length of stay.   
the Nurse Led Discharge Protocol will be re-visited with all Ward Managers and •	
their respective teams in order to facilitate greater use in applicable circumstances.
Community services at all times should be notified of the patient’s admission within •	
24 hrs.  All Ward Managers and their respective teams will be re-apprised of this 
necessity to adhere to best practice.
There is an opportunity to improve efficiency in the completion of the Trusts •	
discharge summary – Actions to follow :

All Clinicians will be re-apprised of this necessity to adhere to best o 
practice in ensuring Compliance of completion of a discharge summary in 
the first 3/7 of inpatient stay.
All Ward Managers and their respective teams will be re-apprised of this o 
necessity to adhere to best practice in ensuring Dignity in care at the point 
of discharge is adhered to fully. 

split and clarify Complex and Simple discharges– in line with the proposals further •	
working group discussions will ensue – in order to address the need to amend the 
currently utilized Discharge  documentation.
Continuation to be ensured in relation to the previous introduction of the electronic •	
formal length of stay patient tracking list, ensuring it serves as a robust approach in 
reducing delays in transfers of care.
Re-introduce Trust guidelines on setting up and running an MDT.•	
Monitor all MDT meetings within the clinical areas across the Trust.•	
Clarify roles and responsibilities of members of the MDT•	
Assess impact of MDT meetings.•	
Clinical discharge Facilitators to monitor system in relation to diagnostic waits and •	
medically fit patients.
Interface group with Trust Health and Social care Organizations to continue.•	
Ensure that Health and Social care work together for the entire patient journey •	
ensuring that services are easily accessible.
Further Informal and Formal Auditing will ensue – ensuring conformity in practice •	
across the Divisions.
All Ward Managers and their respective Teams will be re-apprised of the necessity •	
to ensure safe and accurate information is given at the point of discharging.  
Review leaving hospital fact sheets ensuring adequate signposting is provided.•	

Management of Obese 
Women in Pregnancy – 
Obs & Gynae

Present audit report and action plan to next O&G Clinical Governance Group for •	
review and discussion
Summary of audit results to be disseminated to staff in monthly communications •	
envelope
BH to present at dept teaching on new standards•	
Change of ANC clinic template•	
Guideline to be developed•	

Audit into Fractured 
Neck of Femur - 
Anaesthetics

Address organisational issues•	
Improved communication with the anaesthetic team•	
Action plan need to be discussed at the Audit committee and Trauma committee •	
meetings.
Re-audit in 6 months time•	
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Documentation of 
regional blocks in 
maternity - Anaesthetics

To devise new Obstetric anaesthetic charts with space incorporated for fetal heart •	
rate in 3-6 months time: incorporating outcome and time of regional block,
time of skin incision, uterine incision and delivery.•	
Ethyl chloride bottles to replace sprays: liaise with supplies•	
Testing of level of block to touch and documentation: All maternity anaesthetists.•	

Atrial Fibrillation – 
Emergency Department

Re-Audit•	
Implementation of recommendations•	
Mr. Y. Sharma to: •	
1:  Produce pathway
2:  Introduce CHAD2 scoring system, to be reviewed after 3 months. 
Position statement:  Emergency Department to follow NICE guidelines•	

Ascitic Drains – Adult 
Medicine

Education of healthcare professionals involved in drain management•	
Audit meetingo 
Emailo 
Intranet guidelineso 

Development of useable proforma and implementation on appropriate wards•	
Gastro Ward 30o 
MAUo 

Maternal Transfer – Obs 
& Gynae

Disseminate in monthly communication envelope•	
Results to be discussed at O&G Clinical governance group•	
Documentation needs to be  standardized•	
Revise guideline and audit proforma•	
Discuss at labour ward forum and guidelines group•	

DVT prophylaxis in Joint 
Replacement Surgery – 
Trauma & Orthopaedics

Extend use of mechanical prophylaxis to all patients•	

Fetal Abnormalities – 
Obs & Gynae

Disseminate summary in monthly communications envelope•	
Present audit report and action plan to O&G CGG•	
Disseminate audit results to new junior doctors•	
Checklist content to be discussed with fetal medicine Consultants and Screening •	
midwife
Screening midwife to discuss options with scan department•	

Falls ICP The Risk Team to establish and implement a ward audit proforma to ensure •	
compliance with Policy
The Team’s representative to report the implementation of the proforma to the Falls •	
Patient Safety and Audit Subgroup 
The Falls Patient Safety and Audit Subgroup to receive information from the •	
Productive Ward Facilitator showing the monitoring of  the implementation of this 
initiative 
Internal steps within the Risk Management Department to be taken to ensure •	
closure of the quality loop
Clinical Development and Training & Development subgroup will formulate an •	
action plan for implementation which ensures staff are fully conversant with their 
role in completing (and documenting) the initial falls assessments in accordance 
with the Policy
Divisional nurse managers and Matrons will cascade to Ward Managers and •	
nurses the need to re-assess patients by using the Canard tool
Regular spot record checks on all Wards need to be considered as a method •	
of improving assessment processes and documentation.  All divisional 
nurse managers, matrons and ward managers should be encouraged in the 
reinforcement of the ICP pathway documentation standards
Clinical re-design and training subgroup need to be charged with the responsibility •	
of creating a new (mandatory) multi-disciplinary training and awareness 
programme for staff.
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Paediatric Early Warning 
System

Full compliance with use of PEWS system and scoring with every set of •	
observations
Improved documentation and action in response to total scoring•	
Education and increased awareness of PEWS system amongst nursing staff and •	
medical staff
Complete set of baseline observations needs to be done•	
Continue to consider setting of alternative parameters if appropriate- being done •	
for patients with PEWS>4

Paediatric discharge 
audit

To revise discharge check list.•	
Separate sheet for documentation of communication with parents.•	
Staff training to increase awareness of discharge policy.•	

NICE Guidance Diabetic 
Ketoacidosis

DKA teaching is included in induction•	
DKA induction teaching includes BSPED guidance•	
BSPED guidance readily available for use•	

Reducing risk of 
hyponatraemia

Ensure all medical and nursing staff aware of NPSA guidance•	
If a child is receiving deficit correction or has any of the listed diagnosis in the •	
guidelines they should receive only isotonic solutions
Make 0.9% saline with 5% dextrose readily available•	
When on IV fluids > 24 hrs consider weighing patients daily. •	
Record enteral fluid intake, ongoing losses and urine output accurately if abnormal •	
electrolyte values or reduced urine output.
Record U&Es according to recommendations •	
Written guidelines for use of i/v fluids in children•	
Report an adverse incident if hyponatraemia develops•	

Antibiotic prescribing 
children’s unit

Review of Guidelines •	
Review of drug charts: mandatory allergy box, route and duration boxes •	
Review of documentation •	

Orthopaedic 
documentation audit

The directorate should ensure that all the casenotes / admission notes have a set •	
of computer generated self-adhesive patient addressographs are readily available 
for the health care professional is still required.
Doctor’s stamp, with name and GMC number and designation is still required. •	
Preparation of Junior  Doctor’s induction pack with details of good documentation•	
Organise a training workshop for junior doctors in proper documentation•	
Prepare laminated hand out with all criteria of good documentation and display •	
them on the wards to educate the health care professionals
Prepare a laminated pocket hand out with all criteria of good documentation for •	
distribution amongst junior doctors
Re-audit on randomly selected casenotes by Orthopaedic department on an adhoc •	
basis after providing advice and guidance to junior doctors.
Repeat the audit after implementing the action plan and reassess the adequacy of •	
documentation. 

Auscultation (Obstetrics) Midwives in all clinical settings including community should standardise the •	
documentation of auscultation as recommended in national guidance.
Feedback of audit findings to midwives in all clinical settings •	
Consider redesign of documentation or move to national maternity notes.•	

Diarrhoea and Vomiting 
in children under 5 years 
old (A&E)

New hospital guidelines already in the pipe line.	
Quick reference guides to assessment of dehydration.	
Use of flow charts in clinical areas to easily identify most appropriate management. 	
Education as a department.	
CCNT and Paediatric input.	
Investment in improving clinical skills;	

IV cannulation 	
NG tube	

Re-audit•	
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Surgical management of 
otitis media with effusion 
(NICE guideline)

Keep up documentation of three months of observation period and advise given on 	
educational and behavioural studies during this timeframe. 
Implement Recommended Change Criteria Template. 	

Lipid modification Continued education of health professionals through audit meetings and trust 	
intranet guidelines
Use of a sticker for cardiac rehabilitation nurse to place in the notes following offer 	
of patient information leaflets

Foetal abnormalities Disseminate summary in monthly communications envelope	
Present audit report and action plan to O&G Clinical Governance Group	
Disseminate audit results to new junior doctors	
Checklist content to be discussed with fetal medicine Consultants and Screening 	
midwife
Screening midwife to discuss options with scan department	

Information on participation in clinical research

The number of patients receiving NHs services provided or sub-contracted by Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust that 
were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 544.

Information on the use of the CQUIN framework

a proportion of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s income in 2010/11 was conditional upon achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals agreed between Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust and any person or body they 
entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHs services, through the Commissioning for 
Quality and innovation payment framework. Further details of the agreed goals for 2010/11 and for the following 12 month 
period are available online at: http://www.tamesidehospital.nhs.uk/Pages/cquin.asp

The amount of income in 2010/11 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals was £2126k and 
the monetary total for the associated payment in 2010/11 at 64.75% was £1,377k 

Information relating to registration with the Care Quality Commission and 
periodic/special reviews

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration 
status is full registration. Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has no conditions on registration. 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust during 
2010/11. 

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the Care Quality 
Commission during the reporting period.

it was subject to a responsive review in June 2010, and a planned review in march 2011.  actions have been put in place to 
address issues arising, , including a review of the Trust’s processes for managing falls, a review of the documentation used to 
assess clinical risks, and the allocation of resources to provide specialist nursing support in relation to nutrition and to falls,
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Information on the quality of data

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust submitted records during 2010/11 to the secondary uses service for inclusion in 
the Hospital episode statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in the published 
data:- 

which included the patient’s valid NHs Number was 99.9% for admitted patient care; 99.9% for outpatient care; and 98.7% 
for accident and emergency care.

which included the patient’s valid General practitioner registration Code was 100% for admitted patient care; 100% for 
outpatient care; and 100% for accident and emergency care.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s information Governance assessment report overall score for 2010/11 was 64% 
and was graded red.However, the Trust did attain monitor’s requiremen, which was to meet level 2 (out of 4) in the 22 key 
requirements which form the assessment.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust will be taking the following actions to improve data quality:-

implement the new data Quality policy as reviewed in march 2011 – this indicates all of the data quality checks which the 
Trust has to carry out and their frequency.

management information accuracy Group (miaG) formed and meets bi monthly to consider and address all data quality 
issues.  The Group is working to an extensive rolling work plan which looks at current data quality issues and the actions 
that need to be taken to resolve them.  data Quality Kpis are monitored at this group.   They are also reported to information 
Governance Committee.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust was not subject to the payment by results clinical coding audit during the reporting 
period by the audit Commission.
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Part 3. Other information

The content of this Quality account was discussed by the Board and with the Council of members, who represent the 
interests of the public.  The draft Quality report for 2009/10 was shared with Tameside liNk, NHs Tameside and Glossop 
and the Tameside overview and scrutiny Committee.  These comments, taken together, provided valuable pointers to inform 
the content of the current report and the factors underpinning it.  

The following table identifies progress against 3 key indicators for patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient 
experience.

Indicator Performance and data source

PATIENT SAFETY

No more than 25 hospital 1. 
associated severe pressure sores 
per quarter (grades 3 and 4)

There were a total of 89 hospital associated severe pressure sores (grades 
3 and 4) during 2010/11, giving an average of just over 22 per quarter.  
However, some variation between quarters was seen:

      Quarter                   No of sores
          1                              26
          2                              13
          3                              15
          4                              35

(data source – ward monitoring system based on national pressure ulcer 
definitions)

This compares with 86 hospital associated cases last year a difference which 
is unlikely to be statistically significant.  data capture is governed by best 
practice guidance but this indicator was also subject to external assurance 
for this iteration of the report.

The Trust saw a high level of very dependent patients during the final quarter 
of the year, which is thought to account fo the rise in sores occurring 
during the period.  The Trust’s specialist Nurse in Tissue Viability continues 
to monitor closely the incidence of pressure sores and work closely with 
clinical colleagues in relation to assessment, prevention, treatment, and staff 
education. 

reliable benchmark data is not available due to between Trust variations 
in recording practices.  Further data are presented below, highlighting data 
from prevalence studies carried out over the past four years in collaboration 
with one the Trust’s clinical equipment suppliers.  as can be seen, in spite of 
increased numbers of patients at elevated risk the proportion of patients with 
hospital acquired ulcers actually deceases.  The proportion of patients with 
severe ulcers has increased and it is important to bear in mind that many  
patiebtes are admitted with established ulcers.

 
2007 2008 2010

Number patients audited 380 304 369

Number at elevated risk 203 154 207

prevalence 13.95% 9.21% 8.40%

patients with acquired ulcers 5.26% 4.28% 3.25%

patients with severe ulcers (G3&4) 13% 25% 27%
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98% compliance with WHO Surgical 2. 
Site Checklist demonstrated at audit

During 2010/11, 3 audits took place covering the experiences of almost 
500 patients.  Each audit demonstrated 100% compliance.  There is no 
previous data for comparison.

Data collection is based on IHI principles.  The Trust will continue to 
monitor performance against this standard during 2011/12.

(Data source – internal clinical audit) 

implement system to monitor patient 3. 
movements and investigate all 
apparently non -clinical reasons.

The system for collecting these data was refined during 2010/11 based on 
improved coding norms agreed by the medical and Nursing directors. 

data has been reported to the Trust executive Group by the director of 
Nursing each month, and senior nursing staff have sampled case records to 
ensure that where a patient experiences multiple moves this is because of 
the clinical requirements.

The data are drawn from an extensive database and show reductions in the 
number of patients undergoing 2 or more moves, whilst senior nurse staffing 
reports do not give rise to major concerns about patient movements for non 
clinical reasons.  The director of Nursing will continue to report this data to 
the Trust executive Group during 2011/12

The table below compares the number of moves by year

2009-2010       1        40,489

2010-2011                 40,328

 
2009-2010       2        3,825

2010-2011                 3,618

 
2009-2010       3        364

2010-2011                 291

 
2009-2010       4        53

2010-2011                 41

 
2009-2010       5        12

2010-2011                 7

 
2009-2010       6        8

2010-2011                 2

2009-2010       7        1

2010-2011                 1

 
2009-2010       8        1

2010-2011                 0

(data source – Hospital statistics)
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achieve improvement against stroke 4. 
sentinel clinical audit criteria, as 
compared to previous audit, as 
measured in final quarter of year

There are 9 criteria.  performance against these criteria as at march, 2011, 
as compared to the average for 2009/10 is as follows:-

Measure Performance
March
2011

Year  
average 
2009/10

Improvement

90% LOS 67% 37% √

CT Scan 75% 58% √

Swallow
creen

94% 55% √

Aspir 69% 0% √

Physiotherapy 93% 69% √

Mood Assessment 9% 76% √

Occupational 
T erap

96% 79% √

Weight 96% 75% √

ehabilitation goals 96% 72% √

(data source – royal College of physicians)

as can be seen, there have been improvements in all areas and this is also 
evident from national comparative data, which shows that the Trust has 
improved since the last national sentinel audit in 2008:-

National 
sentinel audit 
score for 2010

Tameside score
2010

National 
sentinel audit 
score for 2008

Tameside score
2008

82.4% 87% 72% 76%

The Trust is very committed to improving its performance in relation to 
stroke services.   a health econoimy wide reconfiguration is currently 
underway and will provide a vehicle for further improvements during 
2011/12 and beyond.

CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
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For resuscitation, achieve 5% 5. 
reduction in calls as compared to 
2009/10; increase the proportion 
of patients included in the audit 
of outcomes; maintain survival 
rate above national average and 
increase survival to discharge rate 
to at least national average.

Although the number calls made requesting emergency clinical assistance  
increased from 325 (2009/10) to 341 (2010/11), there was a 3% decrease 
in the proportion of calls for cardiac arrest.  .

The audit return rate improved from 71% (232 patients) in 2009/10 to 73% 
(249 patients) in 2010/11.

In 2009, 56% survived the event, in 2010 74% survived the event.  However, 
the proportion surviving to discharge decreased from 25% to 23%. 
Nevertheless, this was still much higher than the national rate (see below).

It is worth noting that the incidence of non shockable (i.e. less survivable) 
rhythms has increased over the last 6 years from 80% to 90% which will 
have an impact on discharge rates.

The Trust’s Resuscitation team will continue its improvement programme, 
supplemented by a robust audit programme during 2011/12 and after.

Based on national statistics (National Cardiac Arrest Audit - NCAA), the 
Trust compares as follows:-

NCCA Tameside Hospital

% of presenting rhythms 
that were shockable

18% 10%

% of presenting rhythms 
that were non shockable

82% 90%

survival to discharge – all 
rhythms

13.5% 23%

(Data sources – internal clinical audit/National Cardiac Arrest Audit 2010)

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   61 27/6/11   12:59:54



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

62

Continue to implement the 6. 
advancing Quality initiative and 
improve on scores achieved during 
2009/10.

progress continues with the aQ initiative with improvement in all areas.  at 
the time of writing, data is available to the end of quarter 3. 

aQ data are submitted to the sHa’s advancing Quality alliance (aQua) 
using data definitions developed by aqua and utilised by all participating 
organisations.  

data cover four clinical conditions – acute myocardial infarction; Hip and 
Knee replacement; Heart Failure and Community acquired pneumonia.  

performance is measured against a composite score (the number of items of 
care delivered) and an appropriate care score, which summarises how many 
patients have received all aspects of care.

as the table which follows shows, there have been improvements in both 
areas, comparing performance in 2009/10 with performance in 2010/11

(data source – aQua)
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No Never events, No more than 6 7. 
reportable suis (serious untoward 
incidents) 

No “Never events” occurred. “Never events” are serious, largely preventable 
patient safety incidents that should not occur if the available preventative 
measures have been implemented and are defined by the National patient 
safety agency. a “reportable sui” is a serious untoward incident which is 
required to be reported to the pCT, according to definitions agreed between 
the Trust and the pCT. There were 3 reportable suis. in the previous year 
there had been no “Never events” and 1 reportable sui.

The criteria for reporting incidents is subject to onoing review and 
may change over time.  The Trust places a very high emphasis on risk 
management and has a Board level structure to monitor and manage serious 
untoward incidents.

(data source – Trust risk and incident reporting system)

implement an improvement plan to 8. 
address falls risks in the hospital

during the year, the Trust became an aQua “safety express” organisation, an 
important development which will help this and other participating Trusts to 
address more effectively four key “harms” – falls, venous thromboembolism 
(blood clots), urinary tract infection, and pressure ulcers.

The Trust’s structures for falls management have been overhauled.  Clinical 
areas in which patients may be at increased risk of falling have been 
identified. a falls improvement plan has been developed for implementation 
in these areas and will be rolled out to areas of less risk during the year.    a 
senior ward manager will be relesased for 1 – 2 days per week to work with 
clinical staff in falls reduction.

(data source – risk management dept.)

The Trust’s 201/11 CQuiN targets are set by aQua for the 4 clinical entities 
covered by aQ, (with anticipated performance for 2010/11) are as follows:-

• Acute MI – 91.4%(meet/exceed target)
• Heart Failure – 65.3% (65 meet target)
• Community Acquired Pneumonia – 78.4% (meet target)
• Hip and Knee – 95.0% (meet target)

The Trust will remain part of the advancing Quality initiative,
and has also committed to further improvements in this area
via its contract with its commissioners.
(data source – advancing Quality alliance (aQua)

PATIENT EXPERIENCE
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Continue to implement the liverpool 9. 
Care pathway in the context of its 
programme of work on end of life 
Care

in relation to implementation of the pathway, performance varied between 
33% and 58% - there were only two months in which fewer than 40% of 
eligible patients were placed on the pathway.

The Trust continued its programme of work in relation to end of life Care 
during 2010/11.

Training sessions for the new version 12 liverpool Care pathway were 
provided and are ongoing. The new pathway was piloted on four wards and 
is now being rolled out to all relevant adult ward areas. This will be supported 
with opportunistic training in ward areas as required.

other study opportunities provided included sessions in frontline areas where 
end of life (eol) patients may present, including a&e and mau, an event 
for ward link nurses, and an elderly palliative care study day provided by the 
specialist palliative Care Team (spCT). as part of the CQuiN for 2011/12, 
a rolling programme of planned training will take place each month. an 
education Facilitator for eol Care was appointed to implement the e-elCa 
e-learning training programme for staff. she has also arranged training for 
health care assistants.

The spCT worked with NWas to pilot a rapid discharge of dying patients. 
The ambulance service aims to respond within 2 hours of a request for an 
ambulance. The patients must be on the lCp. an emergency ambulance will 
be dispatched which will ensure privacy, relatives can travel with the patient 
and skilled staff will be on hand to provide comfort measures and support 
the family. This 6 month pilot began on march 21st 2011. 

The agreement of a CQuiN for 2011/12 on end of life care with the pCT will 
help to ensure improved compliacne with all pats of the pathway, as well as 
representing a commitment to an extensive staff training programme on the 
part of the Trust.

(data source – internal clinical audit) 

Where these indicators have changed from the indicators used in the 2009/10 report, NHs Foundation Trusts are required 
to outline the rationale for why these indicators have changed. The following commentary provides this rationale in cases 
where changes have been made.
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Changes from 2009/10 to 2010/11 report

• Hospital associated infection rates – MRSA, C Diff and line infection rates

mrsa and C diff are reported under priorities for improvement section above.

line infection rates are incorporated into the patient safety strategy metrics and are measured as a rate of cases per 1000 
Central Venous Catheter days – the number of days in which an infection is present divided by the total number of days 
lines are in situ for all patients.  The aim was to reduce rates by 1/3 as compared to previous year and 30% reduction has 
been delivered.  The number of cases concerned is very small  (3.71 cases per 1000 Central Venous Catheter days in base 
year, (2.6 cases per 1000 Central Venous Catheter days in 2010/11), 

• Falls

indicator changed from a reduction in numbers to implementing an improvement plan to address falls.  The number and 
type of falls occurring are identified via risk management reporting systems.  There were 1090 falls in 2010/11,(compared 
to 874 in the year before) 99% of which were graded as “low” or “very low” incidents.  The key task is to address the 
underlying issues, recognising the increase in admissions of people at an increased risk of falling and changes in the way in 
which falls are assessed, recorded and managed.  The Trust has reviewed its management of falls and during 2011/12 is 
implementing a falls reduction plan.  This will be supported by a senior ward nurse who is being released 1 – 2 days each 
week to support the Trust’s programme for falls reduction.

• Post operative complications (joint infections -  total knee replacement)

The Trust’s performance is 0.9% of cases as against 0.8% national benchmark.  However, the Trust’s performance is the 
product of 2 cases.  Whilst it is important to monitor such infections, their value in terms of the Quality report is limited 
given the small number of cases involved.

• PEAT Assessment results

it was anticipated that a number of schemes taking place within the hospital would ensure the Trust secured ratings of 
“excellent” in all three areas (cleanliness and environment, patient food and privacy and dignity) and this was indeed the 
case.  The Trust is confident of maintaining these ratings going forward.

• Same sex accommodation compliance

performance now subject to national criteria and reporting, although the regulations only changed in November and 
became fully operational in april 2011.  in april 2011, there were 15 breaches, in may there have been none.  The Trust has 
expended considerable effort and resource to secure single gender accommodation for its patients, and has enjoyed a high 
level of support from NHs Tameside and Glossop and the strategic Health authority
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Indicators introduced into 2010/11 report 

• Compliance with WHO Surgical Site Checklist

important clinical safety indicator, recommended for use across the NHs.

• Resuscitation indicators

The expansion of the Critical Care outreach team, which was completed in april 2010, coupled with ongoing improvements 
in the resuscitation service make this is an important indicator to monitor.

Performance against key national priorities

The following table provides an overview of performance in 2010/11 against the key national priorities from the department 
of Health’s operating Framework and  performance against the relevant indicators and performance thresholds set out in 
appendix B of monitor’s Compliance Framework:-

Target Target/Performance Met or not met

Clostridium difficile infection  90 cases/114 cases x

mrsa Bacteraemia 4 cases/3 cases ✓

mrsa screening 100%100% ✓

Two week wait for specialist appointment from Gp urgent referral 93%/97.3% ✓

Two week wait for specialist appointment with Breast symptoms (cancer 
not initially suspected)

93%/94%
✓

31 day diagnosis to treatment for first definitive treatment 96%/99.5% ✓

31 day diagnosis to treatment for second or subsequent treatment

94%/95.1% (surgery)

98%/100%
(drug treatment ✓

62 days to treatment from Gp urgent referral 85%/87.4% ✓

62 days to treatment from Consultant/screening service referral 85%/95.5% ✓

Total time in a&e: four hours or less 95%/97.4% ✓

access to healthcare for people with learning difficulties

Trust performance 
against 6 criteria/

performance met criteria ✓
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Annex: Statements from Tameside & Glossop Primary Care Trust

NHS Tameside & Glossop’s response to Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s
2010/11 Quality Account

NHs Tameside & Glossop acts as coordinating commissioner for NHs oldham, NHs manchester, NHs stockport, and NHs 
Heywood, middleton and rochdale.

Commissioners are pleased to see the reported improvement in Hsmr rates that caused much concern amongst the 
communities they served.  it is also worth highlighting Tameside Hospital’s real improvements in VTe screening from a low 
base at the start of the year to full achievement of the 90% target by the end of the year.  equally, performance against stroke 
clinical indicators has improved significantly in 2010/11.

Nonetheless there are still improvements to be made –the CQC’s report of may 2011 emphasised that “despite improvements 
since the last review and inspection on 16th June 2010, it must do more to comply fully with three essential standards of 
quality and safety.”  Commissioners will expect these minimum levels of quality and safety to be met in accordance with the 
CQC’s timetable.

it was disappointing that performance against all CQuiN’s were not uniformly good with the smoking cessation and alcohol 
abuse CQuiNs particularly disappointing.  a revised scheme for 2011/12 has been agreed and it is hoped that there will be 
a step increase in achievement from the 67% reported in 2010/11.  

The Trust does have an annual audit programme in place, with comprehensive reporting of the extent and variety of audits 
undertaken. However in some instances it is not immediately clear what actions have been taken to drive improvements as 
a result of the findings. similarly, although information is available on the numbers and categories of pals and Complaints 
cases, it is not clear how this data is used to drive improvements. We will be working with the Trust to address this.

looking forward to 2011/12 commissioners are aware of three main quality risks.  Firstly, a continuing and relentless focus 
on reducing HCai, especially c-diff.  This is a health economy wide issue which should not be seen as a “hospital problem”, 
and Tameside Hospital’s continued commitment to the local district Wide infection prevention and Control Committee will 
be essential.  The second remains a sustained focus on the basics of dignity of care as measured by improving nutritional 
standards, reducing falls and reducing the incidence of hospital associated pressure ulcers.  Thirdly, commissioners wish 
to see Tameside Hospital’s continuing participation in the emergency Care Network to deliver improvements in a number of 
areas such as safe and effective discharge, new clinical pathways for intermediate care and rehabilitation and implementation 
of end of life care initiatives.

underpinning all three areas will be a requirement for much closer clinical dialogue between clinicians at Tameside Hospital 
and the Gp commissioning consortium that will take over from the pCT as part of the government’s reform of the NHs.  
There will also be a requirement to ensure that as Tameside Hospital addresses its financial problems described in monitor’s 
formal notice of a breach of the terms of authorisation in February 2011, that quality and dialogue with stakeholders does 
not reduce in 2011/12.
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Annex: Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the quality report

The directors are required under the Health act 2009 and the National Health service (Quality accounts) regulations 2010 
to prepare Quality accounts for each financial year.

monitor has issued guidance to NHs foundation Trust Boards on the form and content of annual quality reports (which 
incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that Foundation Trust Boards should put in place to 
support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.

in preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:

• the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual  
 2010-11;

• the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information including:

- Board minutes and papers for the period april 2010 to June 2011
- papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period april 2010 to June 2011
- Feedback from the Trust’s commissioners dated 2 June 2011

• The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS   
 Complaints regulations 2009, dated 16/05/ 2011

- The national patient survey 21/04/2011
- The national staff survey 16/03/2011
- The Head of internal audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment 

- CQC quality and risk profiles dated 26/04/2011

• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance over the period covered;

• the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;

• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance included in the  
 Quality report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice;

• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable,   
 conformsto specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny 
 and review; and  the Quality report has been prepared in accordance with monitor’s annual reporting 
 guidance (which incorporates the Quality accounts regulations) (published at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/
 annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality   
 report (available at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual).

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the Quality report.

By order of the Board

02. June 2011.............................................................Chairman

02 June2011   ...........................................................Chief executive
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Members of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report 

We have been engaged by the Council of members of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust (“the Trust”) to perform an 
independent assurance engagement in respect of the content of the Trust’s Quality report for the year ended 31 march 2011 
(the “Quality report”). 

Scope and subject matter 

We read the Quality report and considered whether it addresses the content requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust 
annual reporting manual, and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions. 

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality report in accordance with the criteria set out 
in the NHs Foundation Trust annual reporting manual 2010/11 issued by the independent regulator of NHs Foundation 
Trusts (“monitor”). 

our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that the content of the Quality report is not in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust 
annual reporting manual or is inconsistent with the documents. 

We read the other information contained in the Quality report and considered whether it is inconsistent with: 

• Board minutes for the period April 2010 to June 2011;

• Papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2010 to June 2011;

• Feedback from the Trust’s commissioners dated 2 June 2011;
• The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS Compliance  
 regulations 2009, dated 16/5/2011;

• The national patient survey dated 21/4/2011;

• The national staff survey dated 16/3/2011;

• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment; and 

• CQC quality and risk profiles dated 26/4/2011. 

We considered the implications for our report if we became aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies 
with those documents (collectively, the “documents”). our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of members of the Trust as a body, to assist 
the Council of members in reporting the Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of this 
report within the annual report for the year ended 31 march 2011, to enable the Council of members to demonstrate they 
have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the 
Quality report. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Council of members as a body and Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for our work or this report save where terms 
are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing. 
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Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with international standard on assurance engagements 
3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included: 

making enquiries of management; 
Comparing the content requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust annual reporting manual to the categories reported in 
the Quality report; and reading the documents. 

a limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, timing and extent 
of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 

Limitations 

it is important to read the Quality report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHs Foundation Trust annual reporting 
manual.

Conclusion

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the year ended 
31 march 2011, the content of the Quality report is not in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust annual reporting 
manual.

pricewaterhouseCoopers llp
Chartered accountants
manchester
6 June 2011
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Terms & Abbreviations Used in the Document

Never events, SUIs

Bacteraemia – a blood infection caused by a bacterium, such as mrsa.

C Diff – a bacterium present in the digestive tract or gut.  Normally in healthy balance with other organisms in the gut, 
its levels relative to other organisms can increase in certain circumstances, and this can give rise to the release of a toxin 
which causes diarrhoea.

CQUIN – Commissioning for Quality and innovation – a system whereby commissioners of healthcare services can 
reward or incentivise providers of healthcare services for achieving agreed improvements in quality or innovation 

DIPC – director of infection prevention and Control – a role provided in NHs organisations, normally by a senior nurse 
or doctor.  The dipC has overall responsibility for the implementation of infection control policies and procedures and the 
management of the infection prevention and control function within their organisation. 

E Coli – a common bacterium normally found in the lower gut, which under certain circumstances can be responsible 
for a bacteraemia, defined above as a blood infection caused by a bacterium

HCAI – Healthcare associated infection – an infection caused by or developed as a consequence of the use of health 
care services.

HSMR – Hospital standardised mortality ratio – a means of assessing whether the mortality (death) rate in a given 
hospital is greater than, less than, or the same as expected.  The method widely used across the NHs was developed 
by prof. sir Brian Jarman of imperial College, london and dr Foster, an independent provider of comparative information 
on health and social care services. 
liverpool care pathway - an integrated pathway of care that is used plan and organise the delivery of high quality care in 
the last hours and days of a person’s life and to ensure consistency of care wherever it is delivered.
mess - mandatory enhanced surveillance system – web based system used by the Health protection agency which 
NHs organisations use to submit data on key infections such as C diff and mrsa.

MRSA -  methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus, a type of bacterium that is resistant to the antibiotic methicillin and 
other penicillins. it can be carried harmlessly on the body, but can give rise to infections of varying degrees of severity, 
including bacteraemia.

MSSA - methicillin sensitive staphylococcus aureus, a type of bacterium that is not resistant to methicillin and other 
penicillins. like mrsa, it can be carried harmlessly on the body, but can give rise to infections of varying degrees of 
severity, including bacteraemia.

SHMI - summary Hospital-level mortality indicator.-  The indicator is scheduled for introduction to the NHs by the 
department of Health during 2011/12,  to be used by hospitals to help them better understand trends associated with 
patient deaths. as the time of writing no specific implementation date has been identified. .
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6. Regulatory Rating 

also detailed below is a table detailing the Trust’s planned quarterly risk rating as submitted to monitor compared with how 
the Trust actually performed against those plans.

  Annual Plan
Q1 

2010/11
Q2 

2010/11
Q3

2010/11
Q4 

2010/11

Financial risk rating 3 3 2 2 2 

Governance risk rating amber/red amber/red amber/red red red

mandatory services Green Green Green Green Green

Annual Plan
Q1 

2009/10
Q2 

2009/10
Q3 

2009/10
Q4 

2009/10

Financial risk rating 3 3 3 3 3

Governance risk rating amber amber amber red amber

mandatory services Green Green Green Green Green

The table indicates that the Trusts financial risk rating (Frr) fell to a 2 which is in breach of its Terms of authorisation, as 
all Foundation Trusts need to maintain a Frr of 3 to remain within their Terms of authorisation. as a consequence of this 
the Trust had to submit a revised financial plan for 2010/11 in december 2011. monitor reviewed the Trust’s position and in 
February 2011 found the Trust to be in significant breach of its terms of authorisation. This breach also meant that the Trust 
was classified as red for Governance.

The Trust is actively in the process of addressing monitor’s concerns and has developed a financial recovery plan for the 
Trust, which addresses the financial concerns, whilst ensuring that quality and performance targets are maintained. at the 
point of compiling the annual report, it is not anticipated that the Trust will return to a Frr of 3 in 2011/12, although it is 
aiming to achieve financial balance in 2012/13. 

in order to support the recovery plan, the Trust has employed external advisors and turnaround expertise. more detail 
relating to the financial outlook for 2011/12 can be found in the finance section of the report under the “Financial outlook for 
2011/12”.
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7. Governing Council

Following the establishment of the Foundation Trust in February 2008, the Council of members which had existed in shadow 
form for some time, assumed its full range of responsibilities as defined in the Trust Constitution.  a quarterly pattern of 
meetings was established, with a formal agenda covering both standing and ad hoc items.  attendance at these meetings 
is given in the table which follows.  Three committees have been established as sub committees of the Council of members, 
as follows:

- Nominations and remuneration Committee

- membership Committee

- marketing and Choice Committee

- equality and diversity Group

in addition, two groups report their progress and proceedings formally to the Council of members, namely the user reference 
Group and the disability equality Working Group.

during 2008/09, a cycle of public meetings was established.  These meetings involved the relevant members of Council 
meeting with the public membership for their area.  The meetings were supported by Trust senior staff and attended by the 
member of Council, Chairman, Chief executive and director of Nursing.

The first public members meeting took place in ashton in december 2008.  This was followed by meetings in Glossop in 
January and in mossley in February 2009. during 2010/11 the agenda of public meetings has continued.

The issues raised included the facilities available in the new hospital wing, car parking, information contained in the patient 
letters and increasing the membership and members’ involvement with the hospital and emergency planning.
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Membership attendance

public member
12thmay 

2010
10th august 

2010
9th November 

2010
16th February 

2011

mr p roberts/Jean Bowes porter ashton under lyne √ √ √ √
mr J stafford ashton under lyne √ √ √ √
mr J Hallsworth/Vacant audenshaw x x x x

mr T askew denton √ √ √ √
Vacant/ Gillian drummond denton √ √ √ √
mr p mullen/Vacant droylsden √ √ √ x

mr J Fox dukinfield √ √ √ √
mrs J smallwood/ dr murtaza 
Husaini england and Wales x √ x x

mr a mee/miss laura almond Glossop √ x x x

mrs B Whiteley Glossop √ √ √
mr B Nichols/Vacant Hyde √ √ x x

mrs l Wade/Vacant Hyde √ √ x x

mr J Hague/mr sean parker 
perry longdendale x x x x

mrs B anderton mossley √ √ √ √
dr m matin stalybridge √ √ √ √
staff member

mrs C Bradshaw Corporate services √ x x x

mrs a dobson
diagnostic and Therapeutic 
services √ √ √ √

mrs J Bergin elective services division √ √ √ √

mrs m Judge
emergency services/critical 
care x x √ x

ms K Wrigley Facilities x x x x

ms C allen Women’s and Children’s √ √ √
partnership

mr m Holden/ms l Thompson Consort Healthcare √ √ √ √
Cllr Wharmby High peak Borough Council x √ x x

dr r patel
Tameside and Glossop primary 
Care Trust √ √ x x

mr s eyres/Vacant Third sector Coalition √ √ x x

Cllr B Warrington TmBC √ √ √ √
Vacant Young person x x x x

details of co-directorships of governors can be sought from the Trust Board secretary.
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Board of Directors

Trust Board meetings are held in private.  There are a number of other forums and opportunities, designed not only to 
inform both the staff and the general public, but also to generate feedback.

 
 start date in post expiry date of Term of office 

Chairman
Tim presswood 1 Nov 2007  31 oct 2011

Deputy Chair
denise Bates 31 Jan 2008  30 Jan 2012

Non Executive Directors
Tony Ward** 1 may 2006 30 april 2013
Term of office extended for a further 3 years.  

robert Corless** 1 Jan 2007 31 dec 2012
Term of office extended for a further 2 years.  

adrian anderson** 1 Nov 2008 31 oct 2011

Tricia Kalloo 25 Nov 2010 24 Nov 2013

The Nominations and remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the executive and associate directors  
and is made up of the Chairman and the Non-executive directors.  members of the audit Committee are identified by an 
asterisk ** above.

Executive Directors
Chief executive   Christine Green

director of Finance  Karen Brown 

medical director   Tariq mahmood 

Nursing director   philip dylak

director of Clinical services   adrian Griffiths

The Chief executive and all executive directors are appointed on permanent contracts by the Trust Board.  The Chairman 
and Non-executive directors were appointed by the NHs Commissioner for a specified period of time.  However, the Council 
of members became responsible for the appointment and removal of the Chair and other Non-executive directors from the 
date of authorisation as a Foundation Trust.  
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Present: Position 29th 
April
2010

27th 
May

24th 
June

29th 
July

26th 
Aug

30th 
Sept

28th 
Oct

25th 
Nov

6th 
Jan
2011

27th 
Jan

24th 
Feb

31st 
March

mr T presswood Chairman √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

mrs C Green Chief executive √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √
mrs d Bates Non-executive 

director
√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

mr r Corless Non-executive 
director

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

mr d a  Ward Non-executive 
director

√ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

mr a anderson Non-executive 
director

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

mr p dylak director of Nursing √ √ √ √ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √
ms K Brown director of Finance

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

mr a Griffiths director of Clinical 
services

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

dr T mahmood medical director x x √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √
ms T Kalloo Non-executive 

director
x x x √

mr s Gardner
seconded 
october 2010 

director of 
planning and 
performance

√ x √ √ x √

mr d Wilkinson director of Human 
resources

√ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

√ - attended
√ * - deputy attended
x - did not attend

Trust Board Committees

The Trust Board has established the following committees: audit; Nominations and remuneration Committee; Clinical 
Governance; Charitable Funds; and Corporate Governance.   each of the Board Committees is chaired by a director of the 
Trust Board.  

Audit Committee –

11th May 
2010

3rd June
2010

7th Sept
2010

16th Nov
2010

12th Jan
2011

miss K Brown
director of Finance

√ √ √ √ √

mr T Ward (Chair)
Non-executive director

√ √ √ √ √

mr r Corless
Non executive director

√ √ √ √ √

mr a anderson
Non executive director

√ √ √ √ √
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Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee 

25th May
2010

23rd July
2010

30th Aug
2010

29th Nov
2010

25th Jan
2011

29th March
2011

mr robert Corless (Chair)
Non-executive director

  

mr adrian anderson (Chair)
Non-executive director

  

miss K Brown
director of Finance

     

mr s Gardner
director of planning 
and performance

X X X

mr p dylak
director of Nursing

 X   X 

mrs Gillian parker
associate director of Facilities

X  

mr m dean
associate director of Facilities

  

mr d Wilkinson
director of Human resources

  X X  

Quality and Clinical Governance Committee 

The Committee was established at the start of the financial year following an extensive Trust - wide governance review, and 
retained a number of responsibilities from the Clinical Governance Core Group, the Board Committee which it superseded.

 
21st 

June 
2010

21st J
uly 

2010

19th 
Aug 
2010

15th 
Sept
2010

14th 
Oct
2010

17th 
Nov
2010

9th 
Dec
2010

7th 
Jan
2011

10th 
Feb 
2011

4th 
March 
2011

mrs d Bates
Non executive director 
(Chair) 

         

mr r Corless
Non executive director    

mrs C Green 
Chief executive          

mr p dylak 
director of Nursing  x        

dr T mahmood 
medical director   x       

Charitable Funds

 
27th May

2010
20th Aug

2010
14th Oct

2010
17th Feb

2011

mr T  Ward
Non exec director
CHair

  x 

miss K Brown
director of Finance    

mr p dylak
director of Nursing x   
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Remuneration Committee and Terms of Service

 
No meeting took place in the reporting period as 

no pay award was given

mr T presswood
Non exec director
CHair

mr d a Ward
Non exec director

mrs d Bates
Non exec director

mr a anderson
Non exec director

mr r Corless
Non exec director

The Nomination and remuneration Committee is responsible for advising and/or making recommendations to the Council 
of members in all matters relating to:

• the recruitment process for the selection of candidates for the office of Chairman or other Non-Executive Directors;

• the remuneration, allowances and other terms and conditions of office for the Chairman, Chief Executive and other   
 executive directors and Non-executives.

during the past year, the Nominations and remuneration Committee (NrC) agreed and oversaw the appointment to one 
Non-executive director position.  The recruitment was undertaken using open advertisement in the local media and the 
selection process involved all members of the NrC, supported by an independent assessor, with wider members of Council 
invited to meet prospective candidates on the assessment day.  The successful applicant (Tricia Kalloo) was offered and 
accepted the post for a three year term.

There are no performance-related elements to director’s remuneration.

Declaration of Interests 

all Trust Board members provide details of their business and other relevant interests.  a register of these interests is held 
by mrs e Johnson, in the Chief executive’s office, and is available for inspection upon request.  in 2010/11, none of the 
directors held Company directorships or declared an interest in respect of Companies likely to do business with the Trust. 

Disclosure of Corporate Governance Arrangements 

The Board of directors and the Board of Governors of the Trust are committed to the principles of good corporate governance 
as detailed in the NHs Foundation Trust Code of Governance.

The Board has reviewed and considered monitor’s “NHs Foundation Trust Code of Governance” and considered it complies 
with all recommended practice, except the provision which states that executive directors should be appointed by a 
committee of the Chief executive, the Chairman and Non-executive directors and subject to re-appointment at intervals of 
no more than five years.  all executive directors are on permanent pensionable contract and subject to annual review.

The directors who sit on the Board of directors possess the experience and expertise to give the Board the balance, 
completeness and appropriateness to the requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust. 
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Governance arrangements

The governance arrangements of the Trust include a Governing Council (the Council of members) and the Trust Board.  The 
main role of the Council of members is to form a critical link between the Foundation Trust membership and the Trust Board, 
enabling a two way exchange.  The Council of members has a key focus on external relationships and on growing and 
developing the membership base.  However, it remains closely involved in internal discussions about developing strategy 
and continually improving the quality of care and the range of services provided.  The Chairman and Chief executive form the 
key link between the work of the Council of members and that of the Trust Board.

The Trust Board is the principal forum for strategic decision making for the Trust.  The Board brings together the expertise 
and independence of the Non-executive members with the knowledge and experience of the executive Team to support 
the on-going management of the organisation, as well as strategic direction setting.  The Board continually reviews the 
commercial and financial robustness of the organisation, from the position in-year, through to the very long timescales 
required to support major capital investments.  The Board also provides the focus for all of the Trust’s assurance processes, 
and all self-assessments and external declarations.

The Trust Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Trust’s business to the Chief executive and the 
executive directors.  The Non-executives hold the executives to account through the work of the Trust Board and its 
Committees.

The Trust undertakes an externally facilitated Board assessment and development day with all directors. in addition to 
this all executive directors are subject to annual performance evaluation by the Chief executive who in turn is evaluated by 
the Chairman. Non executive directors are evaluated by the Chairman, who in turn is evaluated by a senior independent 
director.

all board committees annually assess their performance against their Terms of reference and report their evaluation to the 
Trust Board.

all of the Non-executive directors on the Trust Board are considered to be independent.  This assessment is based on the 
information contained within the register of directors’ interests.  The NHs Foundation Trust Code of Governance recommends 
that the Trust Board should appoint one of the Non-executive directors as the senior independent director, in consultation 
with the Council of members.   The senior independent director should be available to members and members of Council if 
they have concerns which cannot be resolved through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief executive or Finance director.  
mrs denise Bates, the senior independent director, was appointed during 2008/09 by the Trust Chairman.

The audit Committee has been established to provide assurances to the Board on matters which include, but are not limited 
to, the following:

 • To ensure that sound and effective systems of internal control, including financial control and risk   
  management, are in place within the Trust and appropriately maintained.  

 • To ensure that the systems of internal control, including financial control and risk management, are   
  independently assured.

 • To protect the Auditor’s ability to investigate the Board’s decisions and those of senior Executives.

 • To establish and maintain Internal Audit and External Audit arrangements that meet mandatory audit   
  standards and legislation and review the cost and effectiveness of these arrangements on a regular   
  basis.To ensure that policies and procedures are in place with regard to countering fraud and corruption.

The audit Committee comprises three Non-executive directors.  The Chairman, Chief executive, director of Finance, Chief 
internal auditor, local Counter Fraud specialist and a senior external auditor have a right to attend (but may not vote).  other 
officers may be invited to attend as necessary.  The full Terms of reference for the audit Committee are available on the 
Trust’s web-site. Where the Trust is planning to appoint outside management Consultants to undertake work, consideration 
is given to whether the auditors can be included in the list of firms to be considered, or whether they should be excluded as 
the work would potentially compromise their independence as auditors.  Consideration is given to factors such as the likely 
fees for the work, the areas in which the work is to be undertaken, and whether the auditors are likely to review the area as 
part of their work.
 
The auditors have their own procedures for concluding whether possible non-audit work could compromise their 
independence, or be perceived to compromise it.  in line with the iCaeW’s ethical standards, if they cannot put in place 
appropriate safeguards, they will not put forward a proposal.  The engagement letter states that the liability of pwC, its 
members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £1m in the 
aggregate in respect of all services.
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The Trust Board includes members with a wide range of interests, experience and expertise.  This provides the depth and 
variety of opinion and discussion required for effective decision making.  The executive and Non-executive directors have 
taken measures to develop an understanding of the views of Governors and members about the NHs Foundation Trust.  
These have included attendance at meetings of the Board of Governors and attending constituency meetings to engage 
its members and the community it serves. The experience, interests and activities of the members of the Trust Board are 
summarised below.

Tim Presswood – Chair

Areas of interest – tackling health inequalities and social inclusion.  Community finance and social enterprise.
Current/Previous Work – Currently a Baptist minister and Chair of manchester Credit union.  previously Chair of North 
manchester pCT and Non-executive director of manchester pCT.  served as director of a variety of regeneration bodies 
and social enterprises.
Membership of Trust Board Committees – remuneration and Terms of service (Chair)

Denise Bates – Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director 
(appointed Deputy Chair  and Senior Independent Director in December 2009)

Areas of interest – the patient and carer experience (quality and safety), planning to meet future needs and  
health promotion.
Current/Previous Work – Fellow of the institute of Chartered accountants in england and Wales, Non-executive director 
of Tameside and Glossop Community and priority services (NHs) Trust 1993 – 2002. Chief executive of a major voluntary 
organisation in Tameside 2003 – 2009.
Committees – Nominations and remuneration Committee, Quality and Clinical Governance (Chair), equality and diversity 
(Non-executive lead).

Tony Ward – Non Executive Director

Areas of interest – Qualified accountant, specialist in process reengineering.
Current / Previous Work – managing director of several operations within a uK public limited company.  previously the 
Finance director of a division within another uK plc.
Membership of Trust Board Committees – audit Committee (Chair), Nomination and remuneration Committee, 
Charitable Funds (Chair)

Robert Corless – Non-Executive Director

Areas of interest – building and sustaining competitive advantage and organisational effectiveness.
Current/Previous Work – previously a management consultant with a large multi-national us firm.
Membership of Trust Board Committees – audit Committee,), Nominations and remuneration Committee risk 
management and Corporate Governance Committee (Chair) 

Adrian Anderson – Non-Executive Director

Areas of interest - Constitution, public private partnership.
Current/Previous Work- senior partner in legal Firm.
Membership of Trust Board Sub Committees - audit Committee

Tricia Kalloo - Non-Executive Director

Date Appointed – 25th November 2010
Areas of Interest – patient experience, safety and outcomes.  staff heath and wellbeing. 
Current/Previous Work –  Currently Ceo and owner of Wellness international.  previously worked in health care in the 
usa prior to moving to antigua where she became director of Finance and administration for the eastern Caribbean Civil 
aviation authority. 
Membership of Trust Board Committees – remuneration and Terms of service
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Executive Directors

Christine Green – Chief Executive

Experience – Career manager in NHs for over 25 years
Qualification – HNC Business administration, diploma in Health service management
Membership of Trust Board Committees – Clinical Governance Committee

Karen Brown - Director of Finance
 
Experience – previously director of Finance at City Hospital sunderland NHs FT, and held Head of Finance roles within the 
public sector since 1998.
Qualification – CipFa, Ba Hons Theology, mBa.
Membership of Trust Board Committees – risk management and Corporate Governance Committee, audit Committee, 
Charitable Funds Committee.

Tariq Mahmood – Medical Director (from 1 March 2009)

Experience – medical practitioner for over 20 years. Consultant obstetrician and Gynaecologist at TGH for 7 years.  
Formerly lead Clinician for obstetrics and Gynaecology and rCoG tutor. main interest is in obstetric scanning and pre-natal 
diagnosis.
Qualification – mB ChB, Bmsc, mrCoG, mFFp, FrCoG, md, diploma in obstetric ultrasound.
Membership of Trust Board Committees – Quality and Clinical Governance

Philip Dylak – Executive Director of Nursing

Experience – previously director of Nursing and patient services at Halton General Hospital, senior Nurse/r&d manager, 
NHs North West, assistant director of Nursing at Central manchester Healthcare Trust.  
Qualification – Bsc (Hons), msc rN Nurse.
Membership of Trust Board Committees – Quality and Clinical Governance Committee, Corporate Governance 
Committee risk management and Corporate Governance Committee.

Adrian Griffiths – Executive Director of Clinical Services
 
Experience – previous areas of work include general management posts in surgical services, Neurosciences and radiology 
at Hope Hospital, and administrative posts in Bury, regional Headquarters and North manchester.  eight years’ experience 
as an executive director at Tameside Hospital, the last five years as director of Clinical services.
Qualification – Ba (Hons) History, m.phil. History, diploma in Health services management.
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8. Membership 

The Trust membership comprises a public Constituency, a staff Constituency and six members appointed from partnership 
organisations.

Public Constituency

The table below summarises the boundaries for public membership, the approximate population of the membership, the 
minimum size of membership and the number of members of Council for each area.  The areas are based on electoral wards.

Area Population (circa) Minimum size of 
membership

No. of Members of 
Council

ashton under lyne 45,000 94 2

audenshaw 11,000 23 1

denton 34,000 71 2

droylsden 23,000 48 1

dukinfield 23,000 48 1

Hyde 34,000 71 2

longdendale 10,000 21 1

mossley 10,000 21 1

stalybridge 22,000 46 1

Glossop 28,000 59 2

england and Wales 53,000,000 50 1

an individual aged 16 years or over who lives in one the above areas can become a member of the Trust following completion 
of the appropriate application form which is available both on–line and in paper formats.  

public members of council are elected for a period of three years, and are eligible for re-election at the end of that period 
although they may not hold office for longer than 9 consecutive years.
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Staff Constituency

The table below summarises the six classes into which the staff membership is divided.  The minimum size of membership for 
each class is also given, and is to be 50% of the eligible staff in the constituency.  The classes are based on the configuration 
of the organisation, as follows.

Class Minimum size
of membership

No. of
Members of Council

emergency services and Critical Care 643 1

diagnostic and Therapeutic services 318 1

Women’s and Children’s services 378 1

elective services 546 1

Facilities 140 1

Corporate services 354 1

individuals aged sixteen years or over who are employed by the Trust, or are not employed but exercise functions for 
the Trust, are eligible for membership of the staff constituency without application, provided they endorse the values and 
principles of the Trust.  The period of employment must be at least 12 months.  an individual who is eligible to be a member 
of the staff Constituency cannot also be a member of the public Constituency, and therefore cannot become or continue as 
a member of more than one class.

public members of council are elected for a period of three years, and are eligible for re-election at the end of that period 
although they may not hold office for longer than 9 consecutive years.

Changes to Council of Members 2010/11

during the year the following changes occurred in the composition in the membership of the Council of members:-

With regard to the public constituency the following members resigned.

               andrew mee resigned as member for Glossop (November 2010)
               lesley Wade resigned as member for Hyde (November 2010) 
               patrick mullen decided not to stand for re-election as member for droylsden (January 2011)
 Brian Nichols decided not to stand for re-election for Hyde (January 2011)
               Jean smallwood not re-elected for england and Wales (march 2011)

          
Joining Members

 Public – murtaza Husaini elected for england and Wales (march 2011)
 mohammed matin re-elected for stalybridge (January 2011) 
 laura almond elected for Glossop (march 2011)
 sean parker perry elected for longdendale (January 2011)
 Jean Bowes porter elected for ashton-u-lyne (march 2011)
 Terence askew re-elected for denton (January 2011)
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With regard to the staff constituency the following members resigned and were replaced by the following:

Staff –  mary Judge reappointed as a member for emergency services and Critical Care (January 2011)
 anne dobson reappointed as a member for diagnostic and Therapeutic services (January 2011)
 Claire Bradshaw reappointed as a member for Corporate services (January 2011)

Partnership –  mark Holden resigned as a partnership member for Consort (November 2010)
 linda Thompson took up membership for Consort (November 2010)

Eligibility and Exclusion

Both public and staff members can be excluded from membership.  The Trust Constitution contains full details of the 
conditions for disqualification from membership – the list which follows summarises the situations in which this can occur. 
members can be disqualified if they have:

• been classified as a vexatious complainant,

• verbally or physically assaulted a Trust employee, volunteer, patient or visitor,

• been dismissed from the employment of the Trust (certain exclusions apply),

• sanctioned under the Trust’s Zero Tolerance Policy,

• registered as a sex offender,

• failed to agree to abide by the Trust’s values and principles,

• made a false application or statement in relation to their membership or election to the Council of Members, or

• acted in a manner that is contrary to the Trust’s principles and objectives. 

if an individual ceases to be employed by the Trust, or perform functions on behalf of the Trust, they are no longer eligible 
for membership of the staff constituency.

Membership Numbers

The following table shows the number of public members in each area as at march 2010.  in each case, the minimum 
target membership has been exceeded.

Ashton 1150

Audenshaw 239

Denton 724

Droylsden 393

Dukinfield 601

Glossop 699

Hyde 891

Longdendale 298

Mossley 205

Stalybridge 600

England and Wales 264

TOTAL 6064 

The staff Constituency membership currently stands at 2379. To date, only four members of staff have opted out of 
membership of the staff constituency.
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Membership Strategy 

The Trust maintains a data base of membership.   This enables analysis of the composition of the membership which 
provides a matrix for membership drives.    a membership Committee, comprising members of Council and supported by 
the executive director lead on membership, has been formed to look at specific ways of increasing membership in line with 
the Trust’s membership strategy.  The membership Committee has advised on the processes for becoming a member and 
the presentation of the documentation used to join the Trust, known as “joining slips”.  The Trust provides these slips to

• every patient attending the Out-Patient Department;

• everyone using the Patient Advice and Liaison Service;

• everyone using the “Infopatient” patient information service;

• each family with which the Trust’s paediatric nurses come in contact – both hospital and community, and

• each family with which the Trust’s midwives come in contact.

Targeting these large throughput areas in a more explicit way is expected to lead to further increases in membership, which 
will be reflected in an ever more representative composition over time. during 2010/11, a number of additional recruitment 
initiatives were undertaken in local shopping centres.

Contact procedures

To facilitate contact between members and members of Council and/or directors, the hospital website contains the names, 
areas of responsibility and contact details (email, telephone and mail) for all of the members of Council and all of the 
directors.

a register of interests for the Council of members is held by the director of Nursing and is available for inspection on 
request.
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9. Financial Statements

Overview

The financial year 2010/11 is the third full year of operation as an NHs Foundation Trust.  after making enquiries the directors 
have a reasonable expectation that the NHs Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

The directors considered the following factors in concluding that the organisation is a going concern;

• outturn position for 2010/11 and the 2011/12 annual plan, 
• the level and basis of expected income for 2011/12,
• the ongoing impact of the new Payment by Results tariffs,
• the cash flow position, including sensitivity analysis,
• the planned investment in the Trust’s infrastructure, 
• the Trust’s overall service strategy which has previously been shared with the Trust’s key partner the Primary Care Trust,
• the potential risks and uncertainties identified, including the potential impact of planned demand management initiatives    
  and
• the outcome of the financial base lining exercise for 2010/11 and 2011/12, reviewed by external financial advisors.

Financial Position

The Trust’s accounts are included in the annual accounts section of this report and show a deficit of £1.39m for the year prior 
to impairments of £22.79m, resulting in a deficit of £24.18m.  The original financial plan agreed with monitor had shown a 
surplus of £0.2m for the year prior to impairments. Following quarter two results, which led to a financial risk rating of 2, the 
Trust submitted a forecast showing a deficit of £1.45m for 2010/11. 

The table below summarises the income and expenditure position for the year.

 
2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

£m £m £m

operating income
 
 

income from activities 130.13 127.54 117.02

other operating income 15.35 11.69 12.46

Total income 145.48 139.23 129.48

operating expenses
 
 

pay costs 98.27 94.92 88.05

Non-pay costs 40.22 35.55 31.77

Total costs 138.49 130.47 119.82

Operating Surplus 6.99 8.77 9.66

Technical items
 
 
 
 
 
 

loss on asset disposal 0.08 0.10 0.00

exceptional costs (fixed asset impairment) 22.79 4.95 2.62

depreciation 4.77 5.12 4.97

Finance income 0.07 0.06 0.48

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 1.63 0.16 0.12

Finance expenses -unwinding discount on 
provisions

0.00 0.01 0.01

pdC dividends payable 1.96 2.74 4.38

(deficit) from continuing operations -24.18 -4.24 -1.97

Surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations - excluding 
impairments

-1.39 0.71 0.66

Note: The 2008/09 figures are on a comparable restated IFRS basis with the 2009/10 figures. All NHS bodies were required to adopt IFRS in 2009/10.

The Trust’s cash balances as at the 31st March 2011 were £7.642m against a revised planned target of £5.180m.
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Financial Performance

Key headline financial indicators are as follows;

• The Trust closed the year with a deficit of £1.39m, excluding impairments of £22.79m.

• The year end cash balances were £7.642m with no draw down on the working capital facility at any point during the year

• Capital investment of £7.57m

• Private Patient Income totalled £33k or 0.03 % of total patient income i.e. well within the limit set of 0.1%.

Financial Risks

Key financial risks during 2010/11 included:

• Delivery of the required CIPs Programme 

• Delivery of significant additional non-elective activity above contract within existing staffing and physical capacity resources 
supplemented by the use of bank and agency staff, but at only thirty percent of tariff for activity in excess of 2008/09 levels

• Excess inflation and pay award costs above funding received through tariff uplift.

• Management of HIT enabling / handover works to required timetable to enable PFI scheme to proceed as planned

• Loss of income re CQUINs, Quality Bonus Payment income, and/or contract penalties

• Increased use of locum medical staff pending substantive recruitment.

Income / Contract Activity

The Trust’s largest commissioner had set contract baselines for 2010/11 lower than the 2009/10 outturn due to an expected 
reduction in activity following the pCT’s planned introduction of demand management schemes which aimed to reduce 
the flow of both elective and non-elective activity to the hospital.  However, ongoing pressures in achieving the targets and 
another severe winter resulted in significant over performance against the contract for both elective and non-elective activity.  
The majority of the Trust’s clinical income is based on payment by results and the Trust has agreed payment for all activity 
delivered during the year, with the exception of non-elective activity in excess of 2008/09 levels which were paid for at only 
30% of tariff. The 30% payment resulted in the Trust losing income of £1.14m for the work undertaken.
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Income

income in 2010/11 totalled approximately £145.5 million.  The majority of the Trust’s income (£128.9 million; 88.6%) comes from 
primary Care Trusts (pCTs) for health care services provided to patients during the year.  services provided to NHs Tameside 
and Glossop (previously Tameside and Glossop primary Care Trust) account for 86.6% of all income received from pCTs. 

other operating income relates to services provided to other Trusts; training and education; charitable contributions, and 
miscellaneous fees and charges.

a breakdown of income is provided in tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 below.

Table 1 – Analysis of Sources of Income 1 April 2010 – 31 March 2011

 2010/11 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

 % £m £m £m

primary Care Trusts 89% 128.9 126.3 115.7

other patient Care income 1% 1.3 1.2 1.3

education, Training and research 3% 4.0 4.2 4.2

Non-patient Care services to other Bodies 3% 4.1 4.7 5.1

other income 5% 7.2 2.8 3.2

Total income 100% 145.5 139.2 129.5

Note: Marker Forces Factor (MFF) included in 2009/10 PCT figures, so to enable comparability the 2008/09 figures have been adjusted.In 2008/09 

figures the MFF was classed as other patient related income and amounted to £6.37 million, and was paid by the Department of Health.
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Table 2 – Analysis of Income from Primary care Trusts 1 April 2010 – 31 March 2011

 2010/11 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

 % £m £m £m

Tameside and Glossop 87% £111.6 £109.5 £100.3

oldham 6% £7.3 £7.7 £6.7

manchester 4% £4.9 £5.6 £5.0

stockport 1% £1.0 £1.2 £1.0

other pCTs 3% £4.1 £2.5 £2.7

Total pCT income 100% £128.9 £126.3 £115.7

Note: mFF included in 2009/10 pCT figures, so to enable comparability the 2008/09 figures have been adjusted.
in 2008/09 figures the mFF was classed as other patient related income and amounted to £6.37 million, and was paid 
by the department of Health.
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The activity associated with this clinical income is detailed in table 3 below:

Table 3 - Analysis of Contract Activity

Analysis of Activity
 
 

2010/11
 
 

2009/10
 
 

2008/09
 
 

2007/08
 
 

Increase 
(Decrease)

Percentage 
Increase

(Decrease)
2009/10 to 10/11

day Case spells 16,080 16,509 16,444 13,165 -429 -2.60%

elective inpatient spells 3,779 4,217 4,357 4,433 -438 -10.39%

Non-elective (emergency) spells 28,741 28,762 27,413 25,859 -21 -0.07%

Total Inpatients 48,600 49,488 48,214 43,457 -888 -1.79%

       

First outpatient attendances     84,367 90,798 93,193 82,413 -6,431 -7.08%

Follow up outpatient attendances    126,778   119,321 120,066 117,295 7,457 6.25%

outpatient procedures        8,704      11,530 2,113 3,700 -2,826 -24.51%

Total Outpatients 219,849   221,649 215,372 203,408 -1,800 -0.81%

A & E Attendances 76,029 76,199 76,519 77,696 -170 -0.22%

The total number of inpatients and outpatients decreased by 1.79% and 0.81% respectively with a small decrease in a and 
e attendances of 0.22%.  Within in-patient activity, the main cause of the decreased activity related to elective admissions, 
which fell by 867 spells equivalent to a reduction of 4.18%. in part this reduction in activity was due to the reduced number 
of additional sessions put on at premium rates and also reflects measures implemented by NHs Tameside and Glossop to 
manage demand down. 

Table 4 analyses the income according to the type of patient seen. as can be seen from the table, the Trust’s main source 
of income in both years arises from treating emergency admissions, with outpatient visits being the second largest source 
of income.
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Table 4 - Analysis of Income from PCTs by Type

Analysis of Income
 

2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

£m £m £m

elective / planned same day income 21.28 21.95 21.27

Non-elective (emergency) spells 47.46 47.39 47.29

Total Inpatients 68.75 69.33 68.56

Total Outpatients 27.28 29.06 26.74

A & E Attendances 7.10 6.78 6.52

Other 25.74 21.18 13.87

TOTAL INCOME 128.85 126.35 115.68

Note : The 2008/09 figures have been adjusted to include MFF to ensure that the data is comparable 

Other Operating Income

other operating income totalled £15.35m for the year or 10.55% of the total income compared with 9.2% in 2009/10.  
a breakdown of the income is shown below.

% 2010/11
£m

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

research and development 2% 0.25 0.16 0.11

education and Training 24% 3.74 4.06 4.13

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 1% 0.22 0.32 0.16

Transfer to donated asset reserve 1% 0.18 0.12 0.14

Non-patient care service to other bodies 27% 4.12 4.67 5.06

other 45% 6.83 2.36 2.87

Total other operating income 100% 15.34 11.69 12.46
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other income has increased from £2.36m in 2009/10 to £6.83m in 2010/11. This is due to the receipt of circa £5m for HiT 
transitional funding to cover the commissioning of the new hospital building and the double running costs associated with 
the new building prior to the demolition of the old hospital buildings. This funding also covered the costs of asbestos removal 
prior to demolition of the old building and costs of moving from the old to the new building. The vast majority of this funding 
is non-recurrent in nature.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in 
Hm Treasury and office of public sector information Guidance in relation to the levying of charges for the provision of 
information.

Private patient Income

The Trust generated £33k from private patient activity during the period (£53k in 2009/10), which accounts for 0.03% of 
total patient income.  To comply with the trust’s Terms of authorisation as a Foundation Trust the Trust must ensure that the 
income received from treating private patients does not exceed a cap of 0.1% of total income.  The Trust is compliant with 
its obligation in this respect.

Expenditure

an analysis of the Trust’s operating expenditure is detailed in tabular and graphical format below.

Analysis of Operating Expenses 1st April 2010 - 31st March 2011

 2010/11 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

 % £000s £000s £000s

staff costs 59% 98.3 94.9 88.0

drug Costs 4% 5.9 5.2 4.6

supplies and services - Clinical 6% 9.8 9.7 8.4

supplies and services - Non-clinical 3% 5.4 5.6 5.4

services from NHs organisations 2% 3.2 3.3 3.3

other Costs (including depreciation and impairments) 26% 43.5 21.8 17.7

Total operating expenses 100% 166.1 140.5 127.4
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it should be noted that other costs includes a charge of £22.791 million in relation to impairment charges primarily relating 
other income has increased from £2.36m in 2009/10 to £6.83m in 2010/11. This is due to the receipt of circa £5m for HiT 
transitional funding to cover the commissioning of the new hospital building and the double running costs associated with 
the new building prior to the demolition of the old hospital buildings. This funding also covered the costs of asbestos removal 
prior to demolition of the old building and costs of moving from the old to the new building. The vast majority of this funding 
is non-recurrent in nature.

Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in 
Hm Treasury and office of public sector information Guidance in relation to the levying of charges for the provision of 
information.

Management Costs 2010/11

The table below identifies the Trust’s expenditure on management costs.

£m %

Turnover 145,475

actual management costs 5,740

percentage of turnover 3.95%

The Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made under this legislation. 

Better Payment Practice Code - Measured By Compliance

as a NHs Foundation Trust, there is no requirement to achieve the target of paying 95% of invoices within 30 days.
it is however considered best practice to achieve this target.

Value for Money

The Trust delivered the agreed Cost improvement programme of £4.381m in 2010/11, although some savings were on a 
non-recurrent basis to ensure that the in year target was met. recurrently the Trust has achieved the Cip, although this is 
predicated on the ability to maintain a reduced bed stock.

2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

Number £000 Number £000 Number £000

Total Non-NHs trade invoices paid in the year 42,822 84,618 38,614 66,464 45,878 65,544

Total Non-NHs trade invoices paid within target 41,115 80,474 36,755 62,633 43,362 60,416

percentage of Non-NHs trade invoices paid 
within target

96% 95% 95% 94% 95% 92%

Total NHs trade invoices paid in the year 2,107 33,230 2,097 36,853 2,060 29,362

Total NHs trade invoices paid within target 2,007 32,930 2,008 36,140 2,014 29,264

percentage of NHs trade invoices paid 
within target

95% 99% 96% 98% 98% 100%
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Prudential Borrowing Limit

as an NHs Foundation Trust there are greater freedoms around borrowing money to finance capital investments, although 
there are limits to how much a Trust can borrow.  a Trust must be able to demonstrate that the borrowing is affordable and 
there are other conditions set out in the trust’s prudential Borrowing limit (pBl) which is issued by monitor, the independent 
regulator of Foundation Trusts.  The maximum value of cumulative borrowing that the Trust may draw down is set with 
reference to the Trusts’ planned annual financial risk rating of 3, and is currently set at £61.6m, to reflect the investment in 
the pFi facilities, which are now deemed to be part of the Trusts non-current assets.  The Trust also has an approved working 
capital facility, for any short term cash flow issues, which must not exceed £10m. during the financial year the Trust did not 
have any requirement to borrow against its pBl, or draw down any of the working capital facility. The Trust has in place a 
working capital facility of £10m for 2011/12.

Cash Investments

as a Foundation Trust, Tameside has the opportunity to invest cash balances in order to generate increased interest.  This 
interest contributes to the Trust’s overall financial position and therefore to investment in patient care.  The Trust has an 
investment policy and the audit Committee oversees investment activity and monitors the returns on investments generated.  
The Trust has adopted a prudent approach with regard to investments and while seeking to generate higher returns the key 
focus has been to safeguard the principal sums, which it has done. 

Performance against the Compliance Framework

all Foundation Trusts are required to demonstrate that they are operating within the Foundation Trust Compliance Framework.  
a key component sets out the means by which the level of financial risk is assessed.  Trusts deemed as high risk of breaching 
their Terms of authorisation are assigned a financial risk rating of 1, the highest (i.e. “best” risk rating is 5).

Tameside achieved a risk rating of 2 for the financial year 2010/11 [to be confirmed by monitor] which is below the level 
required for authorisation as a Foundation Trust.  as a consequence of this monitor has deemed that the Trust is in significant 
breach of its Terms of authorisation, and as such the Trust is required to produce a recovery plan for 2011/12. The Table 
below shows the Trust’s performance against the metrics which support the calculation of the risk rating.

Financial Metric
 

2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

eBiTda margin  4.8% 6.3% 6.8%

eBiTda, % achieved of plan  94.0% 81.5% 87.0%

return on assets  0.7% 3.9% 4.4%

i & e surplus margin  -0.95% 0.5% 0.2%

liquid ratio (days)  9.5 27 34

Overall Weighted Financial Risk rating 2 3 3
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Financial Outlook for 2011/12

The Trust has developed a financial recovery plan for 2011/12 to 2012/13. it is expected that the Trust will be in deficit for 
2011/12 and have a financial risk rating (Frr) of 1, before returning to financial balance in 2012/13. 

underpinning this position is a challenging Cost improvement programme of circa £9.4m which driven in part by an expected 
reduction in activity income of circa £2m. This presents a significant challenge for the year ahead. This level of change is 
against the context of the overall economic climate and pressures on public spending.  The focus in achieving the required 
overall cost reduction will be increased quality and efficiency / productivity aspects which will enhance the patient experience 
overall while safeguarding the financial sustainability of the Trust.

The activity contracts with primary Care Trusts have been based on the expected outturn position for 2010/11 priced under 
the revised payment by results (pbr) tariffs for 2011/12 and then reduced by £1.6m of activity which will be addressed in 
other care settings or not commissioned under the pCT’s effective use of resources policy.

There are a number of areas which expose the Trust to risk and these are outlined below. 

 1. income risks due to contract penalties or contracted income challenges regarding payment for activity
 2. expenditure risks including slippage on Cips, failure to control expenditure within budget, failure to   
  manage the financial impact of demand management initiatives
 3. Competition / service re-design e.g. re stroke,  pathology services, isCaTs etc
 4. impact of tariff re non-elective activity payable at thirty percent of tariff and non payment for a proportion   
  of re-admissions
 5. liquidity has become an area of risk for the Trust due to the overall income and expenditure position in   
  2010/11 and 2011/12

a major capital scheme in 2011/12 relates to the significant improvement to the a and e facilities which commenced in 
2010/11, and which will complete in 2011.  

Capital Investment Activity 2010/11

The Trust invested £7.57 million in the financial year 2010/11.  The table below analyses the key capital investment for the full 
financial year, with comparative data for previous years. The previous year’s capital expenditure is included to give a better 
overview of ongoing large schemes. The apparent reduction in spend between 2007/08 and 2008/09 reflects the completion 
of major elements of work required to relocate departments to enable the pFi scheme to commence.  The expenditure for 
enabling schemes included the demolition of older premises to clear the area required for the pFi scheme.   
 
The main scheme which has commenced in 2010/11 is the redevelopment of the accident & emergency department. This 
scheme will extend into 2011/12.
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Scheme
 

2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08

£m £m £m £m

PFI Enabling Schemes:-
multi-storey Car park
pathology department
multidisciplinary education & Training Centre
Health investment at Tameside equipping 
& information management & Technology
other enabling schemes

Other Trust Schemes:-
mortuary
renal satellite unit
upgrade of electrical services
laminar flow Theatre                              
pharmacy aseptic unit
accident & emergency scheme
 
Ward enhancements
other estate schemes                                                    
picture archive & Communication (paC) system (X-ray 
imaging)
 
other iT schemes
 
medical equipment
other

 
0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

2.47
1.58

0.00
0.00
0.00 
0.00 
0.00 
1.52

 
0.47
0.27

0.00 
 

0.73
 

0.51
0.04

 
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.62

1.51
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

 
0.95
0.76

0.00
 

0.17
 

0.71
0.01

 
0.10
0.11
0.04

0.00
0.36

0.49
0.00
0.12
0.00
0.00
0.00

 
0.27
1.63

0.00
 

0.38

0.55
 

 
1.51
7.16
2.24

0.00
0.99

0.00
0.50
0.40
0.01
0.04
0.00

 
0.00
2.21

0.28
 

0.58
1.15

 
0.14

Capital Expenditure 7.57 4.73 4.06 17.21

Note : The above does not reconcile to Note 11.1 of the accounts in relation to 2008/09 as Note 11.1 includes the transfer 
of a pFi asset for no capital consideration.

Valuation of Land and Buildings

The Trust had reviewed its approach to the valuation of assets, and in 2008/09 adopted a modern equivalent asset (mea) 
basis for the valuation, instead of the previous method of depreciated replacement Cost adopted by NHs Trusts.  The 
adoption of this approach was a requirement for all NHs and Foundation Trust organisations during 2009/10.  

The Trust has not undertaken a whole site re-valuation in 2010/11, but has had the new pFi building valued in order to bring 
it onto the Trust’s statement of position at market value, and has also had assets held for sale or demolition valued. The Trust 
plans to have a full site valuation in september 2011, upon completion of all works associated with the pFi HiT project.
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Future Investment Plans

The Trust has undertaken a major hospital redevelopment project in conjunction with its private Finance initiative (pFi) partner 
Consort Healthcare, as part of the Health investment in Tameside (HiT) project.  This scheme has replaced old Victorian 
wards as well as providing new theatres and integrated support areas.

The scheme involved a mixture of funding approaches.  The initial major enabling works in 2007/08 were funded using public 
capital, and this work provided a multi-storey car park, a new pathology department, and a training and education centre.  
These schemes allowed the centre of the site to be freed up to enable the main new hospital build to take place.  The main 
hospital build is being financed under the Government’s private Finance initiative which means that the private sector build 
the hospital using funds they have raised on the open market and once available for use the Trust pay an annual service 
charge.  The annual service charge in relation to the new clinical facilities became payable in october 2010, when the new 
clinical facilities became operational. The final completion of the works will be in august 2011.  The contract with Consort 
Healthcare will expire in august 2041.  The estimated value of the pFi buildings is approximately £77.2 million.

The Trust’s capital programme for 2011/12 is expected to be lower than in previous years reflecting the completion of the 
new hospital building and associated work on the site. The main scheme in 2011/12 will be the completion of the works 
commenced in 2010/11 on the accident and emergency department, in addition to ongoing general maintenance and 
improvement of the retained estate (i.e. the non-pFi buildings). The Trust will also be investing in im&T schemes, the main 
scheme being the refresh of the paCs system which replaced the use of X-ray film and chemical processing, and allows 
images to be stored digitally; allowing viewing to take place in different locations simultaneously. There will also be continued 
investment in medical equipment. in total the Trust plans to invest circa £4.1m in 2011/12.

Remuneration Report

The remuneration Committee (see page 78 for details of the Nomination and remuneration Committee) comprises of the 
Chairman and all of the Non-executive directors of the Trust.  The quorum for a meeting of the remuneration Committee 
is four members.  The role of the remuneration Committee is to advise the Board on the appropriate remuneration and 
terms and conditions of employment of the Chief executive and executive directors of the Trust only.  in discharging this 
responsibility the remuneration Committee comply with the annual guidance received from the department of Health 
concerning pay increases for “very senior managers” i.e. Chief executive and directors.

The Chief executive and executive directors are all employed on permanent contracts of employment and are entitled to 
give and receive three months notice of termination of contract.  The Chairman and Non executive directors are employed 
under the terms laid down by the NHs appointments Commission.  under this they are appointed for a maximum four year 
term of office, renewable at the discretion of the appointments Commission for an absolute maximum tenure of ten years.  
The Chairman and non-executive directors are entitled to resign by giving notice to the NHs appointments Commission 
Chairman or the secretary of state.
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The following information shown in the tables (subject to audit) 
is in respect of the period 1st april 2010 to the 31st march 2011.

a> salaries & allowances

2010/11 2009/10

Name & Title

salary 
(bands of 
£5,000)

other 
renumeration 

(bands of 
£5000)

Benefits in 
Kind (rounded 
to the nearest 

£100)

salary 
(bands of 
£5,000)

other 
renumeration 

(bands of 
£5000)

Benefits 
in Kind 

(rounded to 
the nearest 

£100)

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

mrs C Green 145-150 0-5 6300 145-150 0-5 6100

Chief executive       

miss KJ Brown 105-110 0-5 6000 105-110 5-10 5700

director of Finance       

mr T mahmood 40-45 130-135 N/a 35-40 110-115 N/a

medical director       

mr p dylak 90-95 N/a N/a 90-95 N/a N/a

director of Nursing       

mr a Griffiths 90-95 0-5 N/a 90-95 N/a N/a

director of Clinical services       

mr s Gardner* 35-40 N/a N/a 85-90 0-5 N/a

director of planning & 
performance       

mr d B Wilkinson 80-85 0-5 100 80-85 0-5 100

director of Human resources       

T H presswood 40-45 N/a 100 40-45 0-5 300

Chairman       

miss T Kalloo** 0-5 0-5 N/a N/a N/a N/a

Non-executive director       

mr r Corless 10-15 N/a N/a 10-15 0-5 N/a

Non-executive director       

mr d a Ward 10-15 0-5 300 10-15 0-5 300

Non-executive director       

mr a e anderson 10-15 N/a N/a 10-15 N/a N/a

Non-executive director       

miss d a Bates 10-15 0-5 N/a 10-15 0-5 0

Non-executive director       

* mr Gardner commenced a partial secondment on 1st July 2010, with full secondment from 1st November 2010 

** miss T Kalloo commenced in post 25th November 2010

in line with the manual for accounts guidance agreement has been reached with the Chief executive that only 
executive, Non-executive, and directors who attend the Board meetings will be disclosed within this note.

Chief executive ……………………………………….    date    2. June 2011
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Name & Title
 

Real 
Increase /
(decrease) 
in Pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 

£2500)

Lump Sum 
at age 60 
related 
to real 

increase/
(decrease) 
in pension 
(bands of 

£2500)

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at age 

60 at 31 
March 
2011 

(bands of 
£5000)

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2011 
(bands of 

£5000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2011

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2010

Real 
Increase/
(decrease) 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value

Employers 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension

 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

mrs C Green
Chief executive

0-2.5 5-7.5 60-65 190-195 1210 1290 (80) (56)

        

miss K J Brown
director of 
Finance

0-2.5 2.5-5 20-25 70-75 333 369 (36) (25)

        

mr a Griffiths
director of 
Clinical services

0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 90-95 545 587 (42) (29)

       

mr p dylak
director of 
Nursing

0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 95-100 571 616 (45) (32)

        

mr s Gardner
director of 
planning & 
performance

2.5-5 10-12.5 25-30 85-90 493 484 9 6

       

mr T mahmood
medical director

0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 80-85 416 453 (37) (26)

        

mr d B Wilkinson
director of 
Human 
resources

0-2.5 2.5-5 20-25 60-65 260 288 (28) (20)

       

(above table represents audited information)

a Cash equivalent Transfer Value (CeTV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member 
at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from 
the scheme.  a CeTV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme 
or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, 
not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosures apply.  The CeTV figures, and the other pension details, include the 
value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHs pension scheme.  They 
also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the 
scheme at their own cost.  CeTVs are calculated within guidelines and framework prescribed by the institute and Faculty of actuaries.

real increase in CeTV – This reflects the increase in CeTV effectively funded by the employer.  it takes account of the increase in accrued 
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme 
or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Pension Benefits of Senior Managers

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   99 27/6/11   13:00:06



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

100

Statement on Internal Control

Scope of responsibility

as accounting officer, i have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement 
of the NHs foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for 
which i am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. i am also responsible for ensuring 
that the NHs foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. i also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHs Foundation Trust accounting officer memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of the policies, aims and objectives of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The 
system of internal control has been in place in Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 march 2011 
and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk

• The Director of Nursing is responsible for clinical risk and patient safety, for ensuring that clinical risk is identified and   
 managed, and that clinical governance structures are effective in the organisation.
• The Medical Director is responsible for clinical effectiveness, managing medical staff performance, clinical standards and  
 acts as the Caldicott Guardian for the Trust.
• The Director of Finance is responsible for the financial aspects of business risk, for implementing systems to control fraud  
 and corruption and for ensuring security of financial systems within the organisation. she was also responsible during 
• October to March for minimising risk in relation to failure of information systems, and to provide assurance in respect   
 of information governance. (From april to september this was the responsibility of the director of planning and   
 performance).
• The Director of Planning and Performance was responsible for ensuring systems are in place to minimise risk in relation   
 to the  Trust’s delivery of its business objectives, this transferred to the associate director of planning and strategy  
 in december.  
• Risk Management Training is provided as part of the Trust’s Mandatory Core Training Day, and covers Health & Safety, Risk 
• Assessment, Risk Action Planning and incident reporting.  Training provided during 2010/11 also covered wider Corporate 
• Governance aspects in addition to aspects of clinical litigation and DPA / FOI requirements. 
• Risk Managers provide expert support to the organisation in relation to the assessment and management of risk and   
 in ensuring that local, departmental or organisational learning takes place when a significant incident or serious   
 risk has been identified.   departmental managers ensure systems are in place to assess, treat and reduce risks within   
 their departments and report where this is not achieved. all members of staff have a responsibility for participation   
 in the risk management process and to minimise the risks to patients, staff and visitors to the Trust.     
 members of staff are required to report untoward incidents as soon as possible in accordance with the    
 serious incident policy for accident and incident reporting, and to proactively identify and assess risks    
 in the areas in which they work. Via a number of structures, primarily the risk management Committee,    
 Claims review Committee, Clinical Governance accountability Committee, Clinical audit, effectiveness and    
 patient safety Committee (CaepsC), risk management and Corporate Governance Committee, and Quality and Clinical  
 Governance Core Group, the Trust has remained apprised of good practice guidance from expert sources and reflected  
 this guidance in the development of Trust services and policy.

The Risk and Control Framework

The Trust has developed a “risk management strategy, policy and Guidance” document which is subject to annual review. 
The main elements of this strategy are as follows:
 • The adoption of clear management structures and responsibilities throughout the organisation reporting up to the   
  Trust Board

 • Effective systems for risk assessment, risk analysis and for determining the Trust’s risk appetite – which includes   

  the adoption of a standard risk scoring system

 • The use of an up to date register for the prioritisation of risk and development of action plans

 • An assurance framework that maps objectives to risks, controls and assurances

 • The provision of training for staff.
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risk is identified using a number of approaches including the following:

risk assessments; serious incident investigations; incident reporting; complaints management including review and analysis 
of trends; compliance with legislation/national guidance; external reviews and accreditation processes and audit reports; 
reviews of claims against the Trust; dr Foster data, particularly “red bells”;  the staff and patient surveys; sickness absence 
information and staffing levels.

risks in relation to the development of new services are determined through the assessment of business cases at the Trust 
executive Group and at divisional Business meetings.  a specific policy governs the introduction of new clinical procedures 
to ensure that associated risks have been identified and addressed.

on the specific issue of risks to information, the Trust has an information Governance Committee that works to ensure 
evidence is maintained of effective information governance processes and procedures with risk based and proportionate 
safeguards. Work continues to be undertaken by the Trust as part of the NHs information Governance assurance programme, 
and through evidencing compliance with the standards set out in the information Governance Toolkit.

risk appetite can be defined as “The amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate, or be exposed to 
at any point in time”.  The Trust has an established risk assessment process and uses a well recognised framework to rate 
or score a risk. a risk is rated using a matrix of consequence (the impact) versus likelihood (frequency) of the risk occurring.  
The document “risk management strategy, policy and Guidance” (2010) sets out the Trust’s approach and expectations 
in relation to risk appetite. This recognises that the Trust’s risk appetite is not necessarily static. The Trust Board may wish 
to vary the amount of risk that it is prepared to tolerate depending on the circumstances at a given time. However, the 
document makes clear that it is not for other parts of the organisation to materially alter the Trust’s risk appetite. 

The Trust’s approach to risk appetite ensures that risks are considered in terms of both opportunities and threats and are not 
usually confined to the financial consequences of a risk materialising. risks also impact on the capability or capacity of the 
Trust, its performance and its reputation. it is also influenced by the overall objectives set by the Trust, individual programmes 
of work and the delivery of operational, quality and performance objectives across divisions. The Trust Board acknowledge 
that risk is a component of change and improvement, and therefore does not expect or consider the absence of risk as a 
necessarily positive position. The Trust will, where necessary, tolerate overall levels of risk that are classified as moderate 
(scoring 12 or less using the Trust’s risk assessment matrix) where action is not cost effective or reasonably practicable. The 
Trust will not normally accept levels of risk rated high (red) which are scored between 15-25 and will ensure that plans are 
put into place to reduce the level of risk when a high risk has been identified.

overall responsibility for data security rests with the director of Finance and iT, who performs the role of senior information 
risk officer (siro) within the Trust, (previously the director of planning and strategy until october 2010). The Trust has a 
formal information Governance Committee which is chaired by the siro.  To address data security risks, an information 
asset register has been established. information asset owners and information asset administrators have been identified.  
They advise the siro of the security of the information assets they control.  The Trust has continued to deliver and develop 
the action plan arising from the malware attack in 2009/10.
The Trust’s risk register identifies the following as major risks:-

 1. The Trust fails to achieve / maintain required authorisation / registration requirements for key regulatory bodies e.g. CQC,  
  monitor etc

  This is being addressed by close performance management of standards on an ongoing basis including CQC   
  standards compliance and national performance indicators / targets linked to the Compliance Framework. 

 2. Failure to meet financial and contractual targets including Cip delivery

  This is being addressed through active monitoring and performance management on an ongoing basis. see also   
  the actions outlined above under item 1. 

 3. The Trust becomes financially unsustainable e.g. due to the impact of demand management, pbr changes,   
  Qipp, Cip requirements etc. This is being managed by the Trust liaising closely with monitor under the  
            Compliance Framework regime.  external consultancy support has been engaged to support the trust    
            in a financial base lining exercise and development of a recovery plan.
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The other key risk for the Trust relates to the need to reduce the effects of the fluctuating demands made on the Trust’s 
capacity, whilst retaining the flexibility required to respond to patient need.  The Trust is addressing this risk as follows;

 • Working with colleague organisations to ensure the timely discharge of patients once deemed medically fit to   
  leave the hospital and expanding the use of expected discharge date planning processes in support of this.

 • Improvements to the Trust’s system for monitoring the placement of nursing staff

 • An increase in consultant presence to support enhanced patient assessment and treatment to improve the flow  
  of patients through the hospital to discharge.

The Trust was conditionally registered by the CQC on 1april 2010 and agreed an action plan to resolve the concerns by the 
end of may 2010. This process was followed and the Trust was subsequently fully registered in June 2010. one moderate 
concern remained in place during 2010/11 pending review by the CQC at the end of 2010/11 with the outcome of the routine 
review to be confirmed in 2011/12. 

The Trust’s risk strategy has been developed to ensure the systematic analysis, identification, monitoring and communication 
of risks associated with any activity, function or process performed within the Trust. This is embedded into the Trust by:

 • clear structures and responsibilities with explicit links for reporting up to the Trust Board,
 • a system for risk assessment to identify and minimise risk where possible,
 • systems to monitor, control and learn from untoward incidents,
 • maintaining an up to date risk register, and
 • ensuring all employees are aware of the importance of managing risks and their responsibilities.

public stakeholders are also involved in managing risks which impact upon the organisation. 

 • Patients are involved in their own treatment at every level. 
 • There is a formal process to obtain the consent of a patient to treatment, and this process is compliant with 
  department of Health guidance. 
 • The Trust involves the Council of Members, public members, patients and the public in the development of   
  services and has a number of formal structures for doing so. 
 • The Trust maintains close links with social services and primary care, working together on the handling of issues  
  of common interest.

The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the requirements of registration with the Care Quality Commission.  

as an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHs pension scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all 
employer obligations contained within the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that 
member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human rights 
legislation are complied with.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon reduction delivery plans are in place in accordance with 
emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on uKCip 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this 
organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change act and the adaptation reporting requirements are complied with.
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources

The Trust has an agreed process to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively. This involves:

 • agreeing a rolling annual financial strategy and plan,
 • a rigorous process of annual budget setting and delivering cost improvements,
 • annual review of Standing Financial Instructions and Schemes of Delegation
 • robust performance management arrangements
 • benchmarking of management costs and back office services and
 • commissioning external advice where the Trust believes economy and efficiency can be improved e.g.   
  scheduling and utilisation of outpatients.

The Board plays an active role by:

 • determining the level of financial performance it requires including approval of the Annual Plan
 • reviewing and holding the Executive Directors to account for the financial performance, financial risk and delivery  
  against the cost improvement plan 
 • approving the annual Capital Programme and reviewing business cases and overseeing procurement for all   
  major capital schemes.

The Trust’s audit Committee plays a key role on behalf of the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the process, controls 
and systems which underpin the financial management of the Trust. The Trust has also gained assurance from:

 • The work of other Board Committees
 • The Board Assurance Framework,
 • The Corporate Risk Register,
 • Internal Audit reports, and
 • The CQC Registration process
 • The financial base lining process supported by external consultancy

The Trust experienced a number of financial challenges during the course of 2010/11 resulting in a Financial risk rating 
of 2 which is below the minimum level required by monitor of 3. monitor found the Trust to be in significant breach of its 
Terms of authorisation on the 28th February 2011. The Trust has put in place robust recovery plans designed to deliver 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. The Trust will continue to work with monitor on a monthly basis under the regulator’s 
Compliance Framework regime. although actively working towards financial recovery, the Trust anticipates that it will not 
return to a Frr of 3 until 2012/13. 
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Review of effectiveness

as accounting officer, i have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. my review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the executive 
managers within the NHs foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. i have drawn on the content of the quality report attached to this annual report and other performance 
information available to me. my review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. i have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control by the board, the audit committee and the Quality and Clinical Governance Committee and a plan to 
address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

The Head of internal audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the 
assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of the internal audit work.  The assurance Framework itself 
provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls which manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal 
objectives has been reviewed.  my review is also informed by reports and assessments including those by:

 • Care Quality Commission,
 • Internal audit,
 • The Audit Commission,
 • Patient Environment Assessment Tool (PEAT), and
 • NHSLA Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts

The following groups and committees have been involved in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control:

 • The Trust Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the organisation and monitoring the progress  
  of the organisation against targets
 • The Audit Committee investigates the activities of the Trust and provides assurance to the Board of the adequacy  
  of the structures and process for risk management, external audit and financial reporting
 • The Clinical Governance Accountability Committee sets the agenda for clinical governance within the    
  organisation, receives reports from internal and external reviews and monitors compliance against required local  
  and national benchmarks
 • The Quality and Clinical Governance Committee exists to review and approve the response of the Trust to all   
  reported serious clinical incidents (“red” incidents) as well as to review the proceedings of the Claims review   
  Committee, when a meeting has recently occurred. 
 • The Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee have developed and maintained the Board   
  assurance Framework and the Corporate risk register, and manage accountability arrangements for the routine  
  reviewing of directorate and divisional risk registers.
 • On behalf of the Trust Board (Trustees), the Charitable Funds Committee monitors the application of all   
  charitable funds in accordance with the Charities act, external guidance and applicable legislation, and   
  ensures that decisions on the use or investment of such funds are compliant with the explicit conditions   
  or purpose for each donation, bequest or grant. This Committee reports to the Board via the audit Committee.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Trust’s system of internal controls.
With regard to information Governance requirements, the Trust was fully compliant with the 22 key requirements included in 
the iGT and has developed action plans to further enhance performance against all requirements. This work has been the 
subject of external review to ensure that the action plans are robust.

Two areas have been identified for attention through the above processes. The systems for data capture with regard to 
the 4 Hour attendance target have been revised and improved during 2010/11, however further work is required to ensure 
consistent compliance, current performance based on a sample review was 91%. The same controls will apply to data 
capture for the revised targets for 2011/12.

The other area relates to embedding the recent changes to clinical audit processes. The scale of the clinical audit programme 
was substantially revised and reduced mid way through 2010/11 and the same criteria will be applied in 2011/12. This 
revised criteria results in circa 165 audits being required. Completion of the 2010/11 programme will be circa 70/80% 
however the Trust expects 100% completion to be delivered going forward as clinical audit is a key aspect of ensuring good 
clinical practice and ongoing service developments. several actions have been taken to support full delivery and the impact 
will be monitored through 2011/12 via the Clinical audit and patient safety Committee.
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Annual Quality report

The directors are required under the Health act 2009 and the National Health service (Quality accounts) regulations 2010 
to prepare Quality accounts for each financial year. monitor has issued guidance to NHs foundation trust boards on the form 
and content of the annual Quality reports which incorporates the above legal requirements in the NHs Foundation Trust 
annual reporting manual.

The Quality report was prepared in line with all relevant guidance and statute. measures were selected following discussions 
with the Trust Board, Council of members and Trust executive Committee and the pCT, osC and Tameside liNk were also 
invited to comment, though only the pCT did so. The data are drawn from a number of sources and every effort has been 
made to ensure accuracy and representation of a wide spectrum of services and personnel. all of the data included are used 
for other purposes related to Trust activity. The report is consistent with Trust policies, aims and objectives and key priorities 
for quality improvement. 

Review of Effectiveness

in developing the annual Quality report, the Trust utilised data from a range of sources. as far as possible, these data are 
supported by external validation, or are required to confirm to regional or national guidance or norms. many of the data items 
included are used for other purposes within or outside of the Trust. it is recognised that very localised measures, such as 
the incidence of pressure sores are not subject to external audit or validation, which may reduce the assurance which the 
Board can gain from the data presented within the account. Triangulation of such data against other variables such as level 
of complaints or incident forms submitted would tend to support the veracity of the data.

The Trust has incorporated data regarding Health Care associated infections, where data submission to the Health protection 
agency is governed by national data definitions. HCai data are presented to the Board each month, and to other structures 
within the Trust. data are also provided to the primary Care Trust for monitoring purposes. Never events, Hsmr and 
advancing Quality Compliance, stroke performance, peaT assessments results, mixed gender compliance and performance 
against key National priorities and National Core standards provide further examples of data which are subject to external 
scrutiny and validation.

The content of the account has been provided to the pCT, overview and scrutiny Committee (osC), and Tameside local 
involvement Network (liNK) as well as the Council of members and Trust Board. The pCT plays a specific role in validation 
of the data.

Conclusion

The significant internal control issue relates specifically to the Trust’s challenging financial position and the requirement to 
return to financial balance and a Financial risk rating of 3 as soon as feasible. 

signed………………………….
Chief executive date: 2 June 2011
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Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

The NHs act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHs foundation trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for 
which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHs Foundation Trust accounting 
officer memorandum issued by the independent regulator of NHs Foundation Trusts (“monitor”).

under the NHs act 2006, monitor has directed Tameside Hospital NHs foundation trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the
accounts direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of Tameside Hospital NHs foundation trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash 
flows for the financial year.

in preparing the accounts, the accounting officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust 
annual reporting manual and in particular to:

 • observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure    
  requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
 • make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
 • state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
 • Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial  
  statements; and 
 • prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the NHs foundation trust and to enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with 
requirements outlined in the above mentioned act. The accounting officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the NHs foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, i have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in monitor’s NHs Foundation 
Trust accounting officer memorandum.

signed…………………………………………………………………….

Chief executive date: 2nd June 2011
annual accounts for the period 1 april 2010 to 31 march 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Council of Members of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  

We have audited the financial statements of Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 march 2011 
which comprise the statement of Comprehensive income, the statement of Financial position, the statement of Cash Flows, 
the statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ equity and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is the NHs Foundation Trust annual reporting manual issued by the independent regulator of 
NHs Foundation Trusts (“monitor”). 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors  

as explained more fully in the statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer of Tameside 
Hospital NHs Foundation Trust set out on page 118 the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with the NHs act 2006, the audit Code for NHs Foundation Trusts issued by 
monitor and international standards on auditing (isas) (uK and ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 

Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Council of members of Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24(5) of schedule 7 of the National Health service act 2006 and for no 
other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 
in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

an audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes 
an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the NHs Foundation Trust’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
NHs Foundation Trust; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. in addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the annual report and accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements. if we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report.

Opinion on financial statements  

in our opinion the financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view, in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, of the state of the   
 NHs Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31 march 2011 and of its income and expenditure and cash flows for the   
 year then ended; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 

in our opinion 
• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS   
 Foundation Trust annual reporting manual; and 
• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is   
 consistent with the financial statements. 
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Qualified certificate

monitor considers that the NHs Foundation Trust has contravened and is failing to comply with the terms of its authorisation 
relating to using its resources “effectively, efficiently and economically” and the contravention and failure are significant.  We 
have therefore been unable to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has put in place adequate arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of part 2 to 
the National Health service act 2006 and the audit Code for NHs Foundation Trusts issued by monitor.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
 
The audit Code for NHs Foundation Trusts requires us to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that 
the NHs Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We draw your attention to the Trust’s statement on internal Control on page 110.  monitor considers that the 
NHs Foundation Trust has contravened and is failing to comply with the terms of its authorisation which require it to use its 
resources “effectively, efficiently and economically” and the contravention and failure are significant.
  
Consequently we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the NHs Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and our certificate in this report is qualified in this 
regard.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the audit Code for NHs Foundation Trusts requires us 
to report to you if:
 
• in our opinion the Statement on Internal Control does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS   
 Foundation Trust annual reporting manual or is misleading or inconsistent with information of which we are    
 aware from our audit. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the     
 accounting officer’s statement on internal Control addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily   
 addressed by internal controls;or

• we have qualified our report on any aspects of the Quality Report. 

peter Chambers (senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of pricewaterhouseCoopers llp
Chartered accountants and statutory auditors
manchester
6 June 2011

Notes:
 (a) The maintenance and integrity of the Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust’s website is the    
  responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these  
  matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to  
  the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

 (b) legislation in the united Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may  
  differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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` 

Tameside HospiTal NHs FouNdaTioN TrusT

annual accounts
For the period 1 april 2010 to 31 march 2011

Foreword to the accounts for the period 1st april 2010 to 31st march 2011

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts for the period ended 31st march 2011 have been prepared by the Tameside Hospital NHs 
Foundation Trust in accordance with schedule 7, sections 24 and 25 of the National Health services act 2006, 

in the form which monitor, the independent regulator of NHs Foundation Trusts, has directed.

Christine Green
Chief executive
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2011
   
   

 

    
    
    

 
 

    

   2010/11 2009/10

 NOTE £000 £000

Operating Income     
Income from activities 3 130,131 127,540
Other income 4 15,346 11,693
Operating expenses 5 (166,131) (140,632)
Operating (deficit)   (20,654) (1,399)
     
Finance costs:     
Finance income 8 66 63
Finance expenses - financial liabilities 8 (1,630) (159)
Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions 8 (1) (14)
PDC Dividends Payable   (1,963) (2,735)
Net Finance Cost   (3,528) (2,845)
     
(Deficit) for the year   (24,182) (4,244)
       
Other comprehensive income       
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses on property, plant and 
equipment   (3,585) (6,284)

Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt of donated assets   386 481
Reduction in Revaluation Reserve in respect of disposal of Donated 
Assets   (48) 0

Reduction of donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation, 
impairment and/or disposal of donated assets   (183) (123)

     
Total comprehensive income and expense for the year   (27,612) (10,170)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2011

 

 

The financial statements on pages 2 to 39 were approved by the Board on 2nd June 2011 and signed on its behalf by: 

    

    

signed: …………………………………(Chief executive)  date: 2 June 2011 

   
 
 

  

   
31 March 

2011
31 March 

2010  
 NOTE £000 £000  
Non-current assets      
Intangible assets 9 0 421  
Property, plant and equipment 10 112,121 80,936  
Trade and other receivables 13.1 1,160 832  
Total non-current assets   113,281 82,189  
Current assets      
Inventories 12 1,346 1,528  
Trade and other receivables 13 3,143 4,515  
Non-current assets held for sale 14 904 0  
Cash and cash equivalents 15 7,642 10,718  
   13,035 16,761  
Total current assets   13,035 16,761  
Total assets   126,316 98,950  
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 16 (10,868) (10,965)  
Borrowings 17 (850) (498)  
Tax Payable 18 (1,853) (1,760)  
Other liabilities 18 (3,139) (2,138)  
Provisions 22 (469) (343)  
Net current (liabilities)/assets   (4,144) 1,057  
Total assets less current liabilities   109,137 83,246  
Non-current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 16 0 (7)  
Borrowings 17 (56,120) (2,742)  
Provisions 22 (622) (490)  
Total assets employed   52,395 80,007  

      
Financed by taxpayers' equity:      
Public dividend capital SOCITE 53,168 53,168  
Retained earnings SOCITE (20,712) 3,130  
Revaluation reserve SOCITE 18,732 22,705  
Donated asset reserve SOCITE 1,207 1,004  
Total Taxpayers' Equity   52,395 80,007  
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY 

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2010/11      
      
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY  

Public 
dividend 
capital 
(PDC) 

Retained 
earnings 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Donated 
asset 

reserve 
Total 

 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
           
Restated balance at 1 April 2009 53,168 6,335 29,998 676 90,177 
      
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2009-10      
Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (4,244)  0 0 (4,244)  
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 (6,254)  (30)  (6,284)  

Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses arising from 
classifying non current assets as Assets Held for Sale 0 162 (162)  0 0 

Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt of donated assets 0 0 0 481 481 

Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation 
impairment and/or disposal of donated assets. 0 0 0 (123)  (123)  

Transfers to the income and expenditure reserve in respect of assets 
disposed 0 3 (3)  0 0 

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the income and expenditure reserve 0 874 (874)  0 0 

Balance at 31 March 2010 53,168 3,130 22,705 1,004 80,007 

        

        

Balance at 1 April 2010 53,168 3,130 22,705 1,004 80,007 
      
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2010-11      

Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (24,182)  0 0 (24,182)  
Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 (3,585)  0 (3,585)  

Asset Disposals 0 0 (48)  0 (48)  

Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt of donated assets 0 0 0 386 386 

Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation, 
impairment and/or disposal of donated assets. 0 0 0 (183)  (183)  

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the income and expenditure reserve 0 340 (340)  0 0 

Balance at 31 March 2011 53,168 (20,712)  18,732 1,207 52,395 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2010/11    
    

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 
 
   2010/11 2009/10 

 NOTE     

Cash flows from operating activities       

Operating (deficit) as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive Income SOCI (20,654) (1,399) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5 4,765 5,118

Impairments and reversals 5 22,791 4,953

Transfer from donated asset reserve SOCITE (183) (123) 

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 12 182 (377) 

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 13 & 
13.1 864 (738) 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 16 418 2,921

Increase in other current liabilities 18 1,087 12

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 22 258 (81) 

Other movements in operating cashflow - Loss on disposal of property, 
plant, and equipment. 5 83 94

Net cash inflow from operating activities   9,611 10,380

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Interest received SOCI 66 63

(Payments) to acquire property, plant and equipment 10 (8,143) (4,476) 

Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment   0 320

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities   (8,077) (4,093)

     

Net cash inflow before financing   1,534 6,287

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Interest element of finance leases and Private Finance Initiative Obligation SOCI (1,630) (159) 

Capital element of  Private Finance Initiative Obligations   (1,155) (618) 

Capital element of Finance Lease   (42) (8) 
PDC Dividend Paid as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income  SOCI (1,783) (3,057) 

Net cash (outflow) from financing   (4,610) (3,842)

     

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (3,076) 2,445

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   10,718 8,273

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15 7,642 10,718
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHs Foundation Trusts shall meet with the accounting 
requirements of the NHs Foundation Trust annual reporting manual which shall be agreed with Hm Treasury.  
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2010/11 NHs 
Foundation Trust annual reporting manual issued by monitor.  The accounting policies contained in the NHs 
Foundation Trust annual reporting manual follow international Financial reporting standards (iFrs) and Hm 
Treasury’s annual reporting manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHs Foundation 
Trusts.  The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation 
to the accounts.  

Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation 
of  property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at their value to the business by reference to their current 
costs. NHs Foundation Trusts, in compliance with Hm Treasury’s accounting reporting manual, are not required to 
disclose earnings per share or historical profits and losses.

Acquisitions and discontinued operations

Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ where they meet all of the following conditions:

a.  the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector body) or termination 
is completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the commencement of the subsequent 
period and the date on which the financial statements are approved;

b. if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;

c. the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHs Foundation Trust’s 
operations and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its withdrawal from a 
particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the NHs Foundation Trust’s continuing operations; and

d. the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and for 
financial reporting purposes.

operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

in the application of the NHs Foundation Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant.  actual results may differ from those estimates, and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed.  revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty in applying accounting policies

The following critical judgment and key sources of estimation uncertainty has been made in the process of applying 
the NHs Foundation Trust’s accounting polices.
•  use of going concern basis of preparing the accounts
•  valuation of Plant, Property and Equipment and the lives selected
•  estimation of costs in relation to HIT Scheme and timeliness of completion
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Income
income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  For patients whose treatment straddles the year end, this 
means income is apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay.  The main source of income 
for the NHs Foundation Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under local 
agreements, NHs Contracts.  

The NHs Foundation Trust estimates the month 12 patient related income based on an average cost for the activity 
delivered in the month for each specialty, as fully coded Healthcare resource Group (HrG) data is not available in 
time for the closure of the annual accounts.

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in future financial years, that income is 
deferred.

income from sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is 
measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

The NHs Foundation Trust receives income under the NHs injury Cost recovery scheme (Cru), designed to reclaim 
the cost of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by 
an insurer.  The NHs Foundation Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the department 
of Work and pension’s Compensation recovery unit  (Cru) that the individual has lodged a compensation claim.  
The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for 
unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.

Expenditure on Employee Benefits

salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees.  The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period 
is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the 
following period.

Pension costs
  
past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHs pensions scheme.  The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHs employers, General practices and other bodies allowed under 
the direction of the secretary of state for england and Wales.  The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHs bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.  as a consequence, 
it is not possible for the NHs Foundation Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme under ias 19 - employee Benefits.  The NHs pension 
scheme (england and Wales) resource account is published annually and can be found on the Business service 
authority - pensions division website at www.nhspa.gov.uk.
  
The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years.  The last such valuation, published in december 
2007, covered the period from 1 april 1999 to 31 march 2004.  The conclusion of this valuation was that the 
scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3bn against notional assets at 31 march 2004.  The basis for this 
conclusion is set out in the report by the government actuary which can be found on http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/
pensions/documents/pensions/NHsps_funding_valuation_report_at_31_3_04_-_final_.pdf.  Taking account of the 
changes to the benefit and contribution structure effective from 1 april 2008, the conclusion of the valuation was 
that employer contributions should continue at the existing rate of 14% of pensionable pay.  From 1 april 2008, 
employees pay contributions according to a tiered scale from 5% to 8.5% of their pensionable pay.
  
employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
  
additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement 
is due to ill-health.  The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the income and expenditure 
account at the time the NHs Foundation Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
  
The scheme provides the opportunity for members to increase their benefits through money purchase additional 
Voluntary Contributions (aVCs) provided by an approved panel of life companies.  under the arrangement the 
employee/member can make contributions to enhance an employee’s pension benefits.  The benefits payable relate 
directly to the value of the investments made.

1.4

1.5

1.6

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   116 27/6/11   13:00:09



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

117

Expenditure on other goods and Services
  
expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods and services.  expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except 
where it results in the creation of non-current assets such as property, plant and equipment.

Property, Plant and Equipment
 
Capitalisation
 
property, plant and equipment are capitalised where:-
- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the NHs    
Foundation Trust;
- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
- individually they have a cost of at least £5,000;  
- collectively they have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where   
the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated   
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control;  or
- they form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of   
their individual or collective cost.
 
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, 
e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own 
economic lives.
 

Valuation
 
all land and buildings are stated at their revalued amount.  plant and equipment assets are stated at their 
depreciated replacement costs.  upon initial recognition, all tangible assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, 
fair value) including any costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them into working condition.  The 
carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  
 
all land and buildings are revalued using professional valuations in accordance with ias16 at least every five years.  
a three yearly interim valuation is also carried out, as a minimum.  The NHs Foundation Trust may also consider 
additional valuations due to significant changes in external environmental factors.  Valuations are carried out by 
professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the royal institute of Chartered surveyors (riCs) appraisals and 
Valuation manual.
 
Valuations are normally carried out on the basis of depreciated replacement cost at the modern equivalent asset 
(mea) valuation for specialised operational property, this is in accordance with the requirements of riCs appraisal 
and Valuation manual.  The modern equivalent asset valuation is the cost of replacing an existing building at current 
cost, using modern building equipment, structures and technology. Non-specialised operational property is valued 
at existing use.  This is in line with department of Health guidance.  The value of land for existing use purposes is 
assessed at existing use value.  For non-operational properties including surplus land, the valuations are carried out 
at open market value.  
 
The last valuation was undertaken at 31st march 2010. The BCis index for valuing property has not changed 
materially during 2010/11 therefore there has been no revaluation of land and buildings at 31st march 2011.  The 
NHs Foundation would have a valuation for any new buildings when they are brought into use.
 
properties in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five 
and three-yearly valuation or, for new buildings, when they are brought into use.
 
Subsequent Expenditure
 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is 
added to the asset’s carrying value.  Where subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to the specification 
assumed by its economic useful life, then the expenditure is charged to operating expenses.
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Depreciation  
   
items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual 
value on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land and 
assets held for sale.
   
assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into operational use.
   
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of the 
asset as advised by the district Valuer.  leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.
   
assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
   
The useful economic life (uel) of any asset will be a minimum of 5 years when it is added to the NHs Foundation 
Trust’s asset register.  The maximum life that an asset is expected to have is detailed below, identified by the 
different categories.  The NHs Foundation Trust, assesses the asset individually to reflect the correct uel when 
adding the asset to the NHs Foundation Trust’s asset register, and reviews this and the residual value at the year-
end.
   
Category Number of Years Maximum 
 Useful Economic Life 

BuildiNG elemeNTs 60  

eNGiNeeriNG iNsTallaTioNs 25 

dWelliNGs 60 

oTHer eNGiNeeriNG plaNT & eQuipmeNT 15 

VeHiCles 7 

FurNiTure & FiTTiNGs 10 

oFFiCe eQuipmeNT 5 

sHorT liFe mediCal eQuipuipmeNT 5 

medium liFe mediCal eQuipuipmeNT 10 

loNG liFe mediCal eQuipmeNT 15 

maiNFrame iT 7 

CapiTalised reVeNue 10 

iT eQuipmeNT 5 

Revaluation and impairments  

increases in asset values arising from revaluation are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to 
the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 
recognised in operating income.
   
decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserves to the extent that there is an 
available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
   
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the statement of Comprehensive income as 
an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
   
at the end of each financial year the NHs Foundation Trust reviews its property, plant and equipment assets for 
indications of impairment, in line with requirements of Hm Treasury, the NHs Foundation Trusts annual reporting 
manual for 2010/11, requires a divergence from ias36 impairment of assets.  This distinguishes impairments that 
arise from a loss or consumption of economic benefits or service potential from all other impairments.  This revised 
accounting treatment represents the change in accounting policy.  prior period adjustment has not been made in 
these accounts.
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De-recognition
  
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Non Current Assets Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria 
are met: 

•   the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and 
customary for such sales;
•   the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

o    management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
o    an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
o    the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
o    the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and
o    the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant 
changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair 
value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair 
value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract 
conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for 
sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset, the asset is impaired and the economic life is adjusted. The 
asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated fixed assets

donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on receipt and this value is credited to the donated asset 
reserve.  donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as described previously for purchased assets.  Gains 
and losses on revaluations are also taken to the donated asset reserve and, each year, an amount equal to the 
depreciation charge on the asset is released from the donated asset reserve to the statement of Comprehensive 
income.  similarly, any impairment on donated assets charged to the statement of Comprehensive income is 
matched by transfers from the donated asset reserve.  on sale of donated assets, the net book value is transferred 
from the donated asset reserve to the retained earnings reserve.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

pFi transactions which meet the iFriC 12 - service Concessions arrangements,  definition of a service concession, 
as interpreted in HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial 
position’ by the NHs Foundation Trust. The underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment at 
their fair value as determined in the operators’ model. an equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance 
with ias 17 - leases.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the 
charges for services. The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.
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The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the 
statement of Comprehensive income.
 
an element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. 
in accordance with ias 17 - leases,  this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead 
treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. in substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the 
liability and the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the statement of Comprehensive income.
 
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised 
where they meet the NHs Foundation Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are 
provided by the operator and are measured initially at their fair value.  
 
The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of 
the contract from the operators’ planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is 
provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively. 

Leases
 
leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
the lessee.  all other leases are classified as operating leases.
 
Finance Leases 
 
The asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded.  The value at 
which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.  The implicit rate is that which produces a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.
 
The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and de-recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.  The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost.  
The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest to the outstanding liability and is charged to 
Finance Costs in the statement of Comprehensive income.
 
Operating Leases
 
operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  operating 
lease incentives are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.
 
Contingent Rentals
 
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

1.8.9
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Leases for Land and Buildings
 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated.  leased land is treated as 
an operating lease.  leased buildings are assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 
 
The Trust as Lessor
 
rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 
Intangible Assets
 
Recognition
 
intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from 
the rest of the NHs Foundation Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They are 
recognised only when:- 

•  it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the NHS Foundation Trust;
•  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably;
•  the cost is at least £5,000; and
•  the NHS Foundation Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.
 
Software
 
software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
 
Measurement
 
intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce 
and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
 
subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. increases in asset values arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously 
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. decreases in asset 
values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the 
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation 
reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘Other Comprehensive Income’.
 
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
 
Amortisation
 
intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
 
Valuation
 
all intangible assets are stated at their valuation amount, which is reviewed by management on an annual basis.
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Inventories
 
inventories are valued at:-.  
pharmacy stock -  Weighted average Cost.
other stock - lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis.
 
management review inventory and make appropriate provision for old and obsolete items on a regular basis.
 
Cash and cash equivalents
 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without any penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours.  interest earned on bank accounts is recorded as interest receivable in the periods to which they 
relate.  The balances exclude monies held in the bank accounts belonging to patients (see “third party assets - note 
1.17”).
 
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  interest earned on the investments 
is recorded as interest receivable.  The NHs Foundation Trust has a Treasury management policy in place which 
limits investments to organisation who have a Fitch rating of aa+.  The maximum period permitted by the NHs 
Foundation Trust for investments is for a period of 3 months.
 
Provisions
 
The NHs Foundation Trust provides for legal and constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount 
at the statement of Financial position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation.  provisions are recognised where is it probable that there will be a future outflow of costs or other 
resource and reliable estimate can be made of the amount.  Where the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the Hm Treasury’s discount rate of 1.9% in 
real terms. 
 
Clinical negligence costs
 
The NHs litigation authority (NHsla) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHs Foundation Trust pays 
an annual contribution to the NHsla which in return settles all clinical negligence claims.  although the NHsla 
is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHs Foundation 
Trust, however all clinical negligence claims are recognised in the accounts of the NHsla.  Consequently, the NHs 
Foundation Trust has no provision for the clinical negligence claims. The total value of clinical negligence provisions 
carried by the NHsla on behalf of the NHs Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 22. The provision represents the 
NHs Foundation Trust’s liability in relation to excesses payable for claims incurred at the year end.
 
Non-clinical risk pooling
 
The NHs Foundation Trust participates in the property expenses scheme and the liabilities to Third parties 
scheme.  Both are risk pooling schemes under which the NHs Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution to the 
NHs litigation authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual membership 
contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and 
when they become due.
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Contingencies
 
a contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence  of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHs Foundation Trust, 
or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the 
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.  
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 22, unless the probability of a transfer of 
economic benefits is remote.
 
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend
 
public dividend Capital (pdC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities 
at the time of establishment of the original NHs Trust.  Hm Treasury has determined that pdC is not a financial 
instrument with the meaning of ias 32.
 
a charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the NHs Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend 
capital dividend.  The charge is calculated at the rate set by Hm Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant 
net assets of the NHs Foundation Trust.  relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value 
of all liabilities, except for donated assets and cash held with the Government Banking service.  average relevant 
net assets are calculated as simple mean of opening and closing relevant net assets.
 
prior to 2009/10 the dividend was based on forecast average relevant net assets.  From 1st april 2009, the dividend 
is based on actual average net assets.  any variance from amount paid during the year based on forecast outturn 
are included in current amount receivable or payable.  The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjust 
to net assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual accounts.
 
Value Added Tax
 
most of the activities of the NHs Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VaT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  irrecoverable VaT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VaT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VaT.
 
Corporation Tax
 
The NHs Foundation Trust is a Health service Body with the meaning of s519a iCTa 1988 and accordingly is 
exempt from taxation in respect of income and capital gains with categories covered by this.  There is power for 
the Treasury to dis-apply the exemption in relation to specified activities of a Foundation Trust (s519a (3) to (8) iCTa 
1988).  accordingly, the NHs Foundation Trust is potential within scope of corporation tax in respect of activities 
which are not related to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare, and where the profits exceed £50,000 per 
annum.
 
Third Party Assets
 
assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts 
since the NHs Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  details of third party assets are given in note 25 
to the accounts.
 
Losses and Special Payments
 
losses and special payments are items that parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 
health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way each individual case is handled.
 
losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the statement of Comprehensive 
income on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had 
NHs Foundation Trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal 
revenue expenditure).  
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Financial Instruments
  
Recognition 
  
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items 
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the NHs Foundation Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt 
or delivery of the goods or services is made. Trade receivables are recognised as Financial assets, after making any 
provision for impairment that is deemed appropriate after reviewing the specific nature and circumstances relating to 
each receivable balance.  Trade receivables are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis with particular focus 
on Trade receivables which are greater than three months old.
  
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are 
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy as described in note 1.8.9.
  
all other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the NHs Foundation Trust becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
  
De-recognition
  
all financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the NHs 
Foundation Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
  
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
  
Classification and Measurement
  
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’, ‘Loans and receivables’ or 
‘Available for Sale’ financial assets. 
  
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other financial liabilities’.
  
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’
  
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or financial 
liabilities held for trading. The NHs Foundation Trust does not hold any of this particular class.
  
Loans and receivables
  
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets.
  
The NHs Foundation Trust’s loans and receivables comprise:  Cash and cash equivalents,  NHs receivables, 
accrued income and ‘other receivables’.
  
loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
  
interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the statement of 
Comprehensive income.

1.19
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Available-for-sale financial assets

The NHs Foundation Trust recognises assets as available for sale when the NHs Foundation Trust has made a 
strategic decision to sell a Financial assets.  

Other financial liabilities

all other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the statement of 
Financial position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.

interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged 
to Finance Costs.

Determination of fair value

For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined by reference to 
quoted market prices, independent appraisals or discounted cash flow analysis.

Impairment of financial assets

at the statement of Financial position date, the NHs Foundation Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other 
than those held at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and 
impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the statement of Comprehensive income and the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

Subsidiaries

The NHs Foundation Trust does not currently have any subsidiaries.

For 2010/11, in accordance with the directed accounting policy from the secretary of state, the NHs Foundation 
Trust does not consolidate the NHs charitable funds for which it is the corporate trustee.
 
Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted

a) IASB standard and IFRIC interpretations
The following accounting standards have been issued but have not yet been adopted. NHs bodies cannot adopt 
new standards unless they have been adopted in the Hm Treasury Frem.  The Hm Treasury Frem generally does 
not adopt an international standard until it has been endorsed by the european union for use by listed companies. 

in some cases, the standards may be interpreted in the Hm Treasury Frem and therefore may not be adopted in 
their original form. The analysis below describes the anticipated timetable for implementation and the likely impact 
on the assumption that no interpretations are applied by the Hm Treasury Frem.  

This list provides a short description of the standard and the possible impact on NHs bodies but they should 
review the list and add their own disclosure in relation to the likely affect of the adoption of each standard on their 
accounts.

i) IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures
This is an amendment to the standard to require additional disclosures where financial assets are transferred 
between categories (e.g. ‘Fair Value through Profit and Loss’, Loans and Receivable etc). It is applicable from 
2011/12.  it is unlikely to affect NHs bodies as they rarely transfer financial instruments.

1.20

1.21
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ii) IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

This is a new standard to replace - eventually - ias 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement. Two elements 
of the standard have been issued so far: Financial assets and Financial liabilities. The main changes are in respect 
of financial assets where the existing four categories will be reduced to two: Amortised Cost and ‘Fair Value through 
profit and loss’. at the present time it is not clear when this standard will be applied because the eu has delayed its 
endorsement.

iii) IAS 24 (Revised) - Related Party Disclosures

This new standard seeks to reduce the extent of disclosures required by government entities whose transactions are 
principally with other government entities. it is due for adoption in 2011/12. This may potentially relieve NHs bodies from 
providing some of its related party disclosures with other entities within the Whole of Government accounts boundary, 
unless Hm Treasury chooses to adapt the standard to retain the existing disclosures.

iv) IASB Annual Improvements 2010

The document makes minor changes to 6 standards and one iFriC interpretation.  Three of the standards iFrs 1 First 
time adoption of iFrs, ias 34 interim financial reporting and iFriC 13 customer loyalty programmes are not relevant to 
NHs bodies.

The amendments to ias 1 presentation of financial standards, ias 27 consolidated and separate financial statements, 
iFrs 3 business combinations and iFrs 7 financial instrument – disclosures are minor in nature and should have little or no 
impact for NHs bodies.

v) IFRIC 14 - IAS 19-The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 
Interaction

This is an amendment to the iFriC that applies from 2011/12. There will be no impact on most NHs bodies as they are 
not members of a defined benefit scheme.  it will have no immediate impact on those bodies which are members of a 
defined benefit scheme as most local government schemes are in deficit rather than in surplus. 

vi) IFRIC 19 - Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments

This new iFriC applies from 2011/12 but will have no impact because NHs bodies have no equity instruments and 
therefore cannot issue them to settle financial liabilities.

b) Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) changes

The following changes to the Hm Treasury Frem are potentially applicable to NHs bodies from 2011/12.

i) Treatment of grants received

under the new approach, grants received towards the cost of an asset are recognised in income unless the funder 
imposes a condition on the grant e.g. that it must be used to fund the construction or acquisition of an asset. if there are 
no conditions, or once all conditions have been met, the grant is recognised in full in within income. if adopted, the impact 
is likely to be an increase in volatility in annual results where capital grants are received or released once conditions have 
been met. When the change is applied, the existing government grants deferred account is likely to be realised to retained 
earnings/the General Fund.

ii) Donated assets

The new approach for donated assets is effectively identical to that for grants above. Where donations are received without 
conditions, or if they have conditions, once these have been met, they should be recognised in income. if brought into 
effect it would result in most, or all, donations being reflected in income in the year of receipt which could lead to greater 
volatility in the annual result. The existing donated asset reserve would be transferred to the retained earnings/General 
fund and, where it includes an element of asset revaluations, to the revaluation reserve.

c) Other changes

The Hm Treasury dispensation from applying ias 27 to NHs charitable funds only applies to 2010/11.  if this dispensation 
is not extended then, in 2011/12, it is likely that the NHs bodies will be required to consolidating NHs charitable funds that 
are controlled by NHs bodies
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Operating segments  
   
The NHs Foundation Trust considers the Board to be the Chief operating decision maker (Codm) because it regularly 
reviews operating results, makes decisions about where resources are allocated as a result and assesses performance.
   
income and expenditure arises from the following segments, the NHs Foundation Trust reports monthly to the Board 
on a distinct and separate basis and therefore they have been disclosed separately in the financial statements:-
   
• Elective Services         

• Emergency Services        

• Women & Children’s Services        

• Other Services 
   
The NHs Foundation Trust provides the service of NHs Healthcare to the general public the majority of whom are 
based in england and the above detailed segments are the key operational segments that the NHs Foundation Trust 
uses to make management decisions.
   
each month the NHs Foundation Trust reports to the Trust Board, operating income and expenditure split between 
Clinical income and Non Clinical income, pay expenditure and Non pay expenditure.  The NHs Foundation Trust 
also reports Non operating income and expenditure including exceptional items.
   
The majority of the Clinical income is received from Tameside pCT, which generated income amounting to 76.7% 
of the NHs Foundation Trust’s total income.  This customer generated income of £111.6m which is reported in the 
segments detailed below.  
  

2
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Current Period 2010/11 Prior Period 2009/10

elective 
services 
segment

emergency 
services 
segment

Women & 
Children’s 
services 
segment

other 
services 
segment

Total 
2010/11

elective 
services 
segment

emergency 
services 
segment

Women & 
Children’s 
services 
segment

other 
services 
segment

Total
2009/10

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Clinical income 38,060 48,255 21,640 20,898 128,852 39,175 44,603 23,681 20,081 127,540

Non-Clinical 
income

1,100 1,440 735 13,351 16,625 152 352 48 11,141 11,693

Total Income 39,160 49,694 22,374 34,249 145,477 39,327 44,955 23,729 31,222 139,233

pay expenditure (24,166) (33,534) (15,485) (25,081) (98,266) (24,750) (29,714) (14,793) (25,660) (94,917) 

Non pay 
expenditure

(5,365) (3,463) (982) (30,415) (40,224) (5,659) (3,298) (1,016) (25,576) (35,549) 

Total 
Expenditure

(29,531) (36,997) (16,467) (55,496) (138,491) (30,409) (33,012) (15,809) (51,236) (130,466) 

earnings Before 
interest, Tax, 
dividends and 
amortomisation 
(eBiTda) 

9,629 12,697 5,907 (21,247) 6,986 8,918 11,943 7,920 (20,014) 8,767

eBiTd as a % 
of income

24.59% 25.55% 26.40% -62.04% 4.80% 22.68% 26.57% 33.38% -64.10% 6.30%

profit/loss on 
asset disposal

0 0 0 (83) (83) 0 0 0 (95) (95) 

exceptional 
Costs - 
Fixed asset 
impairments

0 0 0 (22,791) (22,791) 0 0 0 (4,953) (4,953) 

depreciation 0 0 0 (4,765) (4,765) 0 0 0 (5,118) (5,118) 

interest 
receivable

0 0 0 66 66 0 0 0 63 63

interest payable 
on leases

0 0 0 (1,630) (1,630) 0 0 0 (159) (159) 

unwinding of 
discount

0 0 0 (1) (1) 0 0 0 (14) (14) 

pdC dividend 0 0 0 (1,963) (1,963) 0 0 0 (2,735) (2,735) 

Net 
Surplus/
(Deficit)

9,629 12,697 5,907 (52,415) (24,182) 8,918 11,943 7,920 (33,025) (4,244) 

detailed below is the split for the various segments:-

Note: other services segment includes all the overhead cost of running the NHs Foundation Trust, such as estate costs, 
support services such as Theatres, outpatients etc and other services such as Catering, laundry and pharmacy.  

These are just examples for information, but all these services are required to support the segments which directly generate the 
income from direct patient care.
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it should also be noted that in 2010/11 an element of the training and education income within non-clinical income has 
been allocated out to segment, whereas in 2009/10 this data was not available and as such was identified to the other 
services segment. The element allocated out is identified below, for purposes:-

• Elective Segment  £941K
• Emergency Segment  £1,022K
• Women & Children’s Segment  £686K

Non-disclosure of assets by segment

The NHs Foundation Trust does not report total assets attributable to each operating segment to the Board, and has 
chosen to early adopt for 2010/11 the amendment to IFRS 8 set out in the IASB’s  ‘Improvements to IFRS’ issued in April 
2009.  Consequently, total assets attributable to each operating segment are not disclosed.

3  Income From Activities   
   
3.1 Income by Classification

2010/11 2009/10

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Mandatory Income   

elective income 21,504 22,389

Non elective income 50,774 51,572

outpatient income 27,275 26,715

a & e income 7,096 6,777

other NHs clinical income 22,203 18,895

Non Mandatory Income   

private patient income 33 53

Other non-protected clinical income:-   

Compensation recovery unit 1,154 1,077

prescription income 21 28

overseas Visitors Non-reciprocal 7 2

amenity Beds 1 1

other 63 31

TOTAL 130,131 127,540

3.2 Private patient income

2010/11 2009/10 Base Year 2002/03

Total Total Total

£000 £000 £000

private patient income 33 53 71

Total patient related income 130,131 127,540 82,048

proportion (as percentage) 0.03% 0.04% 0.1%

section 44 of the 2006 act requires that the proportion of private patient income to the total patient related income of the NHs 
Foundation Trust does not exceed its proportion whilst the NHs Foundation Trust was a NHs Trust in 2002/2003.  This is the 
private patient Cap.  The NHs Foundation Trust must ensure that the income received from treating private patients during the 
year does not exceed the cap of 0.1%.  The NHs Foundation Trust is therefore compliant with its obligation in this respect.
   
From april 2010, the definition of private patient income for the purposes of presentiation in NHs Foundation Trust accounts, 
changed to include all income derived from private patient activity.
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3.3 Income by Source

2010/11 2009/10

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Primary care trusts 128,852 126,347

Non-NHs:   

      private patients 33 53

      overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 7 2

      injury costs recovery 1,154 1,077

      other 85 61

130,131 127,540

4 Other Income

2010/11 2009/10

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Research and development 249 162

education, training and research 3,742 4,056

Charitable and other contributions to 
expenditure

221 320

Transfers from donated asset reserve 182 123

profit on disposal of other tangible assets 2 0

Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,119 4,668

income generation (see note 4.1 for 
breakdown)

1,952 2,364

private Finance initiative Transitional income * 4,879 0

15,346 11,693

* The NHs Foundation Trust has received income from Tameside pCT for transitional costs.  The transitional costs relates 
to the extra costs incurred by the NHs Foundation Trust to manage the private Finance initiative (pFi) contract during 
construction and commissioning,  to enable it to move to the new pFi hospital which opened in october 2010 and the 
decommissioning of the vacated buildings in preparation for demolition.  The annual account for 2010/11, is showing 
£4.879m transitional income for the NHs Foundation Trust.   in 2011/12 the NHs Foundation Trust is expecting to have 
income of £2.811m.  The final part of the pFi is expected to be complete in august 2011 with final decommissioning of 
vacated areas taking place in 2012.

4.1  Revenue - Income Generation

2010/11 2009/10

Total Total 

£000 £000 

Car Parking 562 652

staff accommodation rentals 85 99

Catering 428 352

property rentals 29 21

other 848 1,240

1,952 2,364
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5.  Operating Expenses   

2010/11 2009/10

Total Total 

£000 £000 

services from Foundation Trusts 1,385 1,376

services from other NHs Trusts 181 150

services from other NHs bodies 1,643 1,732

purchase of healthcare from non NHs bodies 119 142

executive directors' costs 766 804

Non executive directors' costs 97 100

staff costs 97,403 94,014

drug Costs 5,897 5,221

supplies and services - clinical 
(excluding drugs)

9,847 9,701

supplies and services - general 5,429 5,601

establishment 1,619 1,332

Transport 183 220

premises 8,997 6,102

(decrease)/increase Bad debt provision (1) 14

depreciation 4,344 4,698

amortisation 421 420

impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 22,791 4,953

audit services - statutory audit fees 60 54

- other audit services pricewaterhouse Coopers 192 12

- other assurance services pricewaterhouse Coopers 21 0

other auditor's remuneration:-   

- internal audit services 110 87

-other services 0 2

Clinical negligence 2,724 2,544

loss on disposal of other property, 
plant and equipment

83 95

legal Fees 589 357

Consultancy 187 201

redundancy 264 0

patient travel 7 47

Training 393 400

losses 56 31

Hospitality 47 10

insurance 197 147

other 80 65

166,131 140,632

* The external auditors liability is limited to £1m.  The scope of work for the external auditors is to provide a statutory 
audit to the NHs Foundation Trust.  This will be conducted in accordance with the audit Code for NHs Foundation Trusts 
(the audit Code) issued by monitor in accordance with paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of the act.  The scope of the work 
is for the external auditors to be satisfied that the NHs Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The external auditors are to provide their opinion on the 
financial statements.
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6. Operating leases

6.1 As lessee

The NHs Foundation Trust has 16 operating leases as detailed below:-

Company lease Commence 
date

lease expiry 
date

lease description

    

iNG lease uK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Coffee machine

automotive leasing 12/02/2007 11/02/2012 Vehicle mW56omm

automotive leasing 19/03/2007 18/03/2012 Vehicle YX07Fod

automotive leasing 19/03/2007 17/03/2012 Vehicle YX07FoC

automotive leasing 11/03/2008 19/03/2012 Vehicle BX08JFV

Bank of scotland 01/03/2008 28/02/2023 Bed Hire

Beckman Coulter 01/05/2008 30/04/2013 Haematology analysers lH750 - reagent 
rental replaced by lH780

TosoH 01/04/2006 31/03/2011 Hba1c (diabetes glucose test) analyser-G& 
(reagent rental) 

menarini 01/01/2005 31/12/2010 HB electroporesis - Ha8160 (reagent rental) 
(used to determine different types of Haemo-
globin eg - sickle cell)

Canon 01/09/2008 30/09/2013 Canon printer dCF11557

photocopier 14/12/2008 31/12/2011 Canon irC3580i photocopier

photocopier 22/05/2007 22/05/2012 Quality assurance 

photocopier 26/03/2007 26/03/2012 medical records

Trailer 01/10/2008 30/09/2013 delivers meal Trolleys around site

Canon 09/09/2005 08/08/2010 Canon printer KGl23690

Canon 01/04/2008 31/03/2013 Canon Format printer with scanner and touch 
screen

Payments recognised as an expense 2010/11 2009/10

£000 £000

  

lease payments 153 149

153 149

Total future minimum lease payments 2010/11 2009/10

£000 £000

payable:   

Not later than one year 136 160

Between one and five years 472 499

after 5 years 493 578

Total 1,101 1,237
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6.2  As lessor

Company Lease Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry Date Lease Description

penine Care NHs 
Foundation Trust

01/04/2002 31/12/2010 property lease of Hyde Hospital

T mobile 20/07/1995 20/07/2015 roof space for radio mast

BT plc 29/05/2001 29/05/2019 roof space for radio mast

o2 30/10/2002 30/10/2012 roof space for radio mast

Gentian 01/06/1998 31/05/2023 Hartshead shopping mall

The NHs Foundation does not receive any contingent rents from any of the above lessors.  
detailed below are the future minimum payments expected from the lessors   

Total future minimum lessor payments 2010/11 2009/10

£000 £000

receivable:   

Not later than one year 379 379

Between one and five years 121 490

after 5 years 60 70

Total 560 939

7.  Employee costs and numbers

7.1 Employee costs 2010/11 2009/10

Permanently 
Employed

Other Total Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

      

salaries and wages 76,836 7,135 83,971 74,085 7,574 81,659

social security Costs 5,813 0 5,813 5,235 0 5,235

employer contributions to NHs 
pension scheme

8,385 0 8,385 7,924 0 7,924

* redundancy cost 264 0 264 0 0 0

Employee benefits expense 91,298 7,135 98,433 87,244 7,574 94,818

The above details £7,135k for 2010/11 (£7,574k 09/10). This  charge relates to the cost of agency staff.

Other Cost includes 
included in the above table is the executive directors’ cost as detailed below:-   

2010/11 2009/10

 £000  £000 

executive directors' remuneration 627 650

executive directors' social security Costs 63 69

employer contributions to NHs pension scheme in respect of executive directors 76 85

Total Executive Directors' Cost as per note 5 766 804

The highest paid executive directors' remuneration 147 147

Number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under defined benefit scheme 7 7

Full details of directors’ remuneration and other benefits are set out in the 
NHs Foundation Trust’s remuneration report on page 97 of the annual report.
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* Analysis of Redundancy Cost Cost Range Number of Compulsary 
Redundancies

Number of Voluntary 
Redundancies

less than £10k 3 0

£10,000 to 
£50,000

2 0

£50,00 to 
£100,000

2 0

 7 0

7.2 Average number of 
people employed

2010/11 2009/10

Permanently 
Employed

Other Total permanently 
employed

other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

      

medical and dental 259 104 363 245 84 329

administration and estates 522 8 530 496 10 506

Healthcare assistants and 
other support staff

126 1 127 153 1 154

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting staff

1,045 35 1,080 1,033 40 1,073

scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff

273 1 274 274 1 275

Total 2,224 149 2,373 2,201 136 2,337

7.3 Employee and Retirement Benefits     
     
The NHs Foundation Trust offers retirement Benefits to its employees from the NHs pension scheme.  The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme.
     
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHs Bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities.
     
The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years.  The latest valuation identified that the scheme had 
accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3bn against the notional assets at 31 march 2004.  The NHs Foundation Trust pays 
contributions to the scheme  at 14% of the employees’ pensionable pay. 
     

7.4 Retirements due to ill-health     
     
during the  financial year 2010/11, there were 2 (2009/10, 3) early retirements from the NHs Foundation Trust on the 
grounds of ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £53,767 (2009/10, 
£226,982).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHs Business services authority - pensions 
division.
   

2012 REPORT NEW.indd   135 27/6/11   13:00:14



Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 /11

136

8.  Investment Revenue and Finance Cost

The NHs Foundation Trust received £66k (2009/10, £63k) from cash deposited in the Commercial Banks, and the  
Government Banking service  provided by Citi Bank .  The NHs Foundation Trust  incurred finance costs, as detailed 
below:-

2010/11 2009/10

Finance Cost £000 £000

interest on obligations under Finance leases 6 93

interest on obligations for private Finance initiatve 1,552 66

pFi Contingent rent 72 0

unwinding discount 1 14

1,631 173

9.  Intangible assets

2010/11 Computer Software Prior Year Computer Software

 £'000  £000 

    

Cost or Valuation 
at 1 april 2010

4,209 Cost or Valuation 
at 1 april 2009

4,209

At 31 March 2011 4,209 At 31 March 2010 4,209

    

depreciation at 
1 april 2010

3,788 depreciation at 
1 april 2009

3,368

Charged during 
the year 

421 Charged during 
the year 

420

Depreciation at 
31 March 2011

4,209 Depreciation at 
31 March 2010

3,788

    

Net book value  Net book value  

Finance leased 0 Finance leased 421

Total at 31 March 
2011

0 Total at 31 March 
2010

421

The only intangible asset which the NHs Foundation Trust has relates to the pFi agreement for the  medway patient 
administration system.  This is software that is provided to the NHs Foundation Trust.  The intangible asset is a Finance 
lease, which is provided by a company called system C.  The initial lease commenced on the 10 February 2002, for a 
period of 7 years.  The lease was extended for a further 2 years until the 9 February 2011.  The amortisation on this asset 
is being charged on a straight line basis, to the end of the life of the asset, and expired in February 2011.  

This intangible asset now has a Nil Net Book Value but is still continuing to be used by the Trust.  The lease with system C 
has been extended until 2012.
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10. Property, plant and equipment 

2010/11: Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation 
at 1 april 2010

15,469 55,464 887 1,225 18,063 155 5,937 115 97,315

additions 
purchased 

0 0 0 3,974 2,068 79 1,481 26 7,628

additions donated 0 0 0 0 375 0 11 0 386

additions pFi 0 54,927 0 0 0 0 0 0 54,927

reclassifications 0 3,330 (128) (3,435) 197 0 36 0 0

disposals 0 (43) 0 0 (2,102) (26) (654) (13) (2,838)

impairments (1,176) (25,409) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (26,585)

Transferred to 
disposal group as 
asset held for sale

(425) (471) 0 0 (54) 0 0 0 (950)

At 31 March 
2011

13,868 87,798 759 1,764 18,547 208 6,811 128 129,883

depreciation at 1 
april 2010

0 0 0 0 12,872 135 3,318 54 16,379

disposals 0 (2) 0 0 (2,012) (25) (654) (13) (2,706)

reclassifications 0 15 (15) 0 0 0 0 0 0

impairments 0 (209) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (209)

Transferred to 
disposal group as 
asset held for sale

0 (46) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (46)

Charged during 
the year 

0 2,247 49 0 1,275 10 752 11 4,344

Depreciation at 
31 March 2011

0 2,005 34 0 12,135 120 3,416 52 17,762

Net book value         

purchased 13,868 47,312 725 1,764 5,359 83 3,384 76 72,571

donated 0 209 0 0 987 0 11 0 1,207

pFi - Finance 
lease - please 
see note 10.2 for 
full analysis

0 38,272 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,272

Finance leased 
- please see 
note 10.2 for full 
analysis

0 0 0 0 66 5 0 0 71

Total at 31 
March 2011

13,868 85,793 725 1,764 6,412 88 3,395 76 112,121

minimum 
remaining life 
Years

0 2 2 1 1 1 1 4  

maximum 
remaining life 
Years

0 69 63 69 14 7 7 10  
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10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment 

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value          

NBV - protected 
assets at 31  
march 2011

13,868 84,670 412 0 0 0 0 0 98,950

NBV - 
unprotected 
assets at 31  
march 2011

0 1,123 313 1,764 6,412 88 3,395 76 13,171

Total at 31 
March 2011

13,868 85,793 725 1,764 6,412 88 3,395 76 112,121

10.2 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease (including PFI)
Note 10 includes Property, Plant and Equipment which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note. 

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or 
valuation at 1 
april 2010

0 1,778 0 0 266 9 0 0 2,053

additions 0 54,927 0 0  0 0 0 54,927

accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 april 2010

0 379 0 0 160 3 0 0 542

depreciation 
Charged in the 
period

0 262 0 0 40 1 0 0 303

impairments 
recognised 
in operating 
expenses

0 17,792 0 0  0 0 0 17,792

Net Book 
value as at 31 
March 2011

0 38,272 0 0 66 5 0 0 38,343
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Prior Year

2009/10: Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation 
at 1 April 2009 

15,451 62,819 876 1,661 18,297 182 5,805 114 105,205

additions 
purchased 

0 2,258 0 3,866 734 7 123 0 6,988

additions donated 0 0 0 0 481 0 0 0 481

reclassifications 0 4,232 0 (4,302) 60 0 9 1 0

disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,509) (34) 0 0 (1,543)

revaluation  
surplus

18 13 40 0 0 0 0 0 71

impairments 0 (6,355) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,355)

Transfer of 
depreciation 
to Gross Book 
Value following 
revaluation

0 (7,503) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,532)

At 31 March 2010 15,469 55,464 887 1,225 18,063 155 5,937 115 97,315

depreciation at 1 
april 2009

0 0 0 0 12,971 159 2,540 43 15,713

disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,419) (34) 0 0 (1,453)

impairments 0 4,962 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,962

reversal of 
impairments 

0 0 (9) 0 0 0 0 0 (9)

Charged during the 
year 

0 2,541 38 0 1,320 10 778 11 4,698

Transfer of 
depreciation 
to Gross Book 
Value following 
revaluation

0 (7,503) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,532)

Depreciation at 31 
March 2010

0 0 0 0 12,872 135 3,318 54 16,379

Net book value       

purchased 15,469 53,813 887 1,225 4,296 14 2,619 61 78,384

donated 0 252 0 0 789 0 0 0 1,041

Finance leased 
- please see note 
10.2 for full analysis

0 1,399 0 0 106 6 0 0 1,511

Total at 31 March 
2010

15,469 55,464 887 1,225 5,191 20 2,619 61 80,936

minimum 
remaining life 
Years

0 4 3 0 0 0 0 5  

maximum 
remaining life 
Years

0 69 64 69 15 4 8 8  
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Analysis of Property, Plant and Equipment
Note 10 includes Property, Plant and Equipment which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note.

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value          

NBV - protected 
assets at 31  march 
2010

13,761 46,240 564 0 0 0 0 0 60,565

NBV - unprotected 
assets at 31  march 
2010

1,708 9,224 323 1,225 5,191 20 2,619 62 20,372

Total at 31 March 
2010

15,469 55,464 887 1,225 5,191 20 2,619 62 80,937

Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease
Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation 
at 1 april 2009

0 487 0 0 266 9 0 0 762

additions - 
purchased

0 2,258 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,258

accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 april 2009

0 338 0 0 120 1 0 0 459

depreciation 
Charged in the 
period

0 41 0 0 40 2 0 0 83

impairments 
recognised in 
operating expenses

0 967 0 0 0 0 0 0 967

Net Book value 
as at 31 March 
2010

0 1,399 0 0 106 6 0 0 1,511
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10. Property, plant and equipment

in 2009/10 the Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust Charitable Fund received a legacy of £1 million.  during 2009/10, 
£481k and 2010/11, £386k, a total of £867k has been used to purchase additions on donated assets for the NHs 
Foundation Trust.  The majority of this relates to purchases from the legacy.  The remaining balance is expected to be 
spent in 2001/12.
    
The NHs Foundation Trust had a valuation of the land and buildings on 31st march 2010.  This valuation has been 
undertaken by the district Valuer.  The valuation has been undertaken having regard to international Financial reporting 
standards (iFrs) in accordance with the Hm Treasury guidance, international Valuation standards and the requirements of 
the royal institution of Chartered surveyors (riCs).  
    
The valuation of each property is at a fair value following the modern equivalent asset  (mea) valuation and the valuation 
for land is at an existing use Valuation (euV).
    
The BCis index for valuing property has not changed materially during 2010/11 therefore there is no need to re-value the 
land and buildings at 31st march 2011.  However, when the new pFi building,  Hartshead south Building was completed 
and came into use in october 2010, this was revalued resulting in an impairment of £17.5m.  The next valuation of the site 
is expected to take place in september 2011, following the completion of the pFi build.

11. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The NHs Foundation Trust has £958k contractual capital commitments as at the 31st march 2011 (2009/10, Nil).
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12.  Inventories

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£000 £000

  

drugs 311 379

Consumables 963 1,055

energy - oil 72 94

Total 1,346 1,528

13.  Trade and other receivables - Current

Current

31 March 2011 31 march 2010

£000 £000

  

NHs receivables * 820 2,279

other receivables with related parties  - VaT 
debtor

476 324

Trade receivables * 360 276

provision for the impairment of receivables * (96) (97)

pdC debtor 142 322

other receivables 631 576

accrued income 124 136

prepayments 686 699

Total 3,143 4,515

13.1 Trade and other receivables - Non Current

Non-current

31 March 2011 31 march 2010

£000 £000

  

NHs receivables * 0 22

Trade receivables * 0 16

other receivables -  Compensation recovery 
unit (Cru)

807 752

prepayments - pFi lifecycle replacements 353 42

Total 1,160 832

* Aging of NHS and Trade Receivables and Provision for the impairment of Trade Receivables
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Past Due but not impaired

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£'000 £'000

upto 3 months 329 2,134

Three to six months 61 19

over six months 4 151

Total NHS receivables 394 2,304

upto 3 months 222 225

Three to six months 2 21

over six months 0 99

Total Trade receivables 224 345

Provided against Trade receivables

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

upto 3 months 0 (7) 

Three to six months (10) (20) 

over six months (86) (70) 

Total Provision for the impairment of 
Trade receivables

(96) (97) 

14. Non-current assets held for sale

Dwellings

£000

Balance as at 1 april 2010 0

plus assets classified as held for sale in the year 904

Balance carried forward as at 31 march 2011 904

less assets sold in the year 0

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 
2011

904

The Non-Current assets held for sale relates to the land and buildings at Hyde Hospital. 
it is anticipated that the sale will be completed with a cash receipt in November 2011.
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15. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£000 £000

Balance at 1 april 10,718 8,273

Net change in year (3,076) 2,445

Balance at 31 March 7,642 10,718

  

Made up of   

Cash with Government Banking service 7,604 10,417

Commercial banks and cash in hand 38 301

Current investments 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of 
Financial Position and the Statement of Cash flow 7,642 10,718

16.  Trade and other payables

Current Non-current

31 
March 

2011

31 
march 
2010

31 
March 

2011

31 
march 
2010

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHs payables 1,660 1,963 0 0

Trade payables 2,645 1,998 0 7

other trade payables - capital 865 1,380 0 0

accruals 3,967 2,606 0 0

other 1,731 3,018 0 0

Total 10,868 10,965 0 7

17.   Borrowings

Current Non-current

31 
March 

2011

31 
march 
2010

31 
March 

2011

31 
march 
2010

£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft - Commercial banks 0 0 0 0

pFi liabilities 807 456 56,086 2,665

Finance lease liabilities 43 42 34 77

Total 850 498 56,120 2,742
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18.   Other liabilities

Current Non-current

31 
March 

2011

31 
march 
2010

31 
March 

2011

31 
march 
2010

£000 £000 £000 £000

deferred income  3,139 2,138 0 0

Tax and social security costs 1,853 1,760 0 0

    

Total 4,992 3,898 0 0

19. Finance lease obligations

The NHs Foundation Trust has three finance leases as detailed below:-

Company Lease Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date

Lease Description Net Book Value as at 
31 March 2011 £'000

iNG lease uK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Catering Tug 4

Beckman Coulter uK ltd 01/04/2006 31/03/2013 Clinical Chemistry 
analyser

50

orth diagnostics 01/07/2007 30/06/2012 innova-Blood Group 
analyser

17

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Minimum lease payments

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£000 £000

  

Within one year 47 47

Between one and five years 36 83

after five years 0 0

less future finance charges        (6) (12) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 77 119
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20.   Private Finance Initiative contracts

20.1   PFI schemes off-Statement of Financial Position   
   
The NHs Foundation Trust does not have any pFi schemes off-statement of Financial position.
   
20.2  PFI Schemes on-Statement of Financial Position   
   
in November 2005 the NHs Foundation Trust announced that Consort Healthcare had been selected as the private 
sector company to work in collaboration with the NHs Foundation Trust in developing and constructing the new hospital 
buildings.  The construction has been carried out by a joint venture between Balfour Beatty Construction ltd and Balfour 
Beatty Workplace. The architects for the scheme were Keppie design. 
   
The Health investment in Tameside (HiT) project is the biggest investment and most extensive site improvement Tameside 
Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has seen for decades. it has resulted in new acute facilities with a construction programme 
which started in autumn 2006 and will be completed by the end of 2011. The new facilities include:-
   
• a 48 bedded surgical ward.    
• a dedicated integrated children’s unit.    
• over 40% of the beds will be provided in single en-suite rooms.    
• three new operating theatres that will sit alongside the existing theatres in the Hartshead building.  
• a centralised x-ray department.    
• an integrated day case and endoscopy unit comprising three day case surgery theatres, three endoscopy  
   rooms and 50 flexible recovery spaces. 
• centralised outpatient clinics, close to the existing blue and yellow suites in the Hartshead building    
   replacing satellite clinics in outlying buildings. 
• centrally located pharmacy.    
• car parking arrangements.    
• a bridge corridor linking the ladysmith building to the main hospital.    
• a new main entrance that will provide visitors with a clear focal point of arrival.  
   
The contract with Consort Healthcare expires at the end of the project term (28th august 2041) and there is no provision 
within the contract to re-price or re-negotiate the prices and dates. There is however the facility for variations to the 
contract and the NHs Foundation Trust has procedures to manage those variations in line with standing Financial 
instructions. The annual service payment will be inflated each april based on the preceding February rpi.
   
The NHs Foundation Trust has the right to use the buildings, however Consort have the responsibility for maintaining the 
buildings to an agreed standard. all lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility of Consort Healthcare.
   
a key feature of pFi schemes is that the operator is responsible for ensuring that the property is maintained to an agreed 
standard for the entire life of the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The cost which the operator expects to 
incur in doing this is reflected in the unitary payment and reflects two elements:
• maintenance (planned and reactive); and
• replacement of components as they wear out during the contract – this is known as capital lifecycle.
   
after the expiry of the contract, the license with Consort to operate out of these buildings will expire and the NHs 
Foundation Trust will become responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of those buildings.
    
under iFriC12, the assets are treated as an asset of the NHs Foundation Trust and the substance of the contract is 
that the NHs Foundation Trust has a finance lease. Therefore the unitary payment needs to be split into three elements; 
payment for services; payment for the property (comprising repayment of liability, finance cost and contingent rental) and 
payment for lifecycle replacement.
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Total obligations for on-statement of financial position PFI contracts due:

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£000 £000

Not later than one year 3,743 613

later than one year, not later than five years 16,180 622

later than five years 92,565 3,165

less Future Finance Charges (55,596) (1,279) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 56,892 3,121

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£000 £000

the net carrying amount of pFi assets at the end of the 
reporting period

38,543 1,400

contingent rents recognised as an expense in the period. 72 0

The NHS Foundation Trust is committed to make the following payments for on-SoFP PFIs obligations during 
the next year in which the commitment expires in:-

Consort

Commitment Expiry Period £000 

Within one year 0

31st - 35th Years (inclusive) 7,184

21 Prudential borrowing limit 31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£000 £000

  

Total long term borrowing limit set by monitor 61,600 61,740

Working capital facility agreed by monitor 10,000 10,000

TOTAL PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT 71,600 71,740

The NHs Foundation Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. 
This is made up of two elements:-
    
i> The maximum amount of long term borrowing.  This is set by reference to the five ratio tests set out in monitor’s 
prudential borrowing code.  The financial risk rating set under monitor’s compliance framework determines one of the 
ratios and therefore can impact on the long term borrowing limit.
    
ii> The amount of any working capital facility approved by monitor.
    
Further information on the NHs Foundation Trust prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on 
the website of monitor, the independent regulator of Foundation Trusts.
    
The NHs Foundation Trust had a long term borrowing limit of £61,600,000 in 2010/11 (£61,740,000 2009/10). The NHs 
Foundation Trust has not yet borrowed against this limit.
    
The NHs Foundation Trust had an approved working capital facility limit of £10,000,000 in 2010/11 (£10,000,000, 
2009/10), as well as having in place an actual working capital facility of £10,000,000. again, none of this facility has been 
utilised. The NHs Foundation Trust does not have any loan borrowings, but it does have Finance lease Creditors and pFi 
Creditors, of which it makes a principle payment and interest payment.  The NHs Foundation Trust is required to achieved 
the following ratios, as set by monitor.
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2010/11 2009/10

Financial Ratio Actual Ratio 
Achieved

Monitor 
Approved Ratio

Acutal Ratio 
Achieved

Monitor 
Approved 

Ratio

minimum dividend Cover 1.92 >1 3.11 >1

minimum interest Cover 3 >2 54 >2

minimum debt service Cover 2 >1.5 11 >1.5

maximum debt service To revenue 2% <10% 1% <10%

22 Provisions

Current Non-current

31 March 2011 31 march 2010 31 March 2011 31 march 2010

£000 £000 £000 £000

    

legal claims 123 269 622 490

other provisions & liabilities 346 74 0 0

Total 469 343 622 490

Legal claims Other Total

£000 £000 £000

   

at april 2009 773 141 914

arising during the year 74 125 199

used during the year (45) (67) (112)

reversed unused (57) (125) (182)

unwinding of discount at 2.2% 14 0 14

At April 2010 759 74 833

arising during the year 109 472 581

used during the year (82) (79) (161)

reversed unused (42) (121) (163)

unwinding of discount at 1.9% 1 0 1

At 31 March 2011 745 346 1,091

Expected timing of cash flows:    

Not later than 1 year 123 346 346

later than 1 year and not later than 
5 years

282 0 0

later than 5 Years 340 0 0

Total 745 346 1,091

The above provisions are subject to uncertainties relating to the estimated costs and expected timings of the settlement.  The cost 
and timing of the provision for employer’s and occupier’s liability has been calculated using the information provided by the NHs 
litigation authority.  The injury benefits provision is an amount that is payable for the remaining life of an individual.  The provision 
has  been calculated based on the historic annual payment and the expected remaining life of the individual.  The other provisions 
have been calculated on the information available at the time of producing the accounts.
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31 March 2011 31 March 2010

£'000 £'000

employer's liabilities - NHs litigation authority 188 149

occupiers liabilities - NHs litigation authority 27 22

injury Benefits - NHs Business services authority - pensions division 497 522

legal fees for industrial tribunal claims 33 66

Total Legal Claims 745 759

other provisions - probable repayment of income liabilities 0 74

other provisions - Business rates 346 0

Total Other Provisions 346 74

  

Total Provisions 1,091 833

The NHs litigation authority at the 31 march 2011 has a provision of £54,261k in respect of the clinical negligence liabilities of 
the NHs Foundation Trust (31 march 2010, £60,334k).

The NHs Foundation Trust has Contingent liabilities of £26k (2009/10, £36k), which relate to the employer’s and occupier’s 
liability.  This is the difference between the provision which the NHs Foundation Trust has made for the claim and the actual 
excess which the NHs Foundation Trust could be liable to pay against the claim.

23  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity Risk

The NHs Foundation Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local primary Care Trusts, 
which are financed from resources voted annually by parliament.  The NHs Foundation Trust receives such contract income 
in accordance with payment by results (pBr), which is intended to match the income received in year to the activity delivered 
in that year by reference to the National Tariff procedure cost.  The NHs Foundation Trust receives cash each month based 
on the agreed level of contract activity and there are quarterly payments/deductions made to adjust for the actual income due 
under pBr.  This means that in periods of significant variance against contracts there can be a significant cash flow impact.  
To alleviate this issue the NHs Foundation Trust has maintained a £10,000,000 working capital facility.  This was not utilised in 
2010/11.

The NHs Foundation Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made available 
from Government, in the form of additional public dividend Capital, under an agreed limit.  in addition, the NHs Foundation 
Trust can borrow, both from the department of Health Financing Facility and commercially, to finance capital schemes.  Financ-
ing is drawn down to match the capital spend profile of the scheme concerned and the NHs Foundation Trust is not therefore 
exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area.

Interest-Rate Risk

all of the NHs Foundation Trust’s financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest.  The NHs Foundation Trust is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.  The only risk is therefore regarding the level of interest generated on the 
NHs Foundation Trust’s investment which may be higher or lower than planned at the start of the year due to fluctuating inter-
est rates.  The value of interest generated in 2010/11 was £66k compared to the plan of £36k (2009/10 was £63k compared 
to the plan of £36k).  

Credit Risk

The main source of income for the NHs Foundation Trust is from Commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided 
under local agreements - NHs Contracts.  Non NHs customers do not represent a large proportion of income, the majority of 
this relates to other public sector bodies which are considered low risk. The NHs Foundation Trust is therefore, not exposed to 
significant credit risk.
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Treasury Management Arrangements

The NHs Foundation Trust operates within an agreed Treasury management policy that governs the nature of the cash 
investments.  The financial performance of the NHs Foundation Trust’s cash investments is reviewed quarterly by the NHs 
Foundation Trust’s audit Committee.  The credit risk to the NHs Foundation Trust is minimal for the investments.  invest-
ments are limited to a maximum amount of £2,000,000 with each commercial bank and a maximum period of 3 months.  
investments can only be placed with commercial banks who have a Fitch credit rating of aa+.

Currency Risk

The NHs Foundation Trust does not have any overseas foreign transactions or balances.  There is no currency or transla-
tion risk to the NHs Foundation Trust.

23.1   Financial assets

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

Loans and 
receivables

Available for 
Sale

Total 31 
March 2011

Loans and 
receivables

Total 31 
March 2010

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

    

accrued income 124 0 124 136 136

Trade and other 
receivables (net of 
provisions for 
irrecoverable debts)

506 0 506 2,446 2,446

Cash at bank and in hand 7,642 0 7,642 10,718 10,718

Non Current assets 
Held for sale

0 904 904 0 0

Total 8,272 904 9,176 13,300 13,300

23.2   Financial liabilities

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

Other Financial 
Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2011

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2010

£000 £000 £000 £000

    

Trade and other payables (6,900) (6,900) (8,366) (8,366)

accruals (3,967) (3,967) (2,606) (2,606)

Finance lease obligations 
(including pFi)

(56,970) (56,970) (3,240) (3,240)

Total (67,837) (67,837) (14,212) (14,212)
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24  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
         
Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust is a public benefit body authorised by monitor, the independent regulator of 
NHs Foundation Trusts.
         
during the period none of the Board members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has 
undertaken any material transactions with Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust.
         
as NHs Foundation Trusts are independent bodies, not controlled by the secretary of state, other 
Governmentdepartments are not automatically deemed to be related parties.
         
The department of Health is regarded as a related party.  during the year Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust has 
had a significant number of material transactions with the department, and with other entities for which the department is 
regarded as the parent department.  These entities are listed below, along with details of income and expenditure and the 
debtor and Creditor balances.

Current Year 2010/11 Prior Year 2009/10

Year Ended 31 March 
2011

As At As At Year ended 31 march 
2010

as at as at

Income Expenditure 31 
March 

2011

31 
March 

2011

income expenditure 31 march 
2010

31 march 
2010

£’000 £’000 Debtor 
£’000

Creditor 
£’000

£’000 £’000 debtor 
£’000

Creditor 
£’000

NHs Northwest 
(formally the North 
West strategic 
Health authority)
 

3,470 0 64 0 3,629 3 58 0

NHs Tameside & 
Glossop

121,040 803 91 100 111,752 866 1,362 144

NHs oldham 7,719 0 0 86 7,751 4 125 4

NHs manchester 5,324 0 0 367 5,716 0 197 0

other pCTs 1,721 12 230 117 2,840 10 228 52

pennine Care NHs 
Foundation Trust

1,873 14 133 6 1,966 17 71 8

other NHs and 
Foundation Trusts

1,102 1,813 287 693 1,024 1,866 228 984

NHs litigation 
authority

0 2,799 0 0 0 2,582 0 234

NHs purchasing 
and supply agency

0 3,343 0 285 0 3,647 0 0

NHs Blood 0 756 0 5 10 857 5 0

NHs pensions 0 8,385 0 1,046 0 7,924 0 1,011

Total
 

142,249 17,925 805 2,705 134,688 17,776 2,274 2,437

The NHs Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee of the Tameside Hospital NHs Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (reg 
No. 1055818).  The Charitable Funds have not been consolidated in accordance with ias27 as Hm Treasury has given 
dispensation from this requirement for 2010/11.
         
an annual report and audited accounts of the Trust’s charity (covering the period reported in these accounts) will be avail-
able from 31st January 2012 and may be accessed via the Charity Commission website.

Name of
Organisation
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25  Third Party Assets
 
The NHs Foundation Trust held £1,144 cash at bank and in hand (2009/10 £2,433)  which relates to monies held by the 
NHs Foundation Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the 
accounts.
 
 
 
26  Losses and Special Payments
 
There were 69 cases of losses and special payments (2009/10: 88) totalling £105,000 (2009/10: £67,000) accrued during 
2010/11.
 
There were no cases exceeding £100,000 in either current year or prior year.
 
Note:  The total costs included in this note are on a cash basis and will not reconcile to the amounts in the notes to the 
accounts which are prepared on an accruals basis.
 
 

27  POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 

The NHs Foundation Trust has had no post balance sheet events. 
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